Invited review paper

Toxicity analysis of freshwater and marine sediments with meio- and macrobenthic organisms: a review

Walter Traunspurger¹ & Carlos Drews²

¹Zoological Institute, University of Munich, Abtlg. Limnologie, Luisenstr. 14, D-80333 München, Germany Fax +49–89–5902461(author for correspondence) ²Programa regional en Manejo de Vida Silvestre, Universidad Nacional, Apdo. 1350, 3000 Heredia, Costa Rica

Received 31 January 1996; in revised form 21 February 1996

Key words: review, ecotoxicology, pollution, bioassay, benthos

Abstract

Benthic metazoans play a key role as test organisms in toxicity analyses of aquatic ecosystems. This report gives an overview of the species of benthic metazoans used for the assessment of toxicity in freshwater and marine sediments, as well as of the criteria relevant to the choice between test species and procedures. The main applications of these organisms are mono-species bioassays, test-batteries, analyses of benthic communities and bioaccumulation studies. Sediment toxicity assays, including acute and chronic exposures, have been developed for nematodes, insects, oligochaetes, polychaetes, crustaceans, molluscs and echinoderms. At least 30 species of freshwater and 71 species of marine and estuarine benthic metazoans have thus far been used in sediment toxicity bioassays. Although aquatic pollution is a world-wide problem, most sediment toxicity bioassay have been developed for organisms native to Europe and North America. The most common bioassay endpoints are mortality, development, growth and behavioural responses. The value of genetic, biochemical, physiological and pathological responses as toxicity endpoints is currently being investigated. The quest for additional test species and protocols is still a worthwhile endeavour in sediment ecotoxicology.

Table of contents

Abstract
Introduction
Sediment toxicity assays with benthic metazoans
Choice of bioassay
Critical test variables
Exposure phases in sediment toxicity assessment
Time of exposure to the test substance
Assay endpoints
Choice of test species
Organisms in sediment bioassays
Freshwater organisms 237
Marine organisms 240
Benthic community analyses 243
Combined bioassays, test-batteries and the step-wise
approach
Bioaccumulation of toxicants

Future perspectives
Acknowledgements
References
Table 1. Definitions of some technical terms used in the text
(adapted from Hill et al. 1993, with some additions) 217
Table 2. Freshwater, sediment toxicity bioassays with
benthic metazoans (nat.=natural, sed.=sediment)
Table 3. Marine and estuarine sediment toxicity bioassays
with benthic metazoans (nat.=natural, sed.=sediment) 224
Table 4. Some benthic metazoans used in toxicity analyses,
but not thus far applied in sediment bioassays

Introduction

Meio- and macrofauna inhabit freshwater and marine sediments, along with bacteria and protozoans. These

metazoans occupy a variety of trophic levels, acting as prey, predators, herbivores, omnivores, collectors, gatherers, shredders and filter feeders. In addition, many meiobenthic species influence through predation the abundance and biomass of bacteria in the sediment. Hence, these organisms control to a large extent the cycling dynamics of energy, nutrients and organic matter in the benthos and the water column (e.g. Carpenter, 1988; Minshall, 1988). Contamination is known to alter zoobenthic communities in freshwater (e.g. Malueg et al., 1984a, b) and marine environments (e.g. Becker et al., 1990), thus affecting significantly the integrity of ecosystems. The disappearance of certain benthic species, e.g. of hydrocarbon-degrading microorganisms, could reduce significantly the capacity of the water system to recover from subsequent, additional contamination (see Lee & Levy, 1989).

Benthic macroinvertebrates have been used as indicators of aquatic ecosystem health at least since the seminal work by Kolkwitz & Marsson (1909) early this century (see Cairns & Pratt, 1993). Analyses of composition and function of benthic communities, as well as toxicity bioassays with single species, have been used for tests of water quality, given the sensitive response of benthic organisms to toxic compounds (e.g. Bargos et al., 1990; Elder, 1990; Nelson, 1990). Benthic metazoans, in addition to other organisms, have long been used to assess the toxicity of a range of pollutants in single contaminant tests of aqueous solutions (reviews in Murphy, 1980; Hellawell, 1986; Coull & Chandler, 1992). The routine use of these organisms to assess the toxicity of effluents (e.g. Oshida et al., 1981; US EPA, 1988, 1989) and sediments, in which complex mixtures of chemicals interact, is a development of the previous decade which acknowledges the sensitivity of benthic meio- and macroinvertebrates as indicators of ecosystem pollution (Burton et al., 1992; Hill et al., 1993).

Most toxic pollutants of aquatic systems have a strong affinity for particulate material and eventually become associated with the sediment. As a result, sediments can accumulate concentrations of pollutants which exceed by several orders of magnitude those in the water column (contributions in Dickson et al., 1984). Benthic organisms play an integral role in the effects, fates and cycling of these contaminants in the ecosystem (Nalepa & Landrum, 1988). These metazoans are particularly vulnerable to toxic compounds, given their close contact with sediment particles and interstitial water for extended periods of their life cycle. Catallo (1993) reviews the ecological effects of pollution in wetland ecosystems, including specific sections on benthic organisms. Perturbations in the benthos due to the toxic effect of introduced agents can be manifested at various levels, including molecules and cells, organisms, populations and communities, and whole ecosystems, in decreasing order of response sensitivity (Burton, 1991). Most single-species tests of toxicity in sediments have focused on alterations within organisms (gross morphology, cells and molecules), their physiology, life history variables and behaviour. Although the majority of such tests involves exposure of live organisms to potential toxicants, there are exceptions such as the in vitro enzyme inhibition test for the cladoceran Daphnia and mayfly nymphs Hexagenia developed by Buikema et al. (1980b). Some animal welfare considerations relevant to bioassays with invertebrates are found in Olson et al. (1991).

The various approaches used in sediment quality assessments with biological assays are summarized briefly in Adams et al. (1992). Meanwhile, a vast number of sediment toxicity tests have been made with benthic animals including field studies, laboratory tests and analyses of micro- and mesocosms (see reviews in Buikema & Cairns, 1980; Nebeker et al., 1984; Chapman, 1986a, 1988; Ahlf & Munawar, 1988; IJC, 1988; Lamberson & Swartz, 1988; Giesy & Hoke, 1990; Giesy et al., 1990; Burton, 1991; Burton et al., 1992; Coull & Chandler, 1992; Hamer et al., 1992; Lamberson et al., 1992; Hill et al. 1993; Hooftman & Gimeno, 1993; Ahlf, 1994; US EPA 1994a, b; and contributions in Burton, 1992). Methods for the assessment of sediment toxicity in marine benthos are described in Chapman (1986a, 1988), Chapman & Becker (1986), Reish & Lemay (1988), Swartz (1987), Clark et al. (1989), US EPA/US ACE (1991), ASTM (1993a, 1995), Carr & Chapman (1992), Environment Canada (1992), Lamberson et al. (1992); Hill et al. (1993) and Luoma & Ho (1993). Only a small proportion of these tests, however, have become established in routine diagnoses of sediment toxicity. The aim of this report is to give an overview of test procedures with benthic metazoans for the assessment of sediment toxicity in freshwater and marine ecosystems, as well as of criteria relevant to the choice between such bioassays. Introductory overviews to the terminology, design and interpretation of aquatic toxicity tests are found in Buikema et al. (1982) and Elder (1990). Definitions of commonly used technical terms are given in Table 1.

Biological tests are widely recognized as an essential tool in toxicity assessments, given the limitations Table 1. Definitions of some technical terms used in the text (adapted from Hill et al. 1993, with some additions).

bioassay: an experiment in which single test-species are exposed in the laboratory to samples of a field sediment (or extracts of this) potentially containing one or more contaminants, with the aim of measuring possible biological effects of those contaminants.

toxicity test: an experiment in which single test species are exposed in the laboratory to a clean natural or artificial sediment which has been dosed (*spiked*) in the laboratory with a known chemical or a mixture of chemicals, generally at a range of concentrations. The purpose of the experiment is to measure the degree of response associated with specific concentrations of the chemical(s).

whole sediment: the sediment and its interstitial water, also referred to as the solid phase.

interstitial water (pore-water): the water occupying the spaces between sediment particles, and that may be removed from the whole sediment by pressure/vacuum filtration, centrifugation or compression.

elutriate: an extract of whole sediment, obtained by "washing" with water (aqueous elutriate) or an organic solvent (organic elutriate).

overlying water: the water in the test chamber overlying the sediment, in a bioassay or toxicity test.

short (acute) and long-term (chronic) tests: This categorization refers to the duration of exposure to the test substance/s or of the monitoring of effects following exposure, relative to the life-span of the test organism. A long-term exposure should allow sufficient time for the contaminant to reach a steady state in the tissue of the test animals.

meiobenthos: organisms which pass a net with a mesh size of 0.5 or 1.0 mm and are retained at a mesh size of 0.04 mm.

macrobenthos: organisms which are retained in a net with a mesh size of 0.5 or 1.0 mm.

microcosm: enclosures of aquatic ecosystems smaller than 1 m³.

mesocosm: enclosures of aquatic ecosystems larger than 1 m³ (Hobbie & Wakeham, 1988).

of chemical-analytical methods arising from lack of knowledge about the bioavailability of most pollutants, especially of heavy metals (Knezovich et al., 1987; Landrum & Robbins, 1990; Pavillon, 1990; Hill et al., 1993). Analytical quantification of the bioavailability of sediment associated pollutants is complex, given the great variation in concentrations and exposure modes within the sediment, as well as the diversity of habits of benthic organisms (Lee, 1991). In field sediments contaminated with complex mixtures of chemicals, biological-response-tests are currently the only way to assess potential toxicity (Hill et al., 1993). Moreover, since sediment toxicity results from the action of such mixtures, including synergistic and antagonistic effects, the bioassay with benthic organisms is a method of pollution assessment whose validity is not dependent on correlations with sediment chemistry

(Oakden et al., 1984a; Thomas et al., 1986; Swartz et al., 1984, 1988). When identification of toxic compounds in sediments is desired, bioassays can be used to prioritize sites for chemical analysis (Giesy & Hoke, 1989). Several bioassay techniques have been used to rank freshwater sediments on the basis of toxicity to benthic organisms (e.g. Prater & Anderson, 1977b; Samoiloff et al., 1983a; Malueg et al., 1984b; Le Blanc & Surprenant, 1985).

Bioassays with benthic freshwater and marine species have had important applications, beyond the demonstration of sediment toxicity in areas of concern. For example, these bioassays have generated data required to set water and sediment quality criteria (e.g. Zarba, 1988; Elder, 1990; van der Gaag et al., 1991; but see Franklin, 1983), because toxicity tests with benthic organisms are direct indicators of impact, whereas chemical concentrations *per se* are not. In addition, the bioassays have been instrumental for the planning of remedial action in (1) mapping sediment toxicity horizontally and vertically, (2) prioritizing sites for further analyses or potential remediation and (3) assessment of the effectiveness of remedial action (Giesy & Hoke, 1989; Baudo et al., 1990; see also Cairns, 1988a). Furthermore, the toxicity responses of benthic metazoans have provided insight into the history of contamination based on vertical sediment profiles (e.g. Warwick, 1980; Swartz et al., 1991). Bioassays might even be a useful tool in broadly identifying classes of toxic components of contaminated substrates (e.g. soils: Thomas et al., 1986).

The power of laboratory bioassays, however, should be viewed in the light of problems and limitations associated with their application to sediments. These fall into four categories (Lamberson et al., 1992): 1) alterations of the toxicological properties of the sediment during sampling and handling, 2) sensitivity of test organisms to natural sedimentary features and laboratory conditions, 3) toxicological uncertainties arising from the narrow range of contaminants as yet tested and from the difficulties in measuring exposure concentrations, and 4) poorly understood ecological interactions and relevance. Minimizing these problems, and the potential for over- and underestimation of toxicity (Luoma & Carter, 1993), has been and still remains a challenge in the development of standardized protocols for sediment bioassays.

Sediment toxicity assays with benthic metazoans

Bioassays with 101 species of infaunal and epibenthic metazoans for freshwater and marine sediments are listed in Tables 2 and 3, respectively. In the 'remarks' column of the tables, reference is made to how well established the bioassay has become. The three categories are 'standard method', 'method widely used' and no reference to this criterion, in decreasing order of general acceptance. For the most common tests this judgement is taken from Hill et al. (1993). In the remaining cases, we based the judgement on our own coverage of the literature. The degree of popularity and standardization, however, is not necessarily a measure of the adequacy of the bioassay, for recently developed test procedures of low present popularity, may nevertheless already fulfill most requirements for ideal bioassays. Table 4 lists a selection of toxicity bioassays with benthic metazoans, which have not been specifically applied to sediments, but which enrich the taxonomic range of potential applications in sediment toxicology.

Choice of bioassay

An ideal laboratory bioassay should be rapid, simple, replicable, inexpensive, standardized, sensitive, discriminatory, ecologically relevant, relatable to field effects and useful in developing regulatory criteria (Giesy & Hoke, 1989). These criteria are closely fulfilled by those bioassays which have been standardized and widely recommended (see Tables 2 and 3). In selecting an appropriate bioassay, however, the first decision relevant to this review, is whether a test with benthic metazoans should be included in the toxicological evaluation of a particular area of concern. Sediment toxicity assessments have been based on the biological responses of microbes, primarily bacteria and algae, benthic and nektonic invertebrates, amphibians and fish (overview in Giesy & Hoke, 1989). The specific aim of the toxicological study determines the choice of organism. For a rapid and sensitive screening operation, microbial assays (e.g. bacteria bioluminescens: Bulich, 1983, 1984) can yield the required information both in freshwater (Giesy et al., 1988) and marine environments (Becker et al., 1990). A more in depth toxicological analysis, however, requires the inclusion of bioassays with benthic invertebrates because of their higher discriminatory power and ecological relevance (Giesy et al., 1988; Becker et al., 1990).

The main applications of metazoan benthic species to assess the toxicity of sediments are in mono-species tests, test-batteries and analyses of benthic community structure and function. Other applications of bioassays with zoobenthic organisms include the monitoring of sediment toxicity with multi-species tests, bioaccumulation studies and analyses of morphological deformities. Giesy & Hoke (1989) give guidelines for the choice of test organism, test design and data analysis, with reference to advantages and disadvantages of sediment bioassays with some freshwater, benthic metazoans (see also Elder, 1990; ASTM, 1993b). Luoma & Ho (1993) describe the appropriate uses of marine and estuarine sediment bioassays, with recommendations for the choice of test organism and for the collection and handling of sediment samples (see also ASTM, 1991b, 1993b). Further guides to standardized methods and recommended procedures for the assessment of sediment toxicity are found in publications

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment	Test	Remarks	Reference/s
			phase	substance		
Infaunal organis	SW					
INSECTA						
Chironomus sp.	mortality, behaviour (sed.	24-48h, 48-60h	solid	nat.sed.		Gannon & Beeton (1969)
	selection)					
Chironomus sp.	mortality	48h, 10d	solid	spiked sed., copper		Cairns et al. (1984)
C. decorus	mortality	48h	aqueous, substrate	copper		Kosalwat & Knight (1987b)
			bound (food)			
C. riparius	mortality, growth	13d (14d)	solid	nat. sed.		Ingersoll & Nelson (1990)
C. riparius	adult emergence	29d	solid	nat. sed.		Ingersoll & Nelson (1990)
C. riparius	mortality	24h	solid	nat. sed.	fourth instar larvae	Lydy et al. (1990)
C. riparius	mortality, growth, adult	10d (up to 30d)	solid	any sed.	standard method	ASTM (1994a), BBA/IVA (1994)
	emergence					
C. riparius	mortality, adult	28d	solid	any sed.	standard method	ASTM (1994a), BBA/IVA (1994)
	emergence					
C. tentans	larval mortality, growth	17-20d	solid	nat. sed. with		Wentsel et al. (1977a)
				heavy metals		
C. tentans	adult emergence	17-20d	solid	nat. sed. with		Wentsel et al. (1978b)
				heavy metals		
C. tentans	mortality, growth	14d	solid	Kepone		Adams et al. (1985)
C. tentans	larval mortality, growth,	10d, 15d	solid	test sed.	part of a multi-species	Nebeker et al. (1984)
	bioaccumulation				test	
C. tentans	adult emergence	25d	solid	test sed.	part of a multi-species	Nebeker et al. (1984)
					test	
C. tentans	growth	104	solid	nat. sed.	standard method	Giesy et al. (1988)
C. tentans	mortality, growth, adult	10d (up to 25d)	solid	any sed.	standard method	ASTM (1994a)
	emergence					
Hexagenia sp.	mortality	4d	solid (and pore-	nat. sed.		Bahnick et al. (1980)
			water)			
Hexagenia sp.	enzyme inhibition	1.5h	extract	test sed.		Buikema et al. (1980b)
Hexagenia sp.	mortality	2 4–4 8h, 4d	extract	test sed.	reference data for	Buikema et al. (1980b)
					enzyme inhibition test	
Hexagenia sp.	mortality, growth	14d	solid	test sed.	method widely used	IJC (1988)
Hexagenia sp.	mortality, growth,	4-10d, 21d	solid	test sed.	method widely used	Giesy & Hoke (1989), Bedard et al.
	behaviour (burrowing),					(1992), ASTM (1994a)
	molting frequency					

Table 2. Freshwater, sediment toxicity bioassays with benthic metazoans (nat. = natural, sed. = sediment).

219

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment phase	Test substance	Remarks	Reference/s
H. limbata	mortality	4d	solid	nat. sed.	part of multi-species test	Prater & Anderson (1977a, b)
H. limbata	mortality	104	solid	copper in nat. sed.	combined with a 2 d Daphnia test	Malueg et al. (1983, 1984a)
H. limbata	mortality, bioaccumulation	10d, 28d	solid	test sed.	part of a multi-species test	Nebeker et al. (1984)
H. limbata H. rigida (eggs)	nymph production embryonic development,	- 35d	<i>in situ</i> (not specified)	nat. sed.		Edsall et al. (1991) Friesen (1979)
Stenonema modestum	egg hatching mortality, reproduction,	7-14d	elutriate	nat. sed.		Diamond et al. (1992)
Paratanytarsus parthenogenica	gionus adult emergence, egg hatchability	21d	elutriate	dredged sed.		Le Blanc & Surprenant (1985)
OLJGOCHAETA Limnodrilus clunarederaus	mortality, growth, reproduction	500d	solid	nat. sed.		Wiederholm et al. (1987)
L. hoffmeisteri	mortality, growth, reproduction	500d	solid	nat.sed.,Cu spiked sed.		Wiederholm et al. (1987)
L. hoffmeisteri L. hoffmeisteri	mortality behaviour (reworking), mortality, weight, bioaccumulation	4d 40–55d	sed. slurry sed. slurry	endrin spiked sed endrin spiked sed.		Keilty et al. (1988a) Keilty et al. (1988b)
L. udekemianus	mortality, growth, reproduction	500d	solid	nat. sed.		Wiederholm et al. (1987)
Lumbriculus variegatus	mortality, growth, reproduction, bioaccumulation	10–28d	solid	cadmium spiked sed., nat. sed.	method widely used	Carlson et al. (1991), Phipps et al. (1993)
L. variegatus	mortality, growth, reproduction, behaviour (hurrowing)	1d, 2d, 14d	solid	nat. sed.		Dermott & Munawar (1992)
Potamothrix hammoniensis Pristina leidyi	mortality, reproduction mortality, reproduction	500d 48h, 15-18d	solid aqueous and solid	nat. sed. reference sed.	short generation times	Wiederholm et al. (1987) Smith et al. (1991)

Table 2. Continued

ntinued
ථ
ci.
Table

Reference/s		Keilty et al. (1988a)	Keilty et al. (1988b, c)		White & Keilty (1988)	Milbrink (1987)	Wiederholm et al. (1987)		Reynoldson et al. (1991), ASTM	(1994a)		Chapman et al. (1982a-c)			Samoiloff et al. (1980; 1983a, b),	Samoiloit (198/)	Traunspurger et al. (submitted)			Green et al. (1986)	Prater & Anderson (1977a, b)		Bahnick et al. (1980)		Gossiaux et al. (1993), ASTM	(1994a)		Gannon & Beeton (1971)
Remarks									method widely used						method widely used						part of a standard multispecies test				standard method			
Test	substance	endrin spiked sed.	endrin spiked sed.		nat. sed.		nat.sed., Cu spiked	sed.	nat. sed.	(sieved through	250mm)	various toxicants	in nat. sed.		nat. sed.		nat. sed.			Cadmium	nat. sed.		nat. sed.		spiked and nat.sed.			nat.sed.
Sediment	phase	sed. slurry, solid	sed. slurry		solid	solid	solid		solid w/o resident	fauna		solid			extract		solid			aqueous	solid		solid (and pore	water)	solid			solid
Duration		4d	40-55d		10min - 4d	200-300d	500d		28d			4d			4 d		3d			42d	4d		4d		5d, 28d			24-48h
Assay Endpoint		mortality	behaviour (reworking),	mortality, weight, bioaccumulation	behaviour (avoidance)	reproduction	mortality, growth,	reproduction	mortality, reproduction			mortality			mortality, growth,	mauranon	growth, reproduction			mortality	mortality		mortality		behaviour (avoidance),	mortality,	bioaccumulation	mortality, behaviour (choice)
Organism		Stylodrilus heringianus	S. heringianus		S. heringianus	Tubifex tubifex	T. tubifex		T. tubifex (mature	animals)		 various species - 		NEMATODA	Panagrellus redivivus		Caenorhabditis elegans	Epibenthic organisms	ISOPODA	Asellus aquaticus	A. communis	AMPHIPODA	Diporeia (Pontoporeia)	spp.	Diporeia (Pontoporeia)	spp.		D. affinis

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment phase	Test substance	Remarks	Reference/s
D. hoyi	mortality	PL	solid	nat.sed.	protocol after R. Dermott	Munawar et al. (1989)
Gammarus sp.	mortality, behaviour (choice)	24-48h, 48-60h	solid	nat. sed.		Gannon & Beeton (1971)
Gammarus sp. Gammarus sp.	mortality, feeding rate mortality	28–56h 48h, 10d	solid solid	test sed. spiked sed., copper	method widely used	Pascoe et al. (1992) Cairns et al. (1984)
G. fasciatus	mortality, growth, reproduction	56-70d	solid (and aqueous)	nat. sed.		Borgmann et al. (1989)
G. lacustris	mortality, bioaccumulation	10d, 28d	solid	test sed.	part of a multi-species test	Nebeker et al. (1984)
G. pulex	Scope for growth ¹	6d	water	zinc		Navior et al. (1989)
G. pulex	behaviour	14h	water	phenolic		Borlakoglu & Kickuth (1990)
				compounds		
G. <i>pulex</i> (only males)	scope for growth	6d (7d)	aqueous	artificial pond water	laboratory and <i>in situ</i> application	Maltby et al. (1990a,b)
G. pulex	Feeding rate	7–28d	sed. in an artificial	water dosed with	laboratory and in situ	Maltby (1992)
			stream	toxicant	application	
G. pulex	mortality, feeding rate	30-60d exposure + 10d test	solid	nat. sed. with zinc	(based on Naylor et al., 1989)	Roddie et al. (1992)
Hyalella sp.	mortality	48h, 10d	solid	spiked sed., copper		Cairns et al (1984)
H. azteca	mortality, development, growth, reproduction	14d - several months	(not specified)			de March (1979)
H. azteca	mortality	10d	solid	test sed.	part of a multi-species	Nebeker et al. (1984)
H. azteca	mortality of adult and voung. bioaccumulation	28d	solid	test sed.	part of a multi-species test	Nebeker et al. (1984)
H. azteca	mortality, growth	28d(-56d)	solid (and aqueous)	nat. sed.		Borgmann et al. (1989), Borgmann & Minaurier (1980)
H. azteca	mortality	10d	solid	nat. sed		e munawa (1202) Nebeker et al. (1989), Ingersoll & Nelson (1990)
H. azteca	growth	29d	solid	nat. sed.		Ingersoll & Nelson (1990)
H. azteca	mortality, growth, development, reproduction	10d - 30d	solid	any sed.	standard method	Kubitz (1992), ASTM (1994a)
¹ difference betw	veen energy intake through foo	d and energy lost via	respiration			

Table 2. Continued

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment phase	Test substance	Remarks	Reference/s
Pontoporeia spp.						(see Diporeia spp.)
DECAPODA Orconectes virilis	mortality, development	30d - 100d	(not specified)		<i>in situ</i> and laboratory	Leonhard (1979)
Palaemonetes sp.	mortality	4d	elutriate	dredged sed.		Jones & Lec (1978), Lee et al. (1978)
GASTROPODA						
Helisoma sp.	mortality,	P01	aqueous, solid	cadmium spiked		Carlson et al. (1991)
H. trivolvis	bioaccurnulation mortality, growth, fecundity	70d - 210d	(not spe-cified)	sed.	multi-generation test	Flannagan & Cobb (1979)
BIVALVIA Sphaerium sp.	mortality	P01				Crane et al. (1993, not consulted)
Multi-species tests Hyalella, Chironomus, Gammaru (and Danhua)	mortality	10d	solid	spiked sed. copper		Caims et al. (1984)
Hyalella, Gammarus,	mortality	4d or longer	undisturbed	nat. sed., in situ	mixed species test in	Nebeker et al. (1984)
rtexagenta, Cutronomus Hexagenia limbata, Asellus communis, (Daphnia magna and fish)	mortality	4d	solid	nat. sed.	aga	Prater & Anderson (1977a, b)

Table 2. Continued

Ŧ
5
E
÷
ő
15
2
ŝ
-f
Ľ
5
13
H
a
Ξ
S
B
ŝ
8
ē
8
0
P.
đ
8
~
扫
3
\$
Ş,
33
ĕ
Ξ.
<u>بد</u>
<u></u>
2
÷.
5
Ħ
G
8
÷,
s
õ
ğ
E.
Ĩ
S
ž
ğ
4
ä
5
Λ.
4
$\tilde{\mathbf{v}}$
le
ē
T_a

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment	Test	Remarks	Reference/s
			phase	substance		
Infaunal organisms						
AMPHIPODA						
Ampelisca abdita	mortality, emergence, reburial	104	solid	test and nat. sed.	standard method	Breteler et al. (1989), Scott & Redmond (1989), Di Toro et al. (1990), US EPA/US ACE (1991), ASTM (1993a)
A. abdita	mortality, behaviour (tube building)	4d, 10d	solid	diluted nat. sed.		Rogerson et al. (1985)
Amphiporeia virginica	mortality	10d	solid	test sed.	standard method	Environment Canada (1992)
Bathyporeia sarsi	mortality, behaviour (reburial)	10d	solid	nat. sed.	standard method	van den Hurk et al. (1992)
Corophium insidiosum	mortality	10d	solid	test sed.	standard method	Reish & Lemay (1988)
C. volutator	mortality, behaviour	104	solid	nat. sed.	standard method	Environment Canada (1992), van den
	(reburial)					Hurk et al. (1992), Roddie et al. (1994)
C. volutator	behaviour (burrowing)	lh	solid	sulphide spiked sed.		Meadows et al. (1991)
Fohmetonine setuarine	mortality emergence	104	enlid eenierine	tact cad	standard mathod	The state (1001) Is a marked a state of the
L'OILLINDIO! [103 531445] [103	reburial	101	sed.			(1991), ASTM (1993a), Environment Canada (1992)
E. sencillus	mortality, behaviour	72h	solid	spiked nat. sed.		Oakden et al. (1984a)
	(choice)			with EDTA and		
				trace metals		
Foxiphalus xiximeus	mortality	P01	solid	test sed.	standard method	Environment Canada (1992)
Grandidierella japonica -	mortality, emergence,	104	solid	nat. + test sed.	standard method	Nipper et al. (1989), ASTM
adults	reburial					(1993a), Environment Canada (1992)
G. japonica - juveniles	mortality, growth,	28d	solid	nat. sed.		Nipper et al. (1989)
	DELIAVIOUI (LEOUITAL)					
Hyalella azteca	mortality of adult and	10d	solid	estuarine sed.	tolerant of salinity	Nebeker & Miller (1988)
	young					

inued	
Cont	
ŝ	
able	
12	

Table 3. Continued						
Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment phase	Test substance	Remarks	Reference/s
Leptocheirus plumulosus	mortality	10d	solid, estuarine sed.	test sed.	standard method	ASTM (1993a), Environment Canada (1992), Schlekat et al. (1992)
L. plumulosus	mortality	10d, 20d, 28d	solid, estuarine sed.	test sed.		Schlekat et al. (1992)
L. plumulosus	mortality, growth, reproduction, morphol. development	10d-40d	solid	nat. estuarine sed.		McGee et al. (1993)
Paraphoxus epistomus	mortality	10d	solid	nat. sed.	part of a multispecies test	Swartz et al. (1979)
Rhepoxynius abronius and R. fatigans	mortality, behaviour (choice)	72h	solid	spiked nat. sed. with sewage, EDTA and trace metals		Oakden et al. (1984a, b)
R. abronius	mortality, behaviour (avoidance, reburial, emergence)	POI	solid	nat. or spiked sed.	standard method	Swartz et al. (1985,1988, 1990), Lamberson & Swartz (1988), PSEP (1991), US EPA/US ACE (1991), van den Hurk et al. (1992), ASTM (1993a), Environment Canada (1992)
COPEPODA Amphiascus tenuiremis	reproduction, age structure	21d	solid	fenvalerate spiked		Strawbridge et al. (1992)
A. tenuiremis	mortality	4đ	aqueous, solid	sed. cadmium spiked	method widely used	Green et al. (1993)
Enhydrosoma propinguum	mortality	РL	solid	fenvalerate in nat. sed		Chandler (1990)
Microarthridion littorale	mortality, reproduction	7d	solid	fenvalerate in nat. sed.		Chandler (1990)
Nannopus palustris	mortality, reproduction	7d	solid	endosulfan in nat. sed. (estuarine)		Chandler & Scott (1991)

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment phase	Test substance	Remarks	Reference/s
Paranychocamptus wilsoni	mortality, reproduction	p/	solid	fenvalerate in nat. sed.		Chandler (1990)
Pseudobradya pulchella	mortality, reproduction	7d	solid	endosulfan in nat. sed. (estuarine)		Chandler & Scott (1991)
MALACOSTRACA (Cumacea)						
Cyclaspis sp.	mortality	104	solid	nat. sed.	part of a multispecies test	Swartz et al. (1979)
Diastylis alaskensis	mortality	104	solid	nat. sed.	part of a multispecies test	Swartz et al. (1979)
Diastylopsis dawsoni	mortality	10d	solid	nat. sed.	part of a multispecies test	Swartz et al. (1979)
Lamprops quadriplicata	mortality	10d	solid	nat. sed.	part of a multispecies test	Swartz et al. (1979)
OLIGOCHAETA						
Monopylephorus cuticulatus	respiration rate	48h	elutriate	nat. sed.	sublethal toxicity test for nat. sed.	Chapman (1987)
- various species -	respiration rate	1-2h	extract	various toxicants in nat. sed.		Chapman et al. (1982c)
- various species -	mortality	4d	solid	various toxicants in nat. sed.		Chapman et al. (1982a-c)
- various species - DOI VCU A ETA	respiration rate	1–2h	extract	various toxicants in nat. sed.		review in Chapman & Brinkhurst (1984)
Arenicola marina	mortality, faecal production, bioaccumulation	10d			method widely used	Thain & Bifield (1993, not consulted)
Capitella capitata	life cycle (mortality, growth, reproduction)	35d, 50d	solid, elutriate	nat. sed.		Chapman & Fink (1984)

Table 3. Continued

able 3. Continued	Table 3. Continued	
able 3. Contin	Table 3. Continu	pən
able 3.	Table 3.	Contin
	~	able 3.

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment	Test	Remarks	Reference/s
			phase	substance		
C. capitata	mortality, juvenile growth	4d, 20d	solid	estuarine, nat. sed.	standard method	Reish & Lemay (1988)
Dinophilus gyrociliatus	life cycle, mortality, reproduction	7d	pore-water or elutriate only	nat. sed.	method widely used	Carr et al. (1986, 1989), Long et al. (1990)
Glycinde picta	mortality	P01	solid	nat. sed.	part of a multispecies test	Swartz et al. (1979)
Hediste (Nereis) sp.	mortality, juvenile growth	4d, 20d	solid		standard method	US EPA/US ACE (1991)
Neanthes sp. Neahtvs incisa	growth (biomass) prowth scone for prowth	20d 10.d	solid solid	nat. sed. nat. sed.	standard method	Johns et al. (1991) Johns et al. (1985)
N. incisa	mortality, behaviour (burrowing)	4d, 10d	solid	diluted nat. sed.		Rogerson et al. (1985)
Nereis (Neanthes) arenaceodentata	mortality, juvenile growth	28d	solid and aqueous	diluted nat. sed. (also estuarine)	standard method	Dillon et al. (1993), Moore & Dillon (1993)
N. arenaceodentata	mortality, growth, fecundity	153 d	solid	diluted nat. sed.		Pesch et al. (1991)
N. arenaceodentata	mortality, juvenile growth	4d, 20d	solid		standard method	Reish & Lemay (1988), PSEP (1991), US EPA/US ACE (1991)
N. arenaceodentata	mortality, bioaccumulation	12d	solid		standard method	Dillon et al. (1993)
N. diversicolor	behaviour (burrowing)	20 h	solid	pesticides in nat. sed.		Møhlenberg & Kiørboe (1983)
N. virens	mortality	12d	solid	spiked sediment	(follows McLeese & Metcalfe, 1980)	McLeese et al. (1982)
Scoloplos armiger	behaviour (burrowing)	20 h	solid	pesticides in nat. sed.		Møhlenberg & Kiørboe (1983)
Streblospio benedicti	colonization, growth	P/	solid	endosulfan in nat. sed. (estuarine)		Chandler & Scott (1991)
NEMATODA Chromadorina germanica	mortality, reproduction	14d	solid	nat. sed. (also estuarine)		Tietjen & Lee (1984)
Diplolaimella punicea	mortality, reproduction	14d	solid	nat. sed. (also estuarine)		Tietjen & Lee (1984)

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment phase	Test substance	Remarks	Reference/s
GASTROPODA Littorina litorea	mortality, bioaccumulation	2d-4d, 10d	liguid	sewage sludge		Franklin (1983)
BIVALVIA Abra alba	behaviour (burrowing)	20 h	solid	pesticides in nat. sed.		Møhlenberg & Kiørboe (1983)
A. alba	faecal production, bioaccumulation	Şd	solid	hydrocarbons sniked sed.	method widely used	Strømgren et al. (1993)
Cerastoderma edule	behaviour (burrowing)	20 h	solid	pesticides in nat. sed.		Møhlenberg & Kiørboe (1983)
C. edule	mortality, bioaccumulation	2d-4d, 10d	liquid	sewage sludge		Franklin (1983)
Macoma baltica	behaviour (burrowing)	20 h	solid	pesticides in nat. sed.		Møhlenberg & Kiørboe (1983)
M. inquinata M. nasuta	mortality mortality,	10d 4d	solid solid	nat. sed.	standard method	Swartz et al. (1979) Reish & Lemay (1988)
Mercenaria mercenaria	bioaccuintuation behaviour (burrowing)	4d	solid	oil contaminated		Olla & Bedja (1983)
Mulinia lateralis Mytilus edulis	mortality, growth survival in air, bioaccumulation	7d 15d exp.	solid	nat. sed. test sed.		Burgess & Morrison (1994) Eertman et al. (1993)
M. edulis	mortality, bioaccumulation	4d, 10/60d	liquid	sewage sludge		Franklin (1983)
Mya arenaria	behaviour (ET50 for burrowing)	< 4h,	solid	estuarine sed.	shipboard use possible	Phelps (1989, 1990)
Protothaca staminea P. staminea Yoldia limatula	mortality, bioaccumlation mortality behaviour (burrowing)	4d 10d 4d, 10d	solid solid solid	nat. sed. diluted nat. sed.	standard method	Reish & Lemay (1988) Swartz et al. (1979) Rogerson et al. (1985)

Table 3. Continued

Continued	,	and the second se
ŝ		
Table		

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment	Test	Remarks	Reference/s
			phase	substance		
ECHINODERMATA Echinocardium cordatum	mortality	14d			method widely used	Bowmer (1993, not consulted)
Epibenthic organisms DECAPODA						
Carcinus maenas	behaviour (avoidance)	10 min	solid	pesticides in nat. sed.	- no response shown -	Møhlenberg & Kiørboe (1983)
Crangon crangon	behaviour (avoidance)	10 min	solid	pesticides in nat. sed.		Møhlenberg & Kiørboe (1983)
C. crangon	mortality, bioaccumulation	1-4d, 10/60d	liquid	sewage sludge		Franklin (1983)
C. septemspinosa	mortality	4d	solid	spiked sed.	standard method	McLeese & Metcalf (1980)
Mysidopsis bahia	mortality	4d, 10d	solid	sed. spiked with nvrethroids	standard method	Clark et al. (1989)
Palaemonetes pugio	mortality	4d	solid	sed. spiked with pyrethroids	method widely used	Clark et al. (1989), see also Buikema et al. (1980c)
Penaeus duoarum	mortality	4d, 10d	solid	sed. spiked with pyrethroids	method widely used	Clark et al. (1989)
Sicyonia ingentis	mortality, bioaccumlation	4d	solid		standard method	Reish & Lemay (1988)
COPEPODA Corophium spinicorne	mortality	10d	solid	fluoranthene in nat. sed.		Swartz et al. (1990)
Nitocra spinipes	mortality	4d	aqueous	estuarine water	method widely used (Baltic Sea)	Bengtsson (1978, 1981), Tarkpea et al (1986) Dave et al (1993)
Tisbe battagliai	mortality, development	4d	elutriate	nat. sed.	method widely used	Williams (1992)

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment	Test	Remarks	Reference/s
			Second	ausuure		- CONTROL - A AMMONT - RECOMPLY
ECHINODERMATA Lytechinus pictus	mortality, growth.	60d	solid	nat. sed.		Thompson et al (1989)
(adults)	gonadal production, bioaccimulation					
L. pictus (adults)	mortality, behaviour,	49d	solid	H ₂ S spiked sed.		Thompson et al. (1991)
	growth, gonad production, bioaccumulation					
Water column life stages ²						
BIVALVIA						
(embryo/larvae)						
Corbicula fluminea	mortality	4 d	solid	nat. sed.		Phelps (1993)
Crassostrea virginica	mortality, development	2d	aqueous		standard method	ASTM (1989), US EPA/US ACE (1991)
C. gigas	mortality, development	2d	solid	estuarine sed.	standard method	Chapman & Morgan (1983), ASTM
				possible		(1989), Phelps & Warner (1990), PSEP (1991)
Mytilus edulis	mortality, development	2d	solid	nat. sed.	standard method	ASTM (1989), PSEP (1991), US EPA/US ACE (1991)
ECHINODERMATA						
(gametes)						
Arbacia punctulata	fertility	30min exp.	aqueous		standard method	Burgess et al. (1993), see also Nacci et al. (1991)
Dendraster excentricus	fertility	15- 60min	aqueous	reference toxicant		Dinnel et al. (1982, 1987)
Paracentrotus lindus	fertility	30min. exp.	aqueous	reference toxicant	standard method	Dinnel et al. (1987)
P. lividus	fertility	60 min.	solid and aqueous	nat. freshwater sed.		Pagano et al. (1993)
Sphaerechinus granularis	fertility	15 min.	solid and aqueous	nat. freshwater sed.		Pagano et al. (1993)
Strongylocentrotus	fertility	15-60min	aqueous	reference toxicant		Dinnel et al. (1982, 1987)
droebachiensis						
S. puspuratus	fertility	20min	elutriate	nat. sed.		Long et al. (1990) following Dinnel et al. (1987)

² these life stages have been shown to be predictive of sediment toxicity to benthic organisms (US EPA, 1991).

230

Table 3. Continued

Continued	
~	5
Table	

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Duration	Sediment	Test	Remarks	Reference/s
			phase	substance		
(embryos)						
Arbacia punculata	mortality, development	2-4d	aqueous		standard method	PSEP (1991)
Dendraster excentricus	mortality, development	3d	aqueous	reference toxicant		Dinnel et al. (1982)
D. excentricus	mortality, development	2-4d	aqueous		standard method	PSEP (1991)
D. excentricus	mortality, growth,	28d	solid	diluted nat. sed.		Casillas et al. (1992)
	bioaccumulation					
Lytechinus pictus	mortality, development	2-4d	aqueous		standard method	Reish & Lemay (1988)
Paracentrotus lividus	mortality, development	72h	solid and aqueous	nat. freshwater sed.		Pagano et al. (1993)
Sphaerechinus granularis	mortality, development	120h	solid and aqueous	nat. freshwater sed.		Pagano et al. (1993)
Strongylocentrotus	mortality, development	4d	aqueous (not spe-	reference toxicant		Dinnel et al. (1982)
droebachiensis			cified)			~
S. droebachiensis	mortality, development	2-4d	aqueous		standard method	PSEP (1991)
S. franciscanus	mortality, development	2-4d	aqueous		standard method	PSEP (1991)
S. puspuratus	mortality, development	2-4d	aqueous		standard method	Reish & Lemay (1988), PSEP
						(1661)
S. puspuratus	echinocrome synthesis	2d	elutriate	nat. sed.		Long et al. (1990), following Bay et
						al. (1983)
S. puspuratus	cytology, cytogenetics	2d	elutriate	nat. sed.		Long et al. (1990), following Hose (1985)
S. puspuratus	development	2d	elutriate	nat. sed.	modification of Oshida et al. (1981)	Long et al. (1990)
Multi-species test						
Protothaca staminea,	mortality	10d	solid	nat. sed.		Swartz et al (1979)
Macoma inquinata,						
Glycinde picta,						
Paraphoxus epistomus,						
and a cumacean						

Table 4. Some benthic metazoans used in toxicity analyses, but not thus far applied in sediment bioassays

Organism	Assay Endpoint	Reference
FRESHWATER		
Brachycentrus americanus (Trichoptera)	mortality	Anderson & Shubat (1984)
Branchiura sowerbyi (Oligochaeta)	mortality, reproduction, development, degenerations	Naqui (1973), Casellato & Negrisolo (1989)
Chironomus attenuatus (Diptera)	mortality, lipid, nitrogen, caloric content	Thornton & Wilhm (1974)
Corbicula fluminea (Bivalvia)	oxygen consumption, condition index	Graney & Giesy (1988)
Dugesia japonica (Turbellaria)	head regeneration	Yoshioka et al. (1986)
Elimia clavaeformis (Gastropoda)	movements (in situ and lab.)	Burris et al. (1990)
Gammarus pseudolimnaeus	mortality	Burton et al. (1989)
Glyptodentipes pallens (Diptera)	behaviour (activity)	Heinis et al. (1990)
Ilyodrilus frantzi (Oligochaeta)	mortality	Chapman & Mitchell (1986)
Isonychia bicolor (Ephemeroptera)	molt frequency	Diamond et al. (1990)
Limnephilus lunatus, L. bipunctatus (Trichoptera)	mortality, adult emergence	Ließ (1993)
Monhystera disjuncta (Nematoda)	mortality, development	Vranken et al. (1984)
Nais communis (Oligochaeta)	mortality	Chapman & Mitchell (1986)
Polypedilum nubifer (Diptera)	reproduction	Hatakeyama (1987)
Pteronarcys dorsata (Plecoptera)	mortality	Anderson & Shubat (1984)
Quistadrilus multisetosus (Oligochaeta)	respiration rate	Brinkhurst et al. (1983)
Spirosperma nikolskyi (Oligochaeta)	respiration rate	Brinkhurst et al. (1983)
MARINE		
Ctenodiscus crispatus (Echinodermata)	physiology, behaviour	Shick (1976)
Crassostrea virginica larvae (Bivalvia)	mortality, development	Roberts (1980)
Ctenodrilus serratus (Polychaeta)	mortality, reproduction	Reish (1980)
Elasmopus bampo (Amphipoda)	mortality	Hong & Reish (1987)
Grandideriella lutosa, G. lignorum (Amphipoda)	reproduction, population changes	Connell & Airey (1982)
Rhyacodrilus montana (Oligochaeta)	respiration rate	Brinkhurst et al. (1983)
Variechaeta pacifica (Oligochaeta)	respiration rate	Brinkhurst et al. (1983)

by the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM, 1991a, b, 1993a, b, 1994a, 1995), the Society for Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry - Europe (Hill et al., 1993) and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA, 1994b). Publications by ASTM are updated regularly, thus the reader is encouraged to seek the latest issues for consultation. Overviews of strategies to combine the various test procedures, with recommendations relevant to the choice of strategy and test species in the palaearctic, are found in Hill et al. (1993) and Ahlf (1994, 1995).

Tabulated lists of some sediment toxicity bioassays, with rankings for sensitivity, ecological relevance, replicability, amenability etc., are found in Giesy & Hoke (1989) and Hill et al. (1993). The relative sensitivities of benthic organisms can vary considerably both in marine (Swartz et al., 1979; Williams L.G. et al., 1986; Chapman et al., 1985; Hong & Reish, 1987; Chapman, 1988; Becker et al., 1990; Long et al., 1990; Pastorok & Becker, 1990; van den Hurk et al., 1992) and freshwater sediment bioassays (Giesy et al., 1988; Burton, 1989; West et al., 1993). Intermediate or low sensitivity to contaminants must not be a drawback of certain test species, for bioassays with these organisms can be used to rank highly contaminated sites, where more sensitive animals would fail to detect differences.

In this report we describe the strengths and weaknesses of various bioassays with benthic metazoa and of combinations thereof. It is generally agreed that no single bioassay will usually fulfill the requirements of a comprehensive sediment toxicity assessment. Here, we avoid advocating a particular bioassay combination of apparent, general applicability. The choice of tests and their application strategy is ultimately dictated by the objectives of the study and the specific budgetary and biological circumstances at the site of concern. These variables affect the relative weighting of the strengths and weaknesses described here, and thus lead to highly individual rationales concerning the choice of bioassays. The selection criteria for a bioassay include the critical test variables considered in the following sections.

Critical test variables

Consideration of several test variables is important in categorizing and applying sediment toxicity bioassays. These include overlying water quality, geochemical characteristics of the sediment, sediment test phase, exposure time, test species chosen, assay endpoints and controls, all of which affect in different ways the test sensitivity, its ecological relevance and the interpretation of results (Burton et al., 1992). The overlying water quality, which can affect organism responses, is influenced by the contact time between sediment and water (Burton et al., 1987). Contact times differ between modes of exposure used, such as static, recirculating, static-renewal, flow-through systems and in situ exposure, all of which have their strengths and weaknesses (see Buikema et al., 1982). Also, tests may need to include the range of environmental conditions expected in the overlying water of the sediment because water hardness, pH, and the sediment to water ratio in the assay are known to affect sediment toxicity (Anderson et al., 1984; Stemmer et al., 1990a, b). The matching of geochemical properties of the sediment sample to the tolerance limits of the test species is obviated in in situ tests, if native fauna are used as test organisms. Such natural properties of the sediment, however, could influence the bioavailability of toxicants and, therefore, produce contrasting test results between sites with similar effluent loads but different sediment properties. Warwick (1981) proposed the use of the nematode to copepod ratio as an indicator of differences in sediment granulometry between polluted sites. Studies of the influence of sediment characteristics, including "non- contaminant" factors, on the response of test animals are badly needed (Burton et al., 1992).

In addition, the potential seasonality of sediment toxicity and the patchiness of toxicity distribution in the area of concern dictate multiple sampling and coverage of seasonal variation (Burton, 1989; Munawar et al., 1989). Furthermore, the presence of indigenous fauna in the sediment sample can affect the results of the bioassay. This is particularly true for the high densities of oligochaetes typical of some contaminated sites and which can significantly affect the growth of test organisms such as chironomid midges, amphipods and mayfly nymphs during chronic exposures to the test sediment (Reynoldson et al., 1994). Removal of indigenous organisms from the sample is recommended prior to testing. This applies particularly to chironomid bioassays and to samples from sites with high densities of benthic invertebrates. Other, unwanted sources of variability between bioassay results are described by Schaeffer et al. (1987). The roles of sediment test phase, exposure time, assay endpoint and test species chosen, as critical variables of bioassay choices are discussed in separate sections below.

Exposure phases in sediment toxicity assessment

Exposure of benthic organisms to pollutants can take place either in the dissolved phase in the interstitial and overlying water or in the way of molecules adsorbed to sediment particles (Power & Chapman, 1992; Ahlf, 1995). Direct ingestion of particles and absorption through the body surface are the most important paths of contamination (Ahlf et al., 1992). The most commonly used modes of exposure in studies of sediment toxicity are aqueous or organic elutriates (extractable phase), interstitial water isolated from the sediment, whole sediment (solid phase) and in situ assays. Other modes of exposure are sediment slurries and sediment dilution series (e.g. Meador et al., 1990; Casillas et al., 1992; Nelson et al., 1993). Exposure of test organisms to sediment in suspension (e.g. Tsai et al., 1979; Schmidt-Dallmier et al., 1992) is relevant for example to the evaluation of dredged sediments for disposal at a dispersive aquatic site. Spiked sediments are commonly used in toxicity tests (Tables 2 and 3) to expose organisms to a range of toxicant concentrations. Since the sediment's organic carbon content affects toxicity (e.g. Landrum & Faust, 1991; Lydy et al., 1992), there is still little agreement as to which substance should be used as reference sediment. Burgess et al. (1994) tested sand spiked with copper on marine macrobenthos. There is urgent need for the development of spiked reference sediments for freshwater invertebrates.

Most pollution effects on meiofauna have been tested *in vitro* with toxicants in the aqueous phase (Coull & Chandler, 1992). In principle, tests of aquatic toxicity with water column species (e.g. the cladoceran *Daphnia magna:* Buikema et al., 1980a; Baudo, 1987; see also Munawar et al., 1985) can be applied to interstitial water or elutriates isolated from whole sediment samples (Giesy & Hoke, 1989). Liquid-phase sediment assays were originally developed to test the toxicity of polluted sediments or resuspensions thereof on watercolumn organisms (e.g. Schmidt-Dallmier et al., 1992). Such liquid sediment phases are amenable to dilution and are hence used to establish dose-response relationships of contaminated samples. Without an adequate field validation, however, the toxicity of these test phases to water-column dwellers does not allow inferences about the toxic effects of contaminanted sediments on benthic communities.

The results of toxicity tests on the same organism can vary, depending on the exposure phase used (e.g. Chapman & Fink, 1984; Fava et al., 1985; Lydy et al., 1990; McCauley et al., 1992; Green et al., 1993; West et al., 1993). Different strengths and weaknesses are associated with these procedures and some exposure modes may be appropriate in some cases but not in others (Burton, 1991; Ahlf, 1995). Studies comparing the toxicity of metals in different exposure phases show that ions in overlying and pore-water are the main path of contamination for most benthic organisms, while the toxicity of sediment bound metal is negligible (Cairns et al., 1984; Phelps et al., 1985; Nebeker et al., 1986; Green et al., 1993). Pore-water is predicted by equilibrium partitioning theory to be the controlling exposure medium in the toxicity of sediments to infaunal species (Di Toro, 1989; but see Lee, 1991). Thus, sediment quality tests exposing benthic organisms exclusively to pore-water can sometimes yield a useful approximation to the results of whole-sediment exposures (see also Ankley et al., 1991; Schubauer-Berigan & Ankley, 1991). The validity of pore-water tests as a model for whole-sediment analyses, however, depends on the chemical, physical and kinetic properties of the sediment (Landrum, 1989; Landrum & Robbins, 1990; Boese et al., 1990), as well as on the type of toxicant, the method used to obtain the pore-water sample and the test species chosen (Giesy et al., 1990; for marine sediments see Carr & Chapman, 1992). In reviewing the role of pore-water and whole sediment as sources of toxicity, Knezovich et al. (1987) concluded that their relative importance varies greatly, depending, among other things, on the type of contaminant and the species in question (see Green et al., 1993). The toxicity of water-borne copper to benthic Neanthes arenaceodentata (Polychaeta), for example, was higher in exposure chambers without sediment than in more biologically adequate chambers containing sediment (Pesch & Morgan, 1978). Interestingly, in tests with organisms like e.g. the mayfly Hexagenia, which ingest sediment and probably absorb toxicants through the intestine wall, the toxicity of pore-water exposure was still higher than that of whole sediment (Giesy et al., 1990). Elutriates, which have been extensively used to simulate the resuspension of sediments occurring during dredging projects, are of limited ecological relevance to toxicity assessments of undisturbed sediments. The associated oxidation of resuspended particles can change the toxicity properties of elutriate samples in comparison to those revealed by whole sediment analyses (see also Burgess et al., 1993). Moreover, some sediment toxicity effects are only associated with the whole sediment phase (Sasson-Brickson & Burton, 1991).

Overall, a test with benthic species involving direct exposure to a sediment sample is more adequate and ecologically relevant for an assessment of sediment toxicity than tests in isolated liquid phases (Lamberson & Swartz, 1988; see Ankley et al., 1990). Static bioassays, in which benthic organisms are exposed to whole sediment and overlying water in a beaker, have been used to test experimentally spiked sediments (Cairns et al., 1984) and field contaminated samples (Wentsel et al. 1977a, 1978b). Bioassays that test whole sediment with benthic organisms examine directly the effect of both bound and dissolved toxicants on the species which are most likely to be affected by sediment toxicity. Thus, the diagnosis of sediment quality should be centred around whole sediment analyses, with pore-water and elutriate tests only as complementary sources of information (Chapman & Fink, 1984; Lamberson & Swartz, 1988; Ahlf, 1994).

Burton (1991) and Burton et al. (1992) evaluated the strengths and weaknesses of the different sediment toxicity exposure phases. Advantages of whole sediment and in situ tests over tests in the aqueous or extractable phase include its holistic toxicity approach, high relative realism and ecological relevance, as well as a virtually unlimited sample quantity. Meanwhile, most sediment bioassays with benthic organisms are run on whole sediments (solid exposure phase, Tables 2 and 3). In contrast to liquid phase tests, however, whole sediment and in situ tests need to consider the possibility that indigenous biota in the sample affect the test results, for example through predation on the test species. Whole sediment tests are routinely used for rapid screening, initial surveys, studies of long toxicant exposure, assessment of sediment quality criteria and analyses of dose-responses (Burton et al., 1992). In situ tests are used principally to study resuspension effects, to determine sediment quality and for intensive system monitoring. They offer a highly realistic measure of toxicity, integrating all key components and eliminating extraneous influences associated with handling and laboratory procedures. The latter, however, are inadequate to determine dose-responses and are less easy to reproduce, given, for example, the great variability of mesocosms and within-site- heterogeneity. Whole sediment bioassays are often more complex than *in situ* and liquid phase bioassays, because handling during sampling, storage and setup may change the physical, chemical and/or microbiological properties of the intact sediment through oxidation, mixing of layers, removal of interstitial water and disruption of sediment structure (Lamberson & Swartz, 1988; ASTM, 1991b, 1994a; Rubio & Ure, 1993).

Time of exposure to the test substance

The time of exposure to the test substance is a critical consideration in sediment tests, for extended exposure is associated with greater sensitivity (Birge et al., 1984; Malueg et al., 1984a, b; LeBlanc & Surprenant, 1985; Ingersoll & Nelson, 1990; Parsons & Surgeoner, 1991). Thus, the effect of small toxicant doses can sometimes be revealed in the form of sublethal effects after prolonged exposure. Short exposure tests, however, may be more appropriate, for example, in cases requiring a less sensitive and resource intensive approach which allows more testing. Although there are rigorous methodologies to extrapolate the effect of acute short-term exposures to effects of long-term exposures on the survival, growth and reproduction of aquatic organisms (Giesy & Graney, 1989), the great value of long-term exposures in bioassays is undoubted, despite possible complications arising from food provisioning to keep the test organisms alive (e.g. Wiederholm et al., 1987; Moore & Dillon, 1992). The development of chronic, sublethal sediment bioassays is important, firstly, because bioaccumulation is a slow process which can affect reproduction and, secondly, because benthic organisms generally experience such prolonged exposures to low contamination levels (Dillon, 1993). Most bioassays with commonly used test organisms include endpoints for chronic exposures (Tables 2 and 3).

The duration of tests with benthic metazoans varies greatly (Tables 2 and 3). Enzyme activity in *Hexagenia* and respiration rate of oligochaetes respond to very short exposures of 1-2 h, mortality is manifested in various organisms within 24 h and life cycle endpoints with oligochaetes can require exposures of up to 500 days. In general, short term exposure bioassays (< 4 d) produce fast results and allow efficient processing of large numbers of samples, but may be too brief to

detect the more subtle, sublethal effects that would hinder reproduction or even produce mortality after a long exposure time (Lamberson & Swartz, 1988). If possible, therefore, sublethal responses should be concurrently recorded. Longer term (such as 10-day) mortality or growth tests may be more sensitive and the results may be less variable (Swartz et al., 1985). Consequently, in choosing among the available bioassays, one criterion should be that the test include endpoints for both short- and longterm exposures.

Assay endpoints

The strengths and weaknesses of various endpoints have been evaluated by Lamberson & Swartz (1988). They conclude that mortality is the most easily measured and most readily understood response criterion, allowing comparisons among species and among chemicals or other variables within a species. Mortality is the most common endpoint used in standardized bioassays for the assessment of sediment toxicity (Tables 2 and 3). Mortality is commonly expressed as values of LC50 (lethal concentration for 50% of test animals), EC50 (effect concentration, here: 50% reduction in young) or percent survival. Anderson & Shubat (1984) used another measure of mortality, which makes reference to exposure time rather than concentration (ExpT50). This measure complemented LC50 values in order to express lethality as a function of both, contaminant concentration and time of exposure. In that study, emphasis was made on the monitoring of post-exposure mortality, particularly for assays which resulted in zero mortality after conventional, short exposures. Although mortality is a very amenable toxicological response, Luoma & Ho (1993) recommend the use of endpoints more sensitive than mortality (behaviour, reproduction, larval settlement) for whole sediments, single-species assays. For a critical position on the use of LC50 values as thresholds in environmental toxicology see Cairns (1992).

Developmental criteria of benthic species such as growth, adult emergence and maturation rates (e.g. nematodes: Coomans & Vanderhaeghen, 1985) are important toxicity variables in that they cover various life stages of the test organims. The results can be highly variable, however, and the bioassay may take too long for large-scale screening or monitoring work. Such sublethal endpoints can nevertheless be useful for analyses of chronic exposure to toxicants. As with other sublethal effects, these endpoints require verification of their negative impact on the reproduction of the organism in question.

Behavioural responses have been criticized on the grounds that they may be related to factors other than sediment contamination (Lamberson & Swartz, 1988) and that the variability of behaviour results in low resolution. The usefulness of behavioural endpoints, however, is specific to the test organism and bioassay used. Reburial and avoidance endpoints for the amphipods Rhepoxynius abronius and Ampelisca abdita for example, can be highly variable and insensitive when compared with other sediment bioassays (Long et al., 1990). The reburial endpoint of Bathyporeia sarsi, however, is sensitive and useful (van den Hurk et al., 1992). Some behavioural endpoints are highly sensitive, and given appropriate controls and calibrations could contribute greatly to a sediment toxicity assessment (see Møhlenberg & Kiørboe, 1983). Gammarus, for example, showed behavioural responses to phenolic toxicants at 1/20th of the acute LC50 dose (Borlakoglu & Kickuth, 1990). An automatic recording device for Gammarus pulex activity detected toxicity responses to the pyrethroid fenvalerate at concentrations as low as 0.1 ng/l, substantially below the minimum of 100 ng/l required for the detection of pyrethroids in water with analytical methods (Ließ, 1993). Corophium volutator responded behaviourally at two orders of magnitude less than the lethal dose for sulphides (Meadows et al., 1991). Induced disruption of precopulatory amplexus in Gammarus pulex after 24 h exposure to toxicants (Poulton & Pascoe, 1990) is a quick bioassay with great potential for in situ diagnostics of sediment quality. Choice experiments offering sediment samples with different test substance concentrations to benthic organisms have also been used in ecotoxicology (e.g. Møhlenberg & Kiørboe, 1983; Oakden et al., 1984a, b; Meadows et al., 1991).

Physiological endpoints, such as the respiration rate of oligochaetes (e.g. Chapman, 1987) or enzyme activity, can provide valuable means to assess sublethal sediment toxicity after a few hours of exposure to toxicants. Respiration rate tests respond to the presence of metals, as well as to all organic compounds that affect respiratory enzyme function (e.g. phenols, chlorophenols, pesticides, PCBs). Susceptibility to disease under toxic stress was proposed as a bioassay endpoint in crustaceans (Couch & Courtney, 1978), but it did not become established among standardized bioassays for sediment quality. Measurements of physiological variables often require sophisticated equipment thus making these response criteria less amenable for large scale testing of multiple samples than survival endpoints (also Reynoldson et al., 1991).

The etiological agents between toxicity and endpoint response are little understood. In a comparison of five marine bioassays, Long et al. (1990) found that whereas the endpoints within affinity groups have similar response patterns, some endpoints show negative correlations with endpoints in other affinity groups. In that study, for example, the Mytilus edulis percent normal development endpoint and the Ampelisca abdita avoidance endpoint were positively correlated and, therefore, contradicted each other. Two endpoints of the Strongylocentrotus pupuratus test, echinochrome content and percent normal development, also contradicted each other. Therefore, comprehensive assessments of sediment toxicity are best made with multiple endpoints, until the relationships between these endpoints and specific chemicals are quantified experimentally (Long et al., 1990).

Growth has been used as an endpoint in several bioassays for long-term exposure to sediment samples (Tables 2 and 3). Generally, a reduction in growth is considered as an adverse effect. The interpretation of growth results, however, must be accompanied by consideration of some potentially confounding factors, including intra-sediment nutritional differences, the potential for recovery, the subsidy effect (Odum et al., 1977) whereby low contamination levels*enhance* growth, and the fact that a reduction in growth need not necessarilly affect subsequent reproduction (see Moore & Dillon, 1993). Further research to elucidate the role of these factors is needed for a better interpretation of the growth endpoint in chronic bioassays.

Reproductive variables characterize the most ecologically relevant and sensitive life stage of the test organism (e.g. Reynoldson et al., 1991). Reproduction has become an established endpoint in the widely used *Tubifex tubifex* bioassay for a long term exposure to toxicants (28 d). Out of several reproductive variables tested, the total and per adult cocoon production emerged as the most robust endpoints in that bioassay (Reynoldson et al., 1991).

Choice of test species

The choice of test species is central in the design of a sediment toxicity test because organism morphology, ecological niche, feeding mechanism and physiology determine toxicant uptake, pathway and, thus, hazard (Knezovich et al., 1987). The choice of organism should include criteria such as (1) its importance in the

ecosystem dynamics, (2) its behaviour in the sediment and feeding habits, (3) its sensitivity to the test substance, (4) ease of the test method and (5) availability of a large reference base to interpret the results (see also Anderson et al., 1984; Giesy & Hoke, 1989; ASTM, 1993b). These criteria narrow down the options to those species which have been previously used in toxicity assessment and which have been well studied under field conditions. Generally, native species should be preferred over foreign species to analyse the toxicity of a given sediment, in order to ensure the ecological relevance of the results. In most in situ tests the choice is restricted to the animals naturally occuring at the study site, which are hence in the majority of cases ecologically relevant. The feeding habits are relevant for the choice in that, for example, species which ingest sediment particles (e.g. amphipods and oligochaetes) might be better suited to investigate toxicity of molecules adsorbed to the sediment, whereas smaller species with a higher body surface to volume ratio (e.g. nematodes) may be more sensitive to dissolved chemicals absorbed through the body walls (see Knezovich et al., 1987). The life style of the organism will further determine whether the source of contamination is primarily the overlying water, interstitial water or whole sediment, all of which can differ with respect to the dose of the test substance/s (Burton et al., 1992). When test organisms are collected from the field for laboratory bioassays, special care needs to be taken to avoid testing with individuals which may have developed a resistance to the toxicants in question (e.g. Bryan, 1979; Luoma & Carter, 1991). The isopod Asellus meridianus, the midge Chironomus tentans, and the polychaete Nereis diversicolor, for example, are more resistant to metals at contaminated sites than at sites free of such toxicants (Brown, 1976; Wentsel et al., 1978a; Bryan, 1979). Lastly, the cosmopolitans among the test species should be favoured in the tests, given the choice, because of their higher overall ecological relevance and better comparability between sites.

Advantages of using native species of benthic metazoa are that they have a high ecological relevance and that they can be easily collected from the field, thereby avoiding laboratory artifacts that may affect cultured organisms (e.g. Robinson et al., 1988). Test organisms sampled from the field, however, are subject to natural population variation, seasonality, weather and pollution, which may introduce unwanted noise into the analyses (Lamberson & Swartz, 1988). Also, these organisms may not be available at certain times of the 237

year, thus hindering the coverage of seasonal variation in sediment toxicity. Cultured organisms are readily available and generally less variable than natural populations. Meanwhile, most established bioassays for freshwater and marine sediment analysis include well developed culture techniques for the test animals (references in Tables 2 and 3).

Organisms in sediment bioassays

Freshwater organisms

Giesy & Hoke (1989) list criteria for the selection of freshwater species for sediment toxicity tests. An overview of commonly used freshwater organisms in sediment toxicity bioassays is found in Burton et al. (1992) and ASTM (1993b). ASTM (1994a) describes the biology, handling and culturing methods, as well as test protocols for the mayfly *Hexagenia*, the amphipods *Hyalella* and *Diporeia*, the midges *Chironomus tentans* and *C. riparius*, and the oligochaete*Tubifex tubifex*. At least 30 species of benthic metazoans have thus far been used in freshwater sediment bioassays (Table 2).

Freshwater insecta

Nymphs of the burrowing mayfly Hexagenia (Ephemeroptera) are one of the few insects for which standardized test protocols have been developed in sediment toxicology (Table 2). The biology of this genus, field collection, culture and exposure methods are reviewed by Fremling & Mauck (1980). Henry et al. (1986) make further recommendations for the development of test protocols with this species. In a study of Detroit river sediments, lethality of Hexagenia limbata was the most sensitive bioassay, when compared with Photobacterium phosphoreum bioluminenscence inhibition, or lethality in Daphnia magna and Chironomus tentans (Giesy et al., 1990). Molt production in the mayfly Stenonema modestum and potentially in other ephemeropterans, is a sensitive, subacute endpoint recommended for seven day exposures to elutriates of contaminated sediments (Diamond et al., 1992).

Infaunal larvae of *Chironomus* midges (Diptera) are sensitive insects with high ecological relevance and amenability in toxicological studies. They are tolerant of various sediment types and, therefore, the genus is suitable for analyses with spiked reference sediments. The biological and procedural background which led to the development of modern bioassays with chironomids is reviewed by Anderson (1980). The strengths of *Chironomus* in toxicity tests and the large data base on its responses to various toxicants led to a standardization of bioassay procedures with this genus (Table 2).

Chironomus tests should be started using first or second instar larvae, because Chironomus larvae become more tolerant to toxicants with increasing age (Nebeker et al., 1984; Williams et al., 1986). Field sediment samples should be treated with gamma irradiation to eliminate midge predators and other organisms which may bias the mortality and growth data in the Chironomus bioassay (Ingersoll & Nelson, 1990; Reynoldson et al., 1994). The culture method of C. riparius is described by McCahon & Pascoe (1988a; see also Maas-Diepeveen & van de Guchte, 1990; van de Guchte, 1992). Both, C. riparius and the amphipod Hyalella azteca are very robust with respect to the grain size of the sediment, but additional tests of the effect of other geochemical properties are needed, in order to assess the precision with which these organisms respond to contaminant toxicity (Ingersoll & Nelson, 1990; see Lydy et al., 1990, 1992). As for other single-species bioassays, the whole sediment Chironomus test should be complemented with other toxicity assays. A Chironomus pore-water test, for example, would reveal information on water soluble toxicants which may be missed by Chironomus in whole sediments contaminated with large amounts of insoluble petroleum hydrocarbons (Hoke et al., 1993).

Chironomus tentans in a growth assay is recommended by Giesy & Hoke (1989) as the benthic macroinvertebrate of choice in test-batteries for sediment toxicity bioassessment. In a comparative test with river sediments, the C. tentans 10 d growth inhibition bioassay showed the highest discriminatory power compared with Microtox^R and Daphnia assays, and it was as highly sensitive as $Microtox^{R}$ (Giesy et al., 1988). The culture method for C. tentans is described by Batac-Catalan & White (1982). A 30-40% inhibition of growth in the test sediment corresponds to field conditions of toxicity which do not support viable communities of benthic invertebrates. In metal exposures, larval growth seems to be the most sensitive endpoint in C. riparius and C. decorus (Powlesland & George, 1986; Kosalwat & Knight, 1987a, b). The growth of Tanytarsus dissimilis, however, is not affected at concentrations between LC50 during exposures to copper, lead and cadmium (Anderson et al., 1980).

Sexual dimorphism can be a source of bias in growth data for chironomids. C. riparius is sexually

dimorphic with respect to weight with males smaller than females, particularly when reared individually (Day et al., 1994). Although the effect of dimorphism on data interpretation is thought to be minimal when animals are reared in groups, it is recommended that both larval weight and head capsule width be measured as endpoints in sediment toxicity tests to differentiate reduced growth from retardation of instar development (Day et al., 1994).

Head deformities of chironomid larvae can be used as biological indicators of toxic stress (Wiederholm, 1976, 1984; Warwick, 1985, 1988). This laborious method of toxicity assessment requires considerable training as well as standardized preparation and mounting techniques. Its advantages include (1) the immediacy of response, such that deformities reflect accurately the toxicity prevailing in the sediment at the time of sampling and (2) the fact that head capsules preserve well in the sediment, therefore permitting palaeoanalysis of contaminant pressure in a historical context (e.g. Warwick, 1980; see also Swartz et al., 1991). A quantitative measure of deformity incidence is the Index of Severity of Antennal Deformation.

Freshwater oligochaeta

The infaunal life style of aquatic oligochaetes, their considerable contribution to the benthic biomass at some sites, and the range of responses of different species to individual and combined stress make these organisms attractive for use in sediment toxicity bioassays and as field pollution indicators (review in Chapman & Brinkhurst, 1984). Infaunal oligochaetes are overall in closer contact with the sediment than, for example, epibenthic amphipods and, therefore, are more likely to reflect sediment toxicity independently of toxic effects of soluble pollutants in the overlying water. Most oligochaetes are amenable to laboratory culturing. Nevertheless, there are some drawbacks associated with oligochaetes, including (1) difficulties of species identification, (2) fragility during handling, (3) quick decomposition of juveniles after death, which can affect reproduction measures, and (4) adherence of sediment particles to the mucus layer and alimentary canal, which can reduce the precision of weight measurements (Wiederholm et al., 1987; Giesy & Hoke, 1989).

Tubifex tubifex was chosen by Wiederholm et al. (1987) and Reynoldson et al. (1991) as the preferable species for the development of a meanwhile widely used toxicity bioassay, because of its short genera-

tion time compared with Limnodrilus sp., Potamothrix hammoniensis and Quistodrilus multisetosus. In addition, the cosmopolitan T. tubifex is found over the widest range of habitats and, therefore, seems to be largely insensitive to natural variation in sedimentological variables. Its wide distribution makes it ecologically relevant to many freshwater areas of concern. The T. tubifex bioassay is quick to set up, simple, inexpensive and uses readily available materials. As such, it overcomes most of the difficulties pointed out by Giesy & Hoke (1989) for the use of oligochaetes in laboratory bioassays. The addition of food to the test culture is not recommended (Wiederholm et al., 1987). One weakness of this test, however, is the need for pretreatment (e.g. sieving) of the sediment to remove the resident fauna, a procedure which could alter the toxicity properties of the sample (Reynoldson et al., 1991). Gamma irradiation of the sediment sample, as recommended by Ingersoll & Nelson (1990), could be used to obviate this problem. The testing of sediments from oligotrophic water bodies, however, may require the choice of another species, or even organism group, because the above mentioned oligochaetes are nutrient dependent and will not typically occur in this trophic state. The cosmopolitan naidid Pristina leidyi has great potential for chronic toxicity analysis using reproduction as an endpoint, because it has a remarkably short generation time of 3 to 7 days, which represents a methodological advantage over tubificids (Smith et al., 1991). Respiration rates under toxic stress are known for various freshwater oligochaetes including Limnodrilus hoffmeisteri, Quistadrilus multisetosus, Spirosperma nikolskyi, Stylodrilus heringianus and Tubifex tubifex (Brinkhurst et al., 1983). Respiratory responses could be developed into sensitive endpoints for freshwater sediment bioassays (c.f. marine oligochaetes).

Oligochaetes are often thought to be an insensitive group because they become the predominant benthic macroinvertebrate upon eutrophication. This, however, is mainly due to their capability to tolerate prolonged periods of anoxia (Reynoldson, 1987). Their relative, long term sensitivity to toxic compounds is mostly unkown, for lack of controlled comparisons of sublethal effects with other benthic organisms (Reynoldson et al., 1991). A recent comparative chronic test with contaminated natural sediments indicates that *Lumbriculus variegatus* is as sensitive as the amphipod *Hyalella azteca*, but less sensitive than *Diporeia hoyi* (Dermott & Munawar, 1992). Reports regarding the sensitivity of oligochaetes to sediments contaminated with metals have been conflictive. Malueg et al. (1984b), Milbrink (1987) and Wiederholm et al. (1987) documented high sensitivity, whereas Chapman et al. (1980, 1982a, b) and Wentsel et al. (1977b) found oligochaetes to be highly tolerant of metals. Assessment of the sensitivity of oligochaetes to toxicants is further complicated by the fact that these organisms can develop site specific resistances (Wentsel et al., 1978a). A simple statement about the sensitivity of oligochaetes (or any other organism group) to contaminants is unlikely to be valid, for differences between species, as well as between their responses to different toxicants can be significant (Chapman et al., 1980, 1982 a, b; Chapman & Brinkhurst, 1984; Wiederholm et al., 1987).

Freshwater crustacea

The most frequently used benthic crustacean in freshwater sediment toxicology is the amphipod Hyalella azteca. In contrast to other amphipods, this species presents few culturing difficulties (e.g. de March, 1979, 1981). This species is highly sensitive, discriminatory and tolerant of natural variation in sediment grain size (e.g. Ingersoll & Nelson, 1990). The sensitivity of the freshwater amphipods Hyalella and Gammarus to toxicants is either similar to, or greater than, the sensitivity of the cladoceran Daphnia (Borgmann et al., 1989). Given its geographical distribution limited to America, however, the genus Hyalella has no ecological relevance for sediment evaluations in other regions of the world.

A review of procedures for the use of freshwater amphipods of the genus Gammarus in toxicity bioassays is found in Arthur (1980). Among North American freshwater gammarideans, G. lacustris was the species recommended by Arthur (1980) for toxicity bioassays, based on culturing success and availability of information on the requirements of the species (see McCahon & Pascoe, 1988a, b). This species belongs to the most sensitive among several taxonomic groups of invertebrates in the Great Lakes to a range of contaminants (Williams et al., 1984). The effect of various metals and organic contaminants on G. lacustris has been tested in several short-term exposure studies (e.g. Abel & Garner, 1986; references in Giesy & Hoke, 1989). Juveniles are the most sensitive life stage in this species (McCahon & Pascoe, 1988b). It should be noted, however, that Gammarus is partly associated with the water column, and therefore may not faithfully reflect the toxicity conditions of the sediment. For this reason, McCahon & Pascoe (1988a) recommend instead the use of *Asellus aquaticus*, a species which is in continuous contact with the sediment (see Green et al., 1986).

The burrying poxocephalid amphipod Diporeia spp., inhabiting the Great Lakes, is one of the six benthic invertebrates recommended by ASTM for standardized sediment ecotoxicology (ASTM, 1994a). Diporeia spp. was formerly named Pontoporeia hoyi and earlier named Pontoporeia affinis, thus figuring with three synonyms in the ecotoxicological literature (ASTM, 1994a). Surprisingly, no benthic ostracods have thus far become widely established as test species in sediment toxicology. Taub (1989) included the freshwater ostracods Cypridopsis sp. and Cyprinotus sp. in a microcosm design.

Freshwater nematoda

The current and potential applications of nematodes in ecotoxicological research are reviewed by Traunspurger et al. (1995). Nematodes are becoming increasingly important test organisms in sediment toxicology (Samoiloff, 1987; Bongers & van de Haar, 1990; Traunspurger et al., 1995). These infaunal animals are the most abundant and species richest group of metazoa in benthic ecosystems (e.g. Traunspurger, 1991). The Panagrellus redivivus bioassay developed by Samoiloff et al. (1980, 1983a, b) follows a quick and highly standardized procedure, which includes lethal, sublethal and gene level endpoints during a 4 d exposure to sediment extracts with standard dilutions. This test is often used in combination with the Microtox^R bioassay developed by Bulich (1983, 1984). Gregor & Munawar (1989) consider the sediment extraction/fractionation procedure of the Panagrellus bioassay an alteration of natural bioavailability of the test substances and, therefore, recommend that assay only as complementary to their advocated elutriate test with the Algal Fractionation Bioassay. Popham & Webster (1979), Coomans & Vanderhaegen (1985) and Van Kessel et al (1989) developed bioassays with Caenorhabditis elegans exposed to toxicants in agar. Traunspurger et al. (submitted) elaborated on these bioassays with C. elegans to test whole sediment samples. Some of the advantages of nematode bioassays are that the test is easy and quick to perform, the culture of some species is simple and nematodes are obtainable from all aquatic systems.

Freshwater mollusca

In evaluating the strengths and weaknesses of molluscs as bioassay organisms, Giesy & Hoke (1989) concluded that bivalves and gastropods are well suited for laboratory and in situ studies of toxicant bioaccumulation and for environmental monitoring (e.g. Green et al., 1989), but less so for use in toxicity bioassays for screening purposes. Some disadvantages of using clams as bioassay organisms are that lethality is often difficult to determine and that clams can close their shells to avoid irritants, thus hindering the determination of actual exposure doses in short-term laboratory tests (Giesy et al., 1983). While this conclusion might apply to the adult life stage, meanwhile bioassays with bivalve embryos play an important role in toxicity assessments of marine sediments (Table 3). The standardization of aequivalent assays with freshwater species is still pending. One consideration in the application of such assays is that the sensitivity of bivalves can vary considerably between toxicants (Little, 1978). Giesy & Hoke (1989) noted that the majority of ecotoxicological studies with marine and freshwater molluscs have focused on metals and hydrocarbons. Thus, little information is available on the sensitivity of any species to a broad range of other organic contaminants.

Marine organisms

Criteria for the selection of marine species for sediment toxicity tests are summarized in Lamberson et al. (1992). Not surprinsingly, these criteria differ little from those for the choice of freshwater organisms (e.g. Giesy & Hoke, 1989). At least 71 species of benthic metazoans have been thus far used in marine and estuarine sediment bioassays (Table 3). Peddicord (1980) describes bioassays with sediment elutriates using shrimps, crabs, mussels, tunicates and lobster not mentioned in Table 3. Pastorok & Becker (1990) compared several marine bioassays in exposures to contaminated natural sediments from Puget Sound. The ranks of statistical sensitivity in that study were in decreasing order as follows: Photobacterium phosphoreum (Microtox) = Dendraster excentricus embryo abnormality > Rhepoxynius abronius mortality = Eohaustorius estuarius mortality > Neanthes arenaceodentata biomass > Neanthes are nace odentata mortality = Dendraster excentricus chromosomal abnormality > Rhepoxynius abronius nonreburial > Eohaustorius estuarius nonreburial = Panope generosa mortality. Other relative sensitivities of marine bioassays are mentioned in sections below.

Marine crustacea

Amphipods in general are among the first species to disappear from benthic marine communities in contaminated areas (Belian-Santini, 1980; Swartz et al., 1982), and thus may be considered as sensitive indicators of sediment pollution. When toxicity is found, however, it is difficult to determine whether the observed effects are due to toxicants associated with sediment particles ingested or to chemicals dissolved in interstitial water (Lamberson & Swartz, 1988). Further tests are then necessary to pinpoint the source of contamination, should this be a desired goal. This is one reason why mono-species tests are presently just one component of sediment quality assessments.

Amphipods are available in large numbers in marine and estuarine waters worldwide. Ease of collection, amenability in the laboratory, and the availability of culture procedures for some species make this group suitable for the development of toxicity bioassays in countries where species included in standardized test protocols are absent. Several species of marine amphipods, noticeably Rhepoxynius abronius, have become established as sensitive test organisms in sediment bioassays (Table 3). ASTM (1993a) describes the biology, handling and culturing methods, as well as bioassay protocols for Rhepoxynius abronius, Eohaustorius estuarius, Ampelisca abdita, Grandidierella japonica and Leptocheirus plumulosus (see also Environment Canada, 1992). Grandidierella japonica stands out as particularly tolerant of a wide range of sediment grain sizes (0.004 mm - 1 mm; Nipper et al., 1989). It is noteworthy that the prolonged holding of field collected amphipods can alter their toxicological sensitivity (Robinson et al., 1988). Lamberson et al. (1992) give an overview of the use of amphipods in marine sediment toxicology. The sensitivity and costs of these bioassays are discussed by Word et al. (1989). Marine research on toxicity and bioaccumulation of pollutants in gammaridean amphipods is reviewed by Reish (1993). Although the most common endpoint in single-compound toxicity tests with gammarideans is mortality in 4 d exposures (LC50), 10 d exposures became the standard in sediment toxicology (Table 3). Reburial capability is a sublethal endpoint which can be applied to most amphipod species. Acute 10-d exposures of Leptocheirus plumulosus to estuarine sediments exhibited sensitivity comparable to, or higher than, tests with juvenile *Hyalella* azteca, an amphipod used widely in freshwater sediment toxicology (McGee et al., 1993).

Hyalella azteca is suitable as a test organism for estuarine sediments in which the salinity may be too low for Rhepoxynius to survive (Nebeker & Miller, 1988). Although bioassays with the estuarine amphipods Eohaustorius estuarius, Corophium volutator and Leptocheirus plumulosus, the copepod Nitocra spinipes, as well as the bivalves Mya arenaria and Crossastrea gigas, are meanwhile established for analyses of estuarine sediments (Table 3; see also Crane et al., 1993), H. azteca offers the additional advantages of having a long tradition as a test organism, which generated a large data base of its responses to various toxic compounds, as well as the possibility of assessing the toxicity of river systems from upstream sites down the river and through the estuary with the same test species (Nebeker & Miller, 1988). H. azteca is the amphipod most sensitive to cadmium in 4 d water-only esposures, followed by Leptocheirus plumulosus, Ampelisca abdita, Rhepoxynius hudsoni, R. abronius, Lepidactylus dytiscus and Eohaustorius estuarius in decreasing order of sensitivity (Schlekat et al., 1992). In this comparison there is a 40-fold difference in the LC50 value between the most and the least sensitive species.

Decapod crustaceans are represented in marine bioassays principally by *Palaemonetes pugio*, the grass shrimp. A review of toxicity testing with this species, its biology and test methodology is found in Buikema et al. (1980c). Among other species, the ridgeback prawn *Sicyonia ingentis*, is recommended by the US EPA/US ACE (1991) for whole sediment testing because of its size, which makes it suitable for bioaccumulation analyses. Shuba et al. (1978) included copepods, shrimps, amphipods and isopods in a toxicological analysis of dredged material. Larvae are generally the life stage of preference for they have been found to be up to 500 times more sensitive than adults (Franklin, 1983).

Long et al. (1990) evaluated in a comparative test five marine bioassays (amphipods *Rhepoxynius abronius, Ampelisca abdita,* bivalves *Mytilus edulis,* echinoderms*Strongylocentrotus purpuratus* and polychaetes *Dinophilus gyrociliatus*) including whole sediment, elutriate and pore-water exposures. The *Rhepoxynius* survival bioassay was very sensitive and, overall, had a high concordance with the *Mytilus* test. In the *Rhepoxynius* test, however, survival was largely dependent on sedimentological variables. These variables had little influence on the survival endpoint of Ampelisca abdita, which emerged as having less sensitivity but higher analytical precision for toxicants than the Rhepoxynius test. In another comparative study, Corophium volutator emerged as the most sensitive organism over Bathyporeia sarsi and R. abronius (van den Hurk et al., 1992). Other comparisons between various bioassays can be made from data in Chapman et al. (1987; see also Hong & Reish, 1987).

Marine oligochaeta

Enchytraeid oligochaetes have been recommended as indicators of marine pollution (Coates & Ellis, 1980). Most bioassays with marine oligochaetes use respiration rate as the endpoint of the test (Table 3). These assays require a sediment extract as test phase and should be complemented with a mortality assay in whole sediment (Chapman et al., 1982a, b, c). No bioassay with marine oligochaetes to test chronic exposures has become thus far established. In contrast, toxicity bioassays with freshwater oligochaetes are by and large based on mortality, growth, reproduction and behavioural responses, which can be quantified in whole sediment samples after both acute and chronic exposures.

Marine polychaeta

Polychaetes constitute over 40% of both number of species and specimens in the subtidal soft-bottom benthos, regardless of depth or latitude. Their ease of handling, short life history and amenable size makes them suitable organisms for marine bioassays. The materials and methods required for short- and long-term toxicity tests with Nereis arenaceodentata, Capitella capitata and Ctenodrilus serratus are described by Reish (1980), along with a brief review of the role of polychaetes in toxicity studies (see also Lamberson et al., 1992). These annelids form part of the standardized sediment bioassays used in the assessment of estuarine toxicity (Table 3). A pore-water/elutriate bioassay with Dinophilus gyrociliatus (e.g. Carr et al., 1989) complements the range of whole-sediment tests with polychaetes. The small size of D. gyrociliatus, however, makes it difficult to recover from the sediment sample at the end of the experiments. The intermediate performance of this survival and egg production bioassay among assays with other organisms is described by Long et al. (1990).

Nereis (Neanthes) arenaceodentata is widely distributed in shallow marine and estuarine benthos of Europe, North America and the Pacific (references in Dillon et al., 1993). The bioassays with this species include a sublethal, chronic exposure test of 28 d, in which growth of juveniles is recorded (see also US EPA, 1990; Pesch et al., 1991). The validity of this chronic test was confirmed by a positive correlation between juvenile (somatic) growth and subsequent reproduction (Moore & Dillon, 1993). In order to eliminate the confounding effect of gametic growth in this bioassay, Moore & Dillon (1993) recommend to limit the measurements of growth to the first 6 weeks post-emergence of the juveniles. Nereis sp. and Hediste (Nereis) sp. are the polychaetes recommended for whole-sediment toxicity testing by the US EPA/US ACE (1991). The relative sensitivity of polychaetes to pollution is little known. Nereis virens is considerably more resistant to organochlorine compounds than the decapod Crangon septemspinosa (McLeese et al., 1982). Bioassays with other polychaete species are discussed by Reish & Lemay (1988).

Marine nematoda

Nematodes are the most abundant and species richest organism group among the metazoans of marine sediments (Heip et al., 1985). Two marine nematode bioassays have been thus far developed (Table 3). These can be used to analyse both marine and estuarine sediments (Tietjen & Lee, 1984).

Marine mollusca

The role of molluses as test organisms in marine toxicology was reviewed by Calabrese (1984). The review describes standard techniques employed in such work and presents examples of the results of toxicity tests. Although many species have been used for toxicity analyses, the most intensive testing has focused on only a few. These are the American oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*), the Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*), the blue mussel (*Mytilus edulis*), and the hard clam (*Mercenaria mercenaria*). Methodologies for embryo bioassays with marine bivalves are described in ASTM (1989). Bivalves have been used to investigate the toxicity of sediment particles in suspension (e.g. Tsai et al., 1979).

Bivalves are in general highly sensitive organisms to aquatic pollution. In a comparison of five marine sediment bioassays the embryo development test with *Mytilus edulis* was the most sensitive and had the highest discriminatory power and precision of those compared (Long et al., 1990). The *Mytilus* test may be a sensitive indicator of the toxicity of chemicals not routinely quantified in chemical analyses, but it may also respond sensitively to 'nuisance variables' (Long et al., 1990; see also Williams L.G. et al., 1986, and Becker et al., 1990). Although the whole-sediment acute test with juveniles of *Mulinia lateralis* is similar in sensitivity to equivalent bioassays with amphipods (*Ampelisca abdita* and *Eohaustorius estuarius*), utilization of the *M. lateralis* sublethal growth endpoint greatly increases test sensitivity (Burgess & Morrison, 1994).

Ventilation rate and faecal production of the deposit feeding clam *Macoma nasuta* (Specht & Lee, 1989) could be potentially developed into bioassay endpoints to assess sediment toxicity (c.f. *Abra alba*, Strømgren et al., 1993). The feeding mode of this infaunal species makes it more suitable for analyses of sediment toxicity than bivalves which feed on phytoplankton from the overlying water, and which are generally best suited for water quality monitoring (e.g. Nelson, 1990).

Echinodermata

Echinoderms have been used to evaluate toxicity of sediments in solid and aqueous phases (Table 3; overview in Dinnel et al., 1988). The latter phase has been tested with embryos and gametes, representing planktonic life-stages. Meador et al. (1990) indicated that the Dendraster embryo elutriate assay is appropriate for assessment of organic chemicals but not of metal contaminants associated with sediment. The relative sensitivity of echinoderm bioassays was evaluated by Nacci et al. (1986), Dinnel et al. (1987) and Dinnel & Stober (1987). The echinoderm tests show similar sensitivity to a variety of toxicants when compared to fish, crab zooea and $Microtox^R$ assays of contaminated water. The fertility bioassays with Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis and Dendraster excentricus are similarly sensitive to two reference toxicants, suggesting that between species variation in sperm sensitivity is low within the echinoderms (Dinnel et al., 1982). The sperm fertility bioassay is of roughly equal sensitivity as the embryo development test with the same species (Dinnel et al., 1982). The short duration of the echinoderm fertility bioassay makes it particularly suitable for toxicity tests of chemicals which change form or degrade rapidly after introduction into the seawater or in the test containers. When evaluated against sediment bioassays with other macroinvertebrates, most endpoints of the Strongylocentrotus purpuratus echinoderm tests appear to be intermediate in sensitivity, precision and discriminatory power (Long et al., 1990). The results of this pore-water assay correlate highly with polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) concentrations in whole sediment (Long et al., 1990). The *Dendraster excentricus* embryo abnormality test emerged as the most sensitive bioassay, when compared with crustacean and polychaete bioassays exposed to contaminated natural sediments (Pastorok & Becker, 1990). The chronic *D. exenctricus* growth bioassay (Casillas et al., 1992) stands out among echinoderm tests for it has been applied to whole sediments. Meanwhile, echinoderm bioassays have been even applied to freshwater sediments (Pagano et al., 1993).

Benthic community analyses

Benthic community is a popular level of analysis of environmental impact of pollution. It represents the integrated toxicity conditions over a period of time, in contrast to lower levels of analyses (e.g. single species assays) which reflect the condition of organisms just at the time of sampling. In addition, the community level is more amenable to rapid scrutiny than the higher ecosystem level. Also, it is natural communities the reason of concern in most contaminated areas. The impact of sediment toxicity on these communities cannot be extrapolated with certainty from toxicological studies of single-species (e.g. Kimball & Levin, 1985), and, therefore, direct analysis of function and structure of benthic assemblages is argueably the more scientifically and ecologically relevant approach (Warwick, 1993). Schindler (1987) reviews the role of benthic community analyses in sediment toxicology. Specific reference to benthic communities in freshwater is made in reviews by Davis & Lathrop (1992) and La Point & Fairchild (1992), and to marine benthic assemblages in Diaz (1992). Information on types of (marine) mesocosms and their applications is found in Grice & Reeve (1982). Cairns et al. (1992) review studies with benthic microbial communities. Community analyses are often used to monitor environmental health.

Macrobenthic invertebrates are, with few exceptions, probably the best community for field studies in areas of concern, when compared with fish or periphyton assemblages (La Point & Fairchild, 1992). Advantages of macroinvertebrates include their ease of collection, by-and-large sedentary habits and lifespans (up to a year or more for many species) long enough to determine time-weighted chronic effects, but short enough to observe community structure changes within a reasonable period of seasons or years (White, 1988). The method often uses intact sites as reference communities, but absolute measures of community degradation can be equally useful in the absence of such references (e.g. Warwick, 1993). Multiple samples must be collected throughout the seasons in order to adequately characterize community structure (Winner et al., 1980). ARGE (1991) uses the superficial benthic community, i.e. the abundance and biomass of species combined in a 'zoobenthic index', to monitor the water quality of the river Elbe.

The development of estuarine benthic communities has been used in the laboratory to assess the impact of substances dissolved in a flow-through system with seawater (Hansen & Tagatz, 1980). This system could be adapted to test the impact of contaminated sediments on colonization patterns. Additional, promising endpoints in this approach are species richness and standing crop (Pratt & Bowers, 1992), as well as measures of community similarity (Smith et al., 1990). Some community level endpoints have been used in ecotoxicology within the species assemblage of nematodes in areas of concern: Bongers (1990) used the ratio of r- to k-strategists in freshwater and marine benthos to estimate the impact of pollution (see also Bongers & van de Haar, 1990). Cantelmo & Rao (1979) focused on the numerical relationship between nematode species belonging to different feeding types in sediment samples spiked with pentachlorphenol. Other examples of community level assays are the Gammarus to Asellus ratio (Whitehurst, 1991) in whole sediments under laboratory conditions and the ratio of nematodes to copepods in situ (Rafaelli & Mason, 1981; Warwick, 1981; but see Coull et al., 1981).

Benthic community responses to industrial discharges in rivers have been found to agree well with the results of an aquatic toxicity bioassay with the nektonic *Ceriodaphnia dubia* (Eagleson et al., 1990). Similarly, a reduction in benthic macroinvertebrate abundance, diversity, biomass and number of taxa at copper contaminated sites demonstrated the ecological relevance of toxicity bioassays with *Daphnia* and *Hexagenia* conducted at these sites (Malueg et al., 1984a, b). The recent development of large artificial streams offers opportunities to manipulate benthic communities, a useful step towards the validation of the results of single-species, micro- and mesocosm toxicity tests (Swift et al., 1993).

The evaluation of riffle/run macroinvertebrate communities in lotic freshwater systems has been used to assess the health of benthic ecosystems following a standardized methodology (Ohio EPA, 1987; see also Winner et al., 1980; Barbour et al., 1992; Ließ, 1993). An advantage of lotic systems, is that reference communities are usually available above the discharge site. Conversely, in lentic systems a potential gradient may not be as easily identified, thus making the comparison with control sites more problematic (La Point & Fairchild, 1992). Other applications of the community analysis approach are described by Johnson & Wiederholm (1989), Reynoldson & Zarull (1989) and Becker et al. (1990).

Analyses of benthic community responses to contaminants have generated lists of indicator macroinvertebrates and pollution indeces based on species composition (reviews in Pearson & Rosenberg, 1978, and in Hellawell, 1986 p. 423 ff. and appendices therein). These can be used for preliminary diagnoses or to monitor sediment toxicity (see Gray & Pearson, 1982). In freshwater, for example, certain chironomid species are commonly found to prevail in the vicinity of toxic dischargers, whereas ephemeropterans, plecopterans and trichopterans are typically absent (Winner et al., 1980; Sheehan, 1980; Malueg et al., 1984a, b; Schloesser, 1988; Plafkin et al., 1989; Eagleson et al., 1990; see also Hellawell, 1986). The assemblage characteristic of contaminated regions of a marine inlet of the North American Pacific coast is an overabundance of the polychaete Tharyx multifilis and the mollusc Axinopsida serricata along with a notorious scarcity of amphipods (Becker et al., 1990; see also Swartz et al., 1986). Luoma & Carter (1991) reviewed the toxicity of trace metals to aquatic benthos. They concluded that the effect of trace metals on higher levels of organization, i.e. population and communities, is little understood and is unlikely to be elucidated by a simplistic approach which, as yet, ignores important complexities of the system (also Luoma & Carter, 1993).

Experiments have shown that aquatic community variables, such as e.g. abundance, can be more sensitive to toxicity than mono-species tests (Lampert et al., 1989). Standardized multi-species aquatic toxicity tests have been meanwhile developed which exploit this sensitivity (Taub, 1989; Taub et al., 1989). An overview of multi-species tests for aquatic toxicity, but which involve sediments, is found in Ahlf (1994, Table 3.12 therein). This approach has a great ecological relevance in that it allows extrapolations about the effect of pollution to the ecosystem. Despite of standardization of microcosm protocols (Taub, 1989) and of various applications of micro- and mesocosms to the assessment of terrestrial (e.g. Mothes-Wagner et al., 1992) and aquatic toxicity (e.g. Giesy, 1980; Cairns, 1985; Livingston, 1988; Maund et al., 1992; Merlin et al., 1992), no multi-species communities have thus far been used in a standardized bioassay for sediment quality assessments (but see Alden & Butt, 1988).

The use of benthic communities in sediment toxicology has been criticized on several grounds. (1) The results of toxicity analyses using community variables in situ are often insufficient, for they can fail to discriminate between changes in community composition due to chemical toxicants, water quality fluctuations (e.g. dissolved oxygen, temperature, pH, salinity), changes in organic content, differences in physical variables (e.g. sediment features, water depth) and in biotic interactions, such as competition and predation (e.g. Schlekat et al., 1992). (2) The results are usually site and season specific. (3) Determination of an endpoint for community responses to toxicity is problematic (Luoma & Carter, 1993). (4) The complexity of these systems and the costly data evaluation greatly limits the number of replicates. Despite of these drawbacks, recent developments in the field of microbial microcosms suggest that this methodology can potentially become an integral part of sediment test batteries (e.g. Cairns & Pratt, 1987; Henebry & Ross, 1989; Cairns & McCormick, 1991; Cairns et al., 1992). Similarly, analyses of absolute measures of benthic community stress in situ have been recently simplified to a degree that makes them amenable for incorporation into tiered strategies for a rapid and cost-efficient evaluation of sediment toxicity (Warwick, 1993). In general, therefore, toxicological analyses of benthic communities are presently useful only in combination with other test methodologies, such as single-species bioassays and chemical analyses of the sediment (La Point & Fairchild, 1992).

Combined bioassays, test-batteries and the step-wise approach

The various strengths and weaknesses of the presently available bioassays, as well as their selective sensitivity to certain toxicity variables, dictate a combination of several tests for an adequate assessment of sediment quality (Cairns, 1983a). While some of the proposed test-batteries are limited to microorganisms (e.g. Ross & Henebry, 1989; Ahlf et al., 1991), in others the meio- and macrobenthic species play a central role (e.g. Reynoldson & Day, 1993) or complement other mono- species bioassays with microbes, nektonic invertebrates and vertebrates (e.g. LeBlanc & Surprenant, 1985; Dutka & Kwan, 1988; Giesy & Hoke, 1989, 1990; Krantzberg & Pope, 1989; Munawar et al., 1989; Baudo et al., 1990 p.330; Elder, 1990; Kwan et al., 1990; Dutka et al., 1990, 1991; Hoke et al., 1993; Ahlf 1994). Often, the rationale in the design of test batteries or multispecies assemblages for sediment analysis is to use a hierarchical approach covering the cellular, species, population and community level with a wide discriminatory and sensitivity range. Benthic metazoans in such tests are typically *Chironomus* sp., *Hexagenia limbata, Hyalella azteca* and/or *Tubifex tubifex*.

The cladoceran Daphnia is a highly sensitive organism used for sediment tests, especially to metals. Hyalella and Chironomus, which are very amenable in the laboratory, are highly sensitive to organic toxicants in whole sediment and would, therefore, complement adequately the Daphnia results for soluble compounds. Nebeker et al. (1984) describe combined bioassays with Daphnia and benthic metazoans to test short and long term exposure to toxicants. A Daphnia, 48 h whole sediment or elutriate test is recommended as a fast and inexpensive initial screening procedure for acute toxicity of sediments, before resorting to further testing with benthic species. Short term exposures can also be tested in mixed species beakers with whole sediment and overlying water using the amphipods Hyalella, or Gammarus, the burrowing mayfly nymph Hexagenia and the midge Chironomus, as well as in a combined test with Daphnia and Hexagenia. Long exposures use Hyalella life cycle data and Chironomus larval growth, survival and adult emergence as endpoints. The toxic response shown by an organism in a multi-species exposure is likely to differ from its equivalent response in a mono-species bioassay because the presence of other organisms can affect the bioavailability of toxicants in complex ways (Malueg et al., 1983; Keilty et al., 1988b). Giesy & Hoke (1989) recommend a battery of screening tests, which includes $Microtox^R$, Chironomus tentans growth, Daphnia magna mortality and an algal assay (e.g. Munawar & Munawar, 1987).

One of the most commonly used multispecies bioassays was originally developed for freshwater sediments by Prater & Anderson (1977a, b) and later modified by other investigators (e.g. LeBlanc & Surprenant, 1985). It consists of burrowing or epibenthic organisms placed in the test sediment, while water column dwellers (*Daphnia magna* or the fish *Pimephales promelas*) are simultaneously exposed to the circulating overlying water. *Daphnia* are kept in suspended cages, avoiding direct contact with the sediment. Benthic species typically used in this test are the insect larvae of *Hexagenia* or *Chironomus*, the amphipods *Hyalella* or *Gammarus*, or the isopod *Asellus*. The effect of the burrowing activity of *Hexagenia* on *Daphnia* survival in this apparatus was investigated by Malueg et al. (1983). The combination of both species was found to be a more sensitive test than the assay with *Daphnia* alone. Swartz et al. (1979) proposed a multispecies bioassay for marine sediments consisting of pelecypods, polychaetes, amphipods and cumaceans. Some investigators use combinations of benthic microbes for sediment analyses (e.g. Cairns et al., 1985).

Simultaneous testing with mono-species bioassays and tests at higher levels of organization, i.e. multispecies, multi-trophic, community and ecosystem level, have been also advocated as a way to overcome the interpretative limitations of single-species assessments of toxicity (e.g. Maciorowski & Clarke, 1980; Cairns, 1983b, 1988b; Kimball & Levin, 1985). Test batteries for aquatic systems should combine representative species from various trophic levels, e.g. microbes, algae and invertebrates, to ensure a broad coverage of toxicity (Burton, 1989).

The contributory role of benthic metazoans in assessments of sediment toxicity is best illustrated by test procedures which integrate various techniques. The sediment-quality-triad approach, which incorporates chemical and ecological measures into biological test-batteries, can, for example, combine (1) chemical analyses, (2) toxicity tests, e.g. effect on Daphnia reproduction, and (3) an assessement of biological effects in situ (benthic community health), e.g. incidence of malformations in Chironomus and its population density (Chapman, 1990, 1992; Chapman et al., 1992; van de Guchte, 1993). These three components were originally combined by Malueg (1984a, b) to investigate the toxicity of freshwater sediments contaminated with copper. The sediment- quality-triad was further developed and tested in marine ecosystems (Long & Chapman, 1985; Chapman, 1986b; Chapman et al., 1987). This approach thus combines the potential cause (chemistry) with the effect (biology) of degradation resulting from sediment pollution. A more comprehensive, integrated assessment of sediment toxicity has been recently done in the Great Lakes (Ankley et al., 1992). It included (1) analysis of benthic community structure, (2) determination of bulk sediment and pore water toxicity to microbial, invertebrate and vertebrate species, (3) identification of specific sediment toxicants, (4) evaluation of the presence of carcinogenic and/or mutagenic compounds in the sediments via microbial and fish assays, (5) determination of possible toxic and/or teratogenic effects of sediment contamination on avian populations, and (6) risk assessement for several contaminants of specific concern in the sediments and associated biota.

In a step-wise approach developed to assess sediment quality various test procedures are applied in sequence, depending on the results of the previous step (Reynoldson & Zarull, 1989; Chapman et al., 1992; US EPA, 1992; Ahlf, 1994). In contrast to test-batteries in which all tests are run simultaneously, this approach emphasises flexibility in test design and uses a sensible ranking of diagnostic methods, thereby optimizing the economic aspect of sediment assessments. The effects of toxicants on benthic metazoans, in addition to physical and chemical variables, are an essential component of stepwise-assessments of sediment quality.

A useful strategy for the use and choice of bioassays with benthic metazoa is well illustrated in the following studies. Williams et al. (1986) compared three bioassays commonly used in marine sediment toxicology. These are the bioluminiscence of the bacteria Photobacterium fisherii (Microtox^R) in sediment extracts, oyster embryo abnormalities (Crassostrea gigas) in sediment slurries and mortality of the amphipod Rhepoxynius abronius in whole sediments. These three bioassays, along with a characterisation of in situ community structure, compose a test-battery used to examine sediment toxicity in Puget Sound, USA (Pacific). There was a high overall level of agreement between these tests, based on rank-order comparisons. At some sites, however, there were clear discrepancies in the responses of the three bioassays, probably due to differences in sensitivity to the kinds of contaminants in the various samples and/or to the duration and medium of exposure. In that comparison, the oyster embryo test was the least and Microtox^R the most sensitive of the three. The same three bioassays were compared with respect to their ability to predict alterations in benthic assemblages due to chemical toxicity (Becker et al., 1990). This comparison was made to examine the ecological relevance and hence validity of sediment bioassays performed in the laboratory. Although all three bioassays were reasonably successful in predicting the presence or absence of moderately to severely altered assemblages, the tests differed markedly in their ability to identify only the altered assemblages. The Microtox^Rbioassay was the most sensitive: it successfully identified the highest percentage of altered assemblages, but it also reacted positively to nearly half of the sites considered as unaltered. The oyster embryo test was intermediate in sensitivity, whereas the amphipod bioassay, the least sensitive of the three, identified only half as many altered assemblages as Microtox^R. Effectiveness to detect only altered assemblages was highest for the oyster embryo test and considerably lower for both Microtox^R and *Rhepoxynius*. Most false predictions of the amphipod bioassay were seemingly due to the occurrence of much fine-grained material in the sediment at those sites, a condition which is known to increase the mortality of *Rhepoxynius* in the absence of toxicants (DeWitt et al., 1988). When this factor was taken into account, the *Rhepoxynius* bioassay was as effective as the oyster embryo test.

These results emphasize the importance of combining tests into a tiered battery and of integrating various approaches, such as chemical analyses and evaluation of in situ community structure, to assess sediment toxicity. Such a strategy allows validation (Long & Chapman, 1985; Cairns, 1988c) and calibration of methodologies. It can also potentially simplify subsequent monitoring in the area of concern by reducing the sediment assessment to a small battery of monospecies bioassays. Becker et al. (1990) recommend the most sensitive test (here $Microtox^R$) to be used as a screening tool. Subsequently, the most effective test (here the oyster embryo bioassay) should be applied to the subset of sites diagnosed initially as potentially impacted. The second tier, therefore, would identify those sampling stations with the highest priority for remedial action. In the above case, consequently, the Rhepoxynius bioassay could be eliminated from the test battery. Microtox^R has been also recommended for freshwater sediment analyses as a screening tool to be used in combination with macroinvertebrate bioassays (e.g. Giesy et al., 1988). Inclusion of macroinvertebrates is justified not only to increase the ecological relevance of the test, but also because $Microtox^R$ is less sensitive to certain toxic compounds than macroinvertebrates (references in Giesy et al., 1988). The greater sensitivity and discriminatory power of test-batteries over single bioassays has been demonstrated quantitatively for marine and freshwater sediment tests (Becker et al., 1990; Giesy et al., 1988).

Although rankings of sensitivity are sometimes used to determine the composition of bioassay test batteries, as well as the order of exposure of the different test organisms, a cautionary note results from evidence suggesting that sensitivity is a highly complex and situation specific variable (e.g. Williams L.G. et al., 1986; Giesy et al., 1988; Long et al., 1990; Schlekat et al., 1990; West et al., 1993). West et al. (1993) compared the sensitivity of some test organisms to sediments contaminated with copper in a 10 d survival (LC50) assay with a flow-through, water renewal system. Culture methods -described in detail by West et al. (1993) were based on Nelson et al. (1991) for H. azteca and C. tentans, and on Phipps et al. (1993) for L. variegatus. Hyalella azteca was more sensitive to copper than Chironomus tentans and Lumbriculus variegatus. However, C. tentans survival was affected at one site at which the other two species were not affected. Thus, protection strategies based on the use of only the most sensitive species may be underprotective for (apparently) less sensitive organisms (West et al., 1993). Survival of L. variegatus was not affected by exposure to contaminated sediments but its reproduction was. The results contrast greatly with the relative sensitivities shown by these species when tested in water-only copper exposures or in exposures to natural sediment (Dermott & Munawar, 1992).

Bioaccumulation of toxicants

Biotransformation, bioaccumulation and bioconcentration of toxicants in benthic organisms, e.g. in bivalve molluscs (Alden & Butt, 1988; Bauer et al., 1989; Berthet et al., 1992; Strømgren et al., 1993; ASTM 1994b), is one way of documenting bioavailable contamination of aquatic systems. Studies with benthic metazoa which have measured bioaccumulation in contaminated sediments are indicated by a footnote in Tables 2 and 3. The uptake and accumulation of some sediment contaminants by oligochaetes has been well documented (e.g. Mac et al., 1984; Oliver, 1984). Data on bioaccumulation, however, do not allow a direct inference about the quality of sediments as such because (1) the relationship between bioaccumulation and toxicity is not simple (Berthet et al., 1992) and (2) because the source of contamination in the case of bivalves is typically the overlying water or phytoplanktonic food.

Measures of bioaccumulation, however, could be specifically adapted to assess sediment quality by calibrating bioaccumulation with toxic effects and by choosing organisms from deep sediment layers, such as e.g. certain nematodes or oligochaetes, which have a reduced relative exposure to overlying water. Finding a suitable benthic species for such a test may not be simple, however. In choosing an organism for a bioaccu-

mulation bioassay for freshwater sediments, Mac et al. (1984) rejected several benthic invertebrates because of size limitations (e.g. Chironomus) or intolerance to certain sediment types (e.g. Hexagenia). The species finally recommended for that bioassay were the fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas) and the earthworm (Lumbriculus terrestris). In a combined bioassay using Daphnia and benthic organisms, Nebeker et al. (1984) recommend Gammarus and Hexagenia when toxicity and bioaccumulation are of interest, for they yield greater biomass for tissue analyses than Chironomus or Hyalella. Nebeker et al. (1984) describe bioaccumulation tests for these organisms. The amphipod Diporeia has been used in bioaccumulation studies of sediment associated organic toxicants in the Great Lakes (e.g. Landrum, 1989; Landrum et al., 1992).

Nalepa & Landrum (1988) reviewed the bioaccumulation of organic contaminants and heavy metals in macrobenthic freshwater organisms (for gammaridean amphipods see Reish, 1993). Adequate data of contaminant uptake rate, depuration rate, biotransformation rate and their toxicity are a prerequisite to develop sediment diagnosis charts based on bioaccumulation. Such data, unfortunately, are still missing for many benthic species and toxic compounds. Nevertheless, a body of knowledge about benthic bioaccumulation is growing from studies on oligochaetes (see review in Nalepa & Landrum, 1988; Keilty et al., 1988b, c). Oligochaetes have already been recommended as monitoring tools for metal pollution of aquatic systems (e.g. Chapman et al., 1979; Chapman et al., 1985). This group is, therefore, a good candidate for the development of guidelines for sediment toxicity assessment based on bioaccumulation. Such a procedure could become incorporated into test strategies as an additional source of information on the quality of sediments. Advantageous starting points in this endeavour are, firstly, that bioassays and standardised procedures for measuring bioaccumulation of toxic substances from sediments have been already developed (Mac et al., 1984; US EPA, 1994b) and, secondly, that considerable progress has been recently made in the theory underlying patterns of bioaccumulation of sediment-associated pollutants (Lee, 1992).

Future perspectives

The usefulness of bioassays to assess and/or predict toxicity in sediments is indisputable, but the basis for an interpretation of bioassay results is still weak (Luoma & Carter, 1993). One important future avenue in sediment ecotoxicology is the study of mechanisms that control toxicity under field conditions, because a better understanding of these processes would reduce many of the uncertainties currently associated with results of bioassay and benthic community analyses. In addition, sediment ecotoxicology could benefit from progress in the use of biomarkers, mutagenic responses, and energetic measures of organism health, as well as from the development of bioassays with additional test species.

Biomarkers are defined as biochemical, physiological or pathological responses of single organisms with information about exposure to toxicants and/or sublethal consequences resulting from such exposure (Benson & Di Giulio, 1992). Most biomarkers have been so far identified in phytoplankton (e.g. Berglund & Eversman, 1988), benthic fishes (e.g. McMahon et al., 1988; Huggett et al., 1992) and in some invertebrates upon exposures to single-contaminants (review in Giesy & Graney, 1989). This technique is promising for applications in meio- and macrobenthic organisms exposed to contaminated sediments. Giesy & Graney (1989) recommend the use of endpoints reflecting effects on bioenergetics and of the RNA/DNA ratio as a measure of growth. They conclude, however, that biochemical effects following acute exposures are not yet sufficiently calibrated with chronic effects on survival, growth and reproduction to allow replacement of chronic studies. The biochemical measures may nevertheless contribute to our understanding of modes of action in the laboratory or may serve as early warning measures to determine probable causes of field toxicity (Giesy & Graney, 1989; Depledge, 1994).

No tests of marine sediment mutagenic or promutagenic toxicity is thus far widely established. At present, the best candidates for such a standardized test are the polychaete Neanthes arenaceodentata and echinoderm embryos, of which cytological and cytogenetic abnormalities have been already used as bioassay endpoints (Pesch et al., 1981; Hose, 1985; Long et al., 1990). The Strongylocentrotus purpuratus bioassay, for example, indicated mutagenicity in several sediment samples with high hydrocarbon concentrations (Long et al., 1990). Mutagenicity could become a useful endpoint to document the toxicity of some compounds which escape detection in tests of acute mortality (Long et al., 1990). A further potential development in the assessment of sediment toxicity can be the standardized application of stress protein bioassays with benthic organisms (see Bradley, 1990).

Scope for growth, an energetic measure of an organisms health, has been measured in various marine taxa (e.g. polychaeta: Johns et al., 1985) and in the freshwater amphipod Gammarus pulex as an indicator of environmental pollution (review in Maltby, 1992). The advantage of measuring scope for growth instead of growth and fecundity is that its components (i.e. energy intake and expenditure) can be measured over short time scales (hours/days). The G. pulex scopefor- growth bioassay has been used to test toxicity of effluents and of single contaminants in water (Naylor et al., 1989; Maltby et al., 1990 a, b), but rarely to analyse contaminated sediments (e.g. Roddie et al., 1992). The use of sophisticated equipment to measure scope for growth, has been meanwhile overcome by simplifying measures of energy intake and respiration to an estimate of feeding rate (Maltby, 1992; Roddie et al., 1992). This bioassay, which can be used in the laboratory and in situ, could be potentially developed into a standard bioassay to test the chronic toxicity of freshwater sediments.

Benfield & Buikema (1980) list miscellaneous aquatic invertebrates, which have been used in toxicity studies and for which standardized test protocols could be potentially developed for sediment toxicity analysis. The benthic metazoans mentioned therein are: (1) Gastropoda, Goniobasis livescens, Lymnaea emarginata, Nitrocris sp., Physa heterostropha, Physa integra; (2) Bivalvia: Mytilus planatus, Neotrigonia margaritacea, Elliptio sp., Plectomerus sp., Musculium sp., (3) Crustacea: Asellus brevicaudus, Orconectes nais, Palaemonetes kadiakensis; (4) Insecta: Callibaetis sp., Ephemerella cornuta, Limnephilus sp., Enallagma sp., Lestes congener, Libellula sp., Pteronarcys californicca; (5) Oligochaeta: Lumbricillus rivalis, Aelosoma headleyi; and (6) Turbellaria: Dugesia tigrina. In addition to species mentioned in Table 3, the US EPA/US ACE (1991) cites the following marine organisms as potential test species in whole sediment bioassays of dredged material: (1) Bivalvia: Tapes japonica, (2) Polychaeta: Glycera sp., Abarenicola sp., Nephthys sp., (3) Crustacea: Neomysis sp., Holmesimysis sp., Pandalus sp., Callinectes sapidus and Cancer sp.. Other potential test species for sediment ecotoxicology are listed in Table 4.

Although meanwhile a range of organisms have become established in routine sediment toxicity testing, the search for additional bioassay organisms is still a worthwhile endeavour. Despite the fact that aquatic pollution is a world-wide problem, development of sediment bioassays, with few exceptions, has been

thus far centred around North American and European faunas. A selective review of the distribution of 30 species contained in Tables 2 and 3, and for which ranges were indicated in publications cited therein, shows that there is an urgent need to develop more sediment bioassays with tropical and austral organisms. Meanwhile, sediment toxicity analyses in those regions can include cosmopolitans for which bioassay procedures are already well established (e.g. for freshwater sediments the oligochaetes Tubifex tubifex and Limnodrilus hoffmeisteri, and for marine sediments sea urchins (Dinnel et al., 1988) or the polychaetes Nereis arenaceodentata and Capitella capitata). The optimal organism for bioassays is the most sensitive. locally important species, but, as noted by Benfield & Buikema (1980) "...the most sensitive and locally important species is not known for most areas of the world, and thus the most convenient and well tested is generally selected. While the most convenient and well tested approach may optimize efficiency, it may retard progress toward achieving the optimum choice."

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Fritz Kohman and Christian Steinberg, who encouraged this review. The preparation of this report was funded by the Bundesanstalt für Gewässerkunde in Koblenz, FRG. The American Society for Testing Materials kindly provided several of their publications, thereby improving significantly our coverage of the literature. We are also thankful to Wolfgang Ahlf, who called our attention to some relevant publications and completed some of the information shown in the tables.

References

- Abel, P. D. & S. M. Garner, 1986. Comparisons of median survival times and median lethal exposure times for *Gammarus pulex* exposed to cadmium, permethrin, and cyanide. Wat. Res. 20: 579–582.
- Adams, W. J., R. A. Kimerle & R. G. Mosher, 1985. Aquatic safety assessment of chemicals sorbed to sediments. In R. D. Cardwell, R. Purdy & R. C. Bahner (eds), Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment, 7th Symposium, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 854: 429-453.
- Adams, W. J., R. A. Kimerle & J. W. Barnett, 1992. Sediment quality and aquatic life assessment. Envir. Sci. Technol. 26: 1864–1875.
- Ahlf, W., 1994. Biotests an Sedimenten und Böden. Habilitationsschrift, Technische Universität Hamburg-Harburg.
- Ahlf, W., 1995. Ökotoxikologische Sedimentbewertung. UWSF-Z. Umweltchem. Ökotox. 7: 84–91.

- Ahlf, W. & M. Munawar, 1988. Biological assessment of environmental impact of dredged material. In W. Salomons & U. Förstner (eds), Chemistry and Biology of solid waste, Springer Verlag: 127-142.
- Ahlf, W., M. Dahm, U. Förstner & S. Wild-Metzko, 1991. Biologisches Bewertungskonzept f
 ür Sedimente. Vom Wasser 76: 215– 223.
- Ahlf, W., W. L. Gunkel, H. Neumann-Hensel, K. Rönnpagel & U. Förstner, 1992. Mikrobielle Biotests mit Sedimenten. Schriftenreihe Wasser-, Boden-, und Lufthygiene 89: 427–435.
- Alden, R. W. & A. J. Butt, 1988. Toxicity testing of dredged materials using multiple-species microcosms. In J. J. Lichtenberg, F. A. Winter, C. I. Weber & L. Fradkin (eds), Chemical and biological characterization of sludges, sediments, dredge spoils and drilling muds, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 976: 418–437.
- Anderson, R. & P. Shubat, 1984. Toxicity of Flucythrinate to Gammarus lactustris (Amphipoda), Pteronarcys dorsata (Plecoptera) and Brachycentrus americanus (Trichoptera): importance of exposure duration. Envir. Pollut. 35: 353-365.
- Anderson, J., W. Birge, J. Gentile, J. Lake, J. Jr. Rodgers, & R. Swartz, 1984. Biological effects, bioaccumulation, and ecotoxicology of sediment-associated chemicals. In K. L. Dickson, A. W. Maki & W. A. Brungs (eds), Fate and effects of sediment bound chemicals in aquatic systems, Pergamon Press, New York: 267-296.
- Anderson, R. L., 1980. Chironomidae toxicity tests biological background and procedures. In A. L. Buikema & J. Jr. Cairns (eds), Aquatic invertebrate bioassays, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 715: 70–80.
- Anderson, R. L., C. T. Walbridge & J. T. Fiandt, 1980. Survival and growth of *Tanytarsus dissimilis* (Chironomidae) exposed to copper, cadmium, zinc and lead. Arch. Envir. Contamin. Toxicol. 9: 329-335.
- Ankley, G. T., A. Katko & J. W. Arthur, 1990. Identification of ammonia as an important sediment-associated toxicant in the lower Fox River and Green Bay, Wisconsin. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 9: 313-322.
- Ankley G. T., M. K. Schubauer-Berigan & J. R. Dierks, 1991. Predicting the toxicity of bulk sediments to aquatic organisms with aqueous test fractions: pore-water vs. elutriate. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 10: 1359–1366.
- Ankley, G. T., K. Lodge, D. J. Call, M. D. Balcer, L. T. Brooke, P. M. Cook, R. G. Jr. Kreis, A. R. Carlson, R. D. Johnson, G. J. Niemi, R. A. Hoke, C. W. West, J. P. Giesy, P. D. Jones & Z. C. Fuying, 1992. Integrated assessment of contaminated sediments in the Lower Fox River and Green Bay, Wisconsin. Ecotoxicol. and Envir. Safety 23: 46–63.
- ARGE Elbe-Arbeitsgemeinschaft für die Reinhaltung der Elbe der Länder Hamburg, Niedersachsen, Schleswig-Holstein, 1991. Das oberflächennahe Zoobenthos der Elbe als Indikator für die Gewässerqualität. Wassergütestelle Elbe.
- Arthur, J. W., 1980. Review of freshwater bioassay procedures for selected amphipods. In A. L. Buikema & J. Jr. Cairns (eds), Aquatic invertebrate bioassays, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 715: pp. 98–108.
- ASTM, 1989. Standard guide for conducting static acute toxicity tests starting with embryos of four species of saltwater bivalve molluscs. In Annual Book of ASTM Standards, Water and Environmental Technology, Vol. 11.04, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia.
- ASTM, 1991a. Standard guide for conducting static toxicity tests with Lemna gibba G3, Annual Book of Standards, Vol. 11.04,

E1415-91, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia.

- ASTM, 1991b. Standard guide for collection, storage, characterization, and manipulation of sediments for toxicological testing, ASTM Annual Book of Standards, Vol. 11.04, E1391-90, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia.
- ASTM, 1993a. Standard guide for conducting 10-day static sediment toxicity tests with marine and estuarine amphipods. ASTM Standard E 1367–92, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia.
- ASTM, 1993b. Standard guide for designing biological tests with sediments. Annual Book of Standards, Vol. 11.04, E1525–93, pp. 1–13, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia.
- ASTM, 1994a. Standard guide for conducting sediment toxicity tests with freshwater invertebrates, Annual Book of Standards, Vol. 11.04, E1383–94a, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia.
- ASTM, 1994b. Standard guide for conducting bioconcentration tests with fishes and saltwater bivalve mollusks, Annual Book of Standards, Vol. 11.04, E1022–94, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia.
- ASTM, 1995. Standard guide for conducting sediment toxicity tests with marine and estuarine polychaetous annelids, ASTM Standard E1611–94, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia.
- Bahnick, D. A., W. A. Swenson, T. P. Markee, D. J. Call, C. A. Anderson & R. T. Morris, 1980. Development of bioassay procedures for defining pollution of harbor sediments. Final report of U.S. EPA Proj. No. R804918–01, Cent. Lake Superior Envir. Stud., University of Wisconsin, Superior.
- Barbour, M. T., J. L. Plafkin, B. P. Bradley, C. G. Graves & R. W. Wisseman, 1992. Evaluation of EPA'S rapid bioassessment benthic metrics: metric redundancy and variability among reference stream sites. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 11: 437–449.
- Bargos, T., J. M. Mesanza, A. Basaguren & E. Orive, 1990. Assessing river water quality by means of multifactorial methods using macroinvertebrates. A comparative study of main water courses of Biscay. Wat. Res. 24: 1–10.
- Batac-Catalan, Z. & D. S. White, 1982. Creating and maintaining cultures of *Chironomus tentans* (Diptera: Chironomidae). Ent. News 93: 54-58.
- Baudo, R., 1987. Ecotoxicological testing with Daphnia. Mem. Ist. Ital. Idrobiol. 45: 461–482.
- Baudo, R., J. P. Giesy & H. Muntau, 1990. Sediments: Chemistry and toxicity of in-place pollutants. Lewis Publishers, Inc., Ann Arbor.
- Bauer, I., S. Weigelt & W. Ernst, 1989. Biotransformation of hexachlorobenzene in the blue mussel (*Mytilus edulis*). Chemosphere 19: 1701–1707.
- Bay, S. M., P. S. Oshida & K. D. Jenkins, 1983. A simple new bioassay based on echinochrome synthesis by larval sea urchins. Mar. Envir. Res. 8: 29–39.
- BBA/IVA, 1994. International toxicity ring-test on sedimentdwelling *Chironomus riparius*. Protocol for the toxicity ring-test of two pesticides to the sediment-dwelling larvae of *Chironomus riparius*.. BBA/IVA ad hoc Working Group on Sediment Toxicity Tests, Braunschweig.
- Becker, D. S., G. R. Bilyard & T. C. Ginn, 1990. Comparison between sediment bioassays and alterations of benthic macroinvertebrate assemblages at a marine superfund site: Commencement Bay, Washington. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 9: 669–685.
- Bedard, D., A. Hayton & D. Persaud, 1992. Ontario Ministry of the Environment: Laboratory Biological Testing Protocol., Ontario Ministry of the Environment, Toronto.

- Belian-Santini, D., 1980. Relationships between populations of amphipods and pollution. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 11: 224-227.
- Benfield, E. F. & A. L. Jr. Buikema, 1980. Synthesis of miscellaneous invertebrate toxicity tests. In A. L. Buikema & J. Cairns (eds), Aquatic invertebrate bioassays, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM 715: 174–187.
- Bengtsson, B.-E., 1978. Use of a harpacticoid copepod in toxicity tests. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 9: 238-241.
- Bengtsson, B.-E., 1981. The harpacticoid Nitocra spinipes (Crustacea) as a test organism in brackish water toxicological bioassays. INSERM 106: 421-430.
- Benson, W. H. & R. T. Di Giulio, 1992. Biomarkers in hazard assessments of contaminated sediments. In G. A. Jr. Burton (ed.) Sediment toxicity assessment, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton (Florida): 241-265.
- Berglund, D. L. & S. Eversman, 1988. Flow cytometric measurement of pollutant stress on algal cells. Cytometry 9: 150–155.
- Berthet, B., J. C. Amiard, C. Amiard-Triquet, M. Martoja & A. Y. Jeantet, 1992. Bioaccumulation, toxicity and physico-chemical speciation of silver in bivalve molluscs: ecotoxicological and health consequences. The Science of the Total Environment 125: 97–122.
- Birge, W. J., A. G. Black, A. G. Westerman & P. C. Francis, 1984. Toxicity of sediment-associated metals to freshwater organisms: biomonitoring procedures. In K. L. Dickson, A. W. Maki & W. A. Brungs (eds), Fate and effect of sediment-bound chemicals in aquatic systems, Pergamon Press, New York: 269–283.
- Boese, B. L., H. Lee, D. T. Specht, R. C. Randall, & M. H. Winsor, 1990. Comparison of aqueous and solid-phase uptake for hexachlorobenzene in the tellinid clam *Macoma nasuta* (Conrad): A mass balance approach. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 9: 221–231.
- Bongers, T., 1990. The maturity index: an ecological measure of environmental disturbance based on nematode species composition. Oecologia 83: 14–19.
- Bongers, T.& J. van De Haar, 1990. On the potential of basing an ecological typology of aquatic sediments on the nematode fauna: An example from the River Rhine. Hydrobiol. Bull. 24: 37–45.
- Borgmann, U. & M. Munawar, 1989. A new standardized sediment bioassay protocol using the amphipod *Hyalella azteca* (Saussure). In M. Munawar, G. Dixon, C. I. Mayfield, T. Reynoldson & M. H. Sadar (eds), Environmental bioassay techniques and their application, Hydrobiologia 188/189: 425–431.
- Borgmann, U., K. M. Ralph & W. P. Norwood, 1989. Toxicity test procedures for Hyalella azteca and chronic toxicity of cadmium and pentachlorophenol to H. azteca, Gammarus fasciatus and Daphnia magna. Arch. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 18: 756–764.
- Borlakoglu, J. T. & R. Kickuth, 1990. Behavioral changes in Gammarus pulex and its significance in the toxicity assessment of very low levels of environmental pollutants. Bull. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 45: 258–265.
- Bowmer, C. T., 1993. Method for the assessment of acute toxicity of contaminated sediment using the burrowing sea urchin *Echinocardium cordatum*. Test guideline for PARCOM sediment reworker ring test, TNO-IMW, Delft, The Netherlands.
- Bradley, B. P., 1990. Stress proteins: their detection and uses in biomonitoring. In W. G. Landis & W. H. van der Schalie (eds), Aquatic toxicology and risk assessment, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, Vol. 13. ASTM STP 1096: 338-347.
- Breteler, R. J., K. J. Scott & S. P. Shepherd, 1989. Application of a new sediment toxicity test using a marine amphipod *Ampelisca abdita* to San Francisco Bay sediments. In American Society for Testing and Materials (ed.), Aquatic toxicology and hazard

assessment, 12th Symposium, ASTM STP 1027, Philadelphia: 307-314.

- Brinkhurst, R. O., P. M. Chapman & M. A. Farrell, 1983. A comparative study of respiration rates of some aquatic oligochaetes in relation to sublethal stress. Int. Rev. ges. Hydrobiol. 68: 683–699.
- Brown, B. E., 1976. Observations on the tolerance of the isopod Asellus meridianus RAC to copper and lead. Wat. Res. 10: 555– 559.
- Bryan, G. W., 1979. Some aspects of heavy metal tolerance in aquatic animals. In A. P. M. Lockwood (ed.), Effects of pollutants on aquatic organisms, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge: 6– 34.
- Buikema, A. L. & J. Cairns, 1980. Aquatic invertebrate bioassays. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 715, 209 pp.
- Buikema, A. L. Jr., J. G. Geiger & D. R. Lee, 1980a. Daphnia toxicity tests. In A. L. Buikema & J. Cairns (eds), Aquatic invertebrate bioassays, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 715: 48–69.
- Buikema, A. L. Jr., C. L. Rutherford & J. Jr. Cairns, 1980b. Screening sediments for potential toxicity by in vitro enzyme inhibition. In R. A. Baker (ed.), Contaminant and sediments Vol. 1, Ann Arbor Sci. Publ., Ann Arbor, MI: 463–476.
- Buikema, A. L. Jr., B. R. Niederlehner & J. Jr. Cairns, 1980c. Use of grass shrimp in toxicity tests. In A. L. Buikema & J. Jr. Cairns (eds), Aquatic invertebrate bioassays, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM 715: 155–173.
- Buikema, A. L. Jr., B. R. Niederlehner & J. Jr. Cairns, 1982. Biological monitoring Part IV – Toxicity testing. Wat. Res. 16: 239–262.
- Bulich, A. A., 1983. A practical and reliable method for monitoring the toxicity of aqueous samples. Proc. Biochem. 17: 45–47.
- Bulich, A. A., 1984. Microtox A bacterial toxicity test with several environmental implications. In D. Liu & B. J. Dutka (eds), Toxicity Screening Procedures unsing bacterial systems, Marcel Dekker, New York: 55-64.
- Burgess, R. M., K. A. Schweitzer, R. A. McKinney & D. K. Phelps, 1993. Contaminated marine sediments: water column and interstitial toxic effects. Envir. Tox. Chem. 12: 127–138.
- Burgess, R. M., B. A. Rogers, S. A. Rego, J. M. Corbin & G. E. Morrison, 1994. Sand spiked with copper as a reference toxicant material for sediment toxicity testing: a preliminary evaluation. Arch. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 26: 163–168.
- Burgess, R. M. & G. E. Morrison, 1994. A short-exposure sublethal sediment toxicity test using the marine bivalve *Mulinia lateralis*: statistical design and comparative sensitivity. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 13: 571–580.
- Burris, J. A., M. S. Bamford & A. J. Stewart, 1990. Behavioral responses of marked snails as indicators of water quality. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 9: 69–76.
- Burton, D. T., D. J. Fischer & R. L. Paulson, 1989. Comparative toxicity of solvent yellow 33 (2-(2'-quinolinyl)-1,3- indandione and solvent green 3 (1,4-di-p-toluidino-anthraquinone) dyes to freshwater organisms. Chemosphere 19: 1959-1970.
- Burton, G. A., 1989. Evaluation of seven sediment toxicity tests and their relationships to stream parameters. Toxicity Assessment 4: 149-159.
- Burton, G. A., 1991. Assessing the toxicity of freshwater sediments. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 10: 1585–1627.
- Burton, G. A., 1992. Sediment toxicity assessment. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton (Florida).
- Burton, G. A., J. M. Lazorchak, W. T. Waller & G. R. Lanza, 1987. Arsenic toxicity changes in the presence of sediment. Bull. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 38: 491–499.

- Burton, G. A., M. K. Nelson & C. G. Ingersoll, 1992. Freshwater benthic toxicity tests. In G. A. Burton (ed.), Sediment Toxicity Assessment, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Ann Arbor, London, Tokyo: 213–240.
- Cairns, J. Jr., 1983a. Are single species toxicity tests alone adequate for estimating environmetal hazard? Hydrobiologia 100: 47–57.
- Cairns, J. Jr., 1983b. The case for simultaneous toxicity testing at different levels of biological organization. In W. E. Bishop, R. D. Cardwell & B. B. Heidolph (eds), Aquatic Toxicology and Hazard Assessment: Sixth Symposium, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 802: 111-127.
- Cairns, J. Jr., 1984. Are single species toxicity tests alone adequate for estimating environmental hazard? Envir. Monit. Assess. 4: 259–273.
- Cairns, J. Jr., 1985. Multispecies toxicity testing. Pergamon Press, New York.
- Cairns, J. Jr., 1988a.Rehabilitating Damaged Ecosystems, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Cairns, J. Jr., 1988b. Should regulatory criteria and standards be based on multispecies evidence? Envir. Profess. 10: 157–165.
- Cairns, J. Jr., 1988c. Validating biological monitoring. In Gruber & Diamond (eds) Automated biomonitoring, Ellis Horwood Ltd., Chichester: 40–48.
- Cairns, J. Jr., 1992. The threshold problem in ecotoxicology. Ecotoxicology 1: 3-16.
- Cairns, J. Jr. & P. V. McCormick, 1991. The use of community- and ecosystem-level endpoints in environmental hazard assessment: A scientific and regulatory evaluation. Envir. Auditor 2: 239–248.
- Cairns, J. Jr. & J. R. Pratt, 1987. Ecotoxicological effect indices: a rapidly evolving system. Wat. Sci. Tech. 19: 1–12.
- Cairns, J. Jr. & J. R. Pratt, 1993. A history of biological monitoring using benthic macroinvertebrates. In D. M. Rosenberg & V. H. Resh (eds), Freshwater biomonitoring and benthic macroinvertebrates, Chapman and Hall, New York: 10–27.
- Cairns, M. A., A. V. Nebeker, J. H. Gakstatter & W. Griffis, 1984. Toxicity of copper-spiked sediments to freshwater invertebrates. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 3: 435–446.
- Cairns, J. Jr., J. R. Pratt & B. R. Niederlehner, 1985. A provisional multispecies toxicity test using indigenous organisms. J. Test. Eval. 13: 316–319.
- Cairns, J. Jr., P. V. McCormick & B. R. Niederlehner, 1992. Estimating ecotoxicological risk and impact using indigenous aquatic microbial communities. Hydrobiologia 237: 131–145.
- Calabrese, A., 1984. Ecotoxicological testing with marine molluscs. In G. Persoone, E. Jaspers & C. Claus (eds), Ecotoxicological testing for the marine environment, Vol. 1, State Univ. Genth and Inst. Mar. Scient. Res., Bredena.
- Cantelmo, F. R. & K. R. Rao, 1978. Effect of pentachlorophenol (PCP) on meiobenthic communities established in an experimental system. Mar. Biol. 46: 17–22.
- Carlson, A. R., G. L. Phipps, V. R. Mattson, P. A. Kosian & A. M. Cotter, 1991. The role of acid-volatile sulfide in determining cadmium bioavailability and toxicity in freshwater sediments. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 10: 1309–1319.
- Carpenter, S. R., 1988. Complex interactions in lake communities. Springer Verlag, New York.
- Carr, R. S. & D. C. Chapman, 1992. Comparison of solid phase and pore-water approaches for assessing the quality of marine and estuarine sediments. Chem. Ecol. 7: 19–30.
- Carr, R. S., J. W. Williams & C. T. B. Fragata, 1986. Development and evaluation of a novel marine sediment pore water toxicity test with the polychaete *Dinophilus gyrociliatus* for use in shortterm life-cycle toxicity tests. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 5: 703-712.

- Carr, R. S., J. W. William & C. T. B. Fragata, 1989. Development and evaluation of a novel marine sediment pore water toxicity test with the polychaete *Dinophilus gyrociliatus*. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 8: 533-543.
- Casellato, S. & P. Negrisolo, 1989. Acute and chronic effects of an anionic surfactant on some freshwater tubificid species. Hydrobiologia 180: 243–252.
- Casillas, E., D. Weber, C. Haley & S. Sol, 1992. Comparison of growth and mortality in juvenile sand dollars (*Dendraster excentricus*) as indicators of contaminated marine sediments. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 11: 559-569.
- Catallo, W. J., 1993. Ecotoxicology and wetland ecosystems: Current understanding and future needs. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 12: 2209–2224.
- Chandler, G. T., 1990. Effects of sediment-bound residues of the pyrethroid insecticide fenvalerate on survival and reproduction of meiobenthic copepods. Mar. Envir. Res. 29: 65-76.
- Chandler, G. T. & G. I. Scott, 1991. Effects of sediment-bound Endosulfan on survival, reproduction and larval settlement of meiobenthic polychaetes and copepods. Envir. Toxicol. and Chem. 10: 375–382.
- Chapman, P. M., 1986a. Sediment bioassay tests provide toxicity data necessary for assessment and regulation. In G. H. Green & K. L. Woodward (eds), Proceedings of the Eleventh Annual Aquatic Toxicology Workshop, Nov. 13–15 1984, Vancouver, Canada, Tech. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 1480: 178–197.
- Chapman, P. M., 1986b. Sediment quality criteria from sediment quality triad: an example. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 5: 957–964.
- Chapman, P. M., 1987. Oligochaete respiration as a measure of sediment toxicity in Puget Sound, Washington. Hydrobiologia 155: 249–258.
- Chapman, P. M., 1988. Marine sediment toxicity tests. In J. J. Lichtenberg, F. A. Winter, C. I. Weber & L. Fradkin (eds), Chemical and biological characterization of sludges, sediments, dredge spoils and drilling muds, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 976:391–402.
- Chapman, P. M., 1990. The sediment quality triad approach to determining pollution-induced degradation. The Science of the Total Environment 97/98: 815–825.
- Chapman, P. M., 1992. Sediment quality triad approach. In US EPA (ed.) Sediment classification methods compendium, US EPA 823-R-92.006, Office of Water (WH-556), Washington D.C.
- Chapman, P. M. & S. Becker, 1986. Recommended protocols for conducting laboratory bioassays on Puget Sound sediments. Final Report. TC-3991-04. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Seattle (WA).
- Chapman, P. M. & R. O. Brinkhurst, 1984. Lethal and sublethal tolerances of aquatic oligochaetes with reference to their use as a biotic index of pollution. Hydrobiologia 115: 139–144.
- Chapman, P. M. & R. Fink, 1984. Effects of Puget sound sediments and their elutriates on the life cycle of *Capitella capitata*. Bull. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 33: 451–459.
- Chapman, P. M. & D. C. Mitchell, 1986. Acute tolerance tests with the oligochaetes *Nais communis* (Naididae) and *Ilyodrilus frantzi* (Tubificidae). Hydrobiologia 137: 61–64.
- Chapman, P. M. & J. D. Morgan, 1983. Sediment bioassays with oyster larvae. Bull. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 31: 438–444.
- Chapman, P. M., L. M. Churchland, P. A. Thomson & E. Michnowsky, 1979. Tubificid oligochaetes as monitors of heavy metal pollution. Tech. Rep. Fish. Mar. Serv. (Can.) 862: 278–294.
- Chapman, P. M, L. M. Churchland, P. A. Thomson & E. Michnowsky, 1980. Heavy metal studies with oligochaetes. In R. O. Brinkhurst & D. G. Cook (eds), Aquatic oligochaete biology, Proc. First Int. Conf. on Aquatic Oligochaete Biology, Sidney,

British Columbia, Canada. May 1-4, 1979. Plenum Press, New York: 477-502.

- Chapman, P. M., M. A. Farrell & R. O. Brinkhurst, 1982a. Relative tolerances of selected aquatic oligochaetes to individual pollutants and environmental factors. Aquat. Toxicol. 2: 47–67.
- Chapman, P. M., M. A. Farrell & R. O. Brinkhurst, 1982b. Relative tolerances of selected aquatic oligochaetes to combinations of pollutants and environmental factors. Aquat. Toxicol. 2: 69–78.
- Chapman, P. M., G. A. Vigers, M. A. Farrell, R. N. Dexter, E. A. Quinlan, R. M. Kocan & M. L. Landolt, 1982c. Survey of biological effects of toxicants upon Puget Sound biota. I. Broadscale toxicity survey. NOAA Tech. Memo. OMPA-25: 1-25.
- Chapman, P. M., R. N. Dexter, R. M. Kocan & E. R. Long, 1985. An overview of biological effects testing in Puget Sound, Washington: Methods, results, and implications. In R. D. Cardwell, R. Purdy & R. C. Bahner (eds), Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment, 7th Symposium, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 854: pp. 391–402.
- Chapman, P. M., R. N. Dexter & E. R. Long, 1987. Synoptic measures of sediment contamination, toxicity, and infaunal community composition (the Sediment Quality Triad) in San Francisco Bay. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 37: 75–96.
- Chapman, P. M., E. A. Power & G. A. Burton, 1992. Integrative assessments in aquatic ecosystems. In G. A. Jr. Burton (ed.), Sediment toxicity assessment, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton (Florida): 313–340.
- Clark, J. R., L. R. Goodman, P. W. Borthwick, J. M. Jr. Patrick, G. M. Gripe, P. M. Moody, J. C. Moore & E. M. Lores, 1989. Toxicity of pyrethroids to marine invertebrates and fish: a literature review and test results with sediment-sorbed chemicals. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 8: 393–401.
- Coates, K. & D. V. Ellis, 1980. Enchytraeid oligochaetes as marine pollution indicators. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 11: 171–174.
- Connell, A. D. & D. D. Airey, 1982. The chronic effects of fluoride on the estuarine amphipods *Grandideriella lutosa* and *G. lignorum*. Wat. Res. 16: 1313–1317.
- Coomans, A. & R. Vanderhaeghen, 1985. In vitro testing toxicities. In Zuckerman et al. (eds), Plant Nematology Manual, Exercise 29: 173–176.
- Couch, J. A. & L. Courtney, 1978. Interaction of chemical pollutants and virus in a crustacean: a novel bioassay system. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 298: 497-505.
- Coull, B. C. & G. T. Chandler, 1992. Pollution and meiofauna: Field, laboratory and mesocosm studies. Ocean. Mar. Biol. Ann. Rev. 30: 191-271.
- Coull, B. C., G. R. F. Hicks & J. B. J. Wells, 1981. Nematode/copepod ratios for monitoring pollution: a rebuttal. Mar. Poll. Bull. 12: 378–381.
- Crane, M., R. Fleming, N. Byron, K. van de Guchte, L. Grootelar, A. Smaal, D. Holwerda, B. Cooise, S. Ciarelli, L. Karbe, J. Westendorf, M. Guerra, C. Vale, O. Castro, M. J. Gaudencio & P. van der Hurk, 1993. Sediment tests for poorly water-soluble substances. Report to the European Commission, Report EC330.
- Dave, G., E. Bjornestad, H. Efraimsen & M. Tarkpea, 1993. Precision of the *Nitocra spinipes* acute toxicity test and the effect of salinity on toxicity of the reference toxicant potassium bichromate. Envir. Toxicol. Water Quality 8: 271–277.
- Davis, W. S. & J. E. Lathrop, 1992. Freshwater benthic macroinvertebrate community structure and function. In US EPA (ed.) Sediment classification methods compendium, 823-R-92-006, Office of Water (WH-556), 8.1-8.26, Washington D.C.
- Day, K. E., R. S. Kirby & T. B. Reynoldson, 1994. Sexual dimorphism in *Chironomus riparius* (Meigen): Impact on interpretation

of growth in whole-sediment toxicity tests. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 13: 35-39.

- De March, B. G. E., 1979. Reproduction and growth impairment tests with the amphipod *Hyalella azteca*. In E. Scherer (ed.), Toxicity tests for freshwater organisms, Can. Spec. Publ. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 44, Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, Winnipeg: 1–10.
- De March, B. G. E., 1981. Hyalella azteca (Saussure). In S. G. Lawrence (ed.), Manual for the culture of selected freshwater invertebrates, Can. Spec. Publ. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 54. Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, Winnipeg: 61–77.
- Depledge, M. H., 1994. The rational basis for the use of biomarkers as ecotoxicological tools In M. C. Fossi & C. Leonzio (eds), Nondestructive biomarkers in vertebrates, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton: 271-295.
- Dermott, R. & M. Munawar, 1992. A simple and sensitive assay for evaluation of sediment toxicity using *Lumbriculus variegatus*. Hydrobiologia 235/236: 407-414.
- De Witt, T. H., G. R. Ditsworth & R. C. Schwartz, 1988. Effects of natural sediment features on survival of the phoxocephalid amphipod *Rhepoxynius abronius*. Mar. Envir. Res. 25: 99–124.
- Di Toro, D. M., 1989. A review of the data supporting the equilibrium partitioning approach to establishing sediment quality criteria. In Marine Board, Commission on Engineering and Technical Systems (ed.), Contaminated marine sediments - Assessment and remediation, National Research Council, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.: 100-114.
- Di Toro, D. M., J. D. Mahony, D. J. Hansen, K. J. Scott, M. B. Hicks, S. M. Mayr & M. S. Redmond, 1990. Toxicity of cadmium in sediments: the role of acid volatile sulfide. Envir.Toxicol.Chem. 11: 1487–1502.
- Diamond, J. M., D. G. Mackler, M. Collins & D. Gruber, 1990. Derivation of a freshwater silver crietria for the New River, Virginia, using representative species. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 9: 425– 1434.
- Diamond, J. M., E. L. Winchester, D. G. Mackler & D. Gruber, 1992. Use of mayfly Stenonema modestum (Heptageniidae) in subacute toxicity assessments. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 11: 415–425.
- Diaz, R. J., 1992. Ecosystem assessment using estuarine and marine benthic community structure. In G. A. Jr. Burton (ed.), Sediment toxicity assessment, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton (Florida): 67– 85.
- Dickson, K. L., A. W. Maki & W. A. Brungs, 1984. Fate and effects of sediment-bound chemicals in aquatic systems. Pergamon Press, New York.
- Dillon, T. M., 1993. Developing chronic sublethal sediment bioassays: a challenge to the scientific community. In J. W. Gorsuch, F. J. Dwyer, C. G. Ingersoll & T. W. La Point (eds), Toxicology and risk assessment, Vol. 2. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 1173.
- Dillon, T. M., D. W. Moore & A. B. Gibson, 1993. Development of a chronic sublethal bioassay for evaluating contaminated sediment with the marine polychaete *Nereis* (*Neanthes*) arenaceodentata. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 12: 589–605.
- Dinnel, P. A. & Q. J. Stober, 1987. Application of a sea urchin sperm bioassay to sewage treatment efficiency and toxicity in marine waters. Mar. Envir. Res. 21: 121–133.
- Dinnel, P. A., Q. J. Stober, S. C. Crumley & R. E. Nakatani, 1982. Development of a sperm cell toxicity test for marine waters. In J. G. Pearson, R. B. Foster & W. E. Bishop (eds), Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 766: 82–98.
- Dinnel, P. A., J. M. Link & Q. J. Stober, 1987. Improved methodology for a sea urchin sperm cell bioassay for marine waters. Arch. Envir. Contamin. Toxicol. 16: 23-32.

- Dinnel, P. A., G. Pagano & P. S. Oshida, 1988. A sea urchin test system for marine environmental monitoring. In R. D. Burke, P. V. Mladenov, P. Lambert & R. L. Parsley (eds), Echinoderm biology, Balkema, Rotterdam: 341-405.
- Dutka, B. J. & K. K. Kwan, 1988. Battery of screening tests approach applied to sediment extracts. Tox. Assess. 3: 303-314.
- Dutka, B. J., K. K. Kwan, S. S. Rao, A. Jurkovic, R. McInnis, G. A. MacInnis, B. Brownlee & D. Liu, 1990. Ecotoxicological study of waters, sediment and suspended sediments in the Athabasca, peace and slave rivers. NWRI Contribution 90–88a, National Water Research Institute, Burlington (Canada), 30 pp.
- Dutka, B. J., K. K. Kwan, S. S. Rao, A. Jurkovic, R. McInnis, G. A. Palmateer & B. Hawkins, 1991. Use of bioassays to evaluate river water and sediment quality. Envir. Toxicol. Water Qual. 6: 309-327.
- Eagleson, K. W., D. L. Lenat, L. W. Ausley & F. B. Winborne, 1990. Comparison of measured instream biological responses with responses predicted using the *Ceriodaphnia dubia* chronic toxicity test. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 9: 1019–1028.
- Edsall, T. A., B. A. Manny, D. W. Schloesser, S. J. Nichols & A. M. Frank, 1991. Production of *Hexagenia limbata* nymphs in contaminated sediments in the Upper Great Lakes Connecting Channels. In M. Munawar & T. Edsall (eds), Environmental assessment and habitat evaluation of the Upper Great Lakes Connecting Channels, Hydrobiologia 219: 353–361.
- Eertman, R. H. M., A. J. Wagevoort, H. Hummel & A. C. Smaal, 1993. Survival in air of the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis* L. as a sensitive response to pollution-induced environmental stress. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 170: 179–195.
- Elder, J. F., 1990. Applicability of ambient toxicity testing to national or regional water-quality assessment. U. S. Geological Survey Circular No. 1049, U.S. Geological Survey, Denver (CO), 49 pp.
- Environment Canada, 1992. Biological test method: acute test for sediment toxicity using marine or estuarine amphipods. Report EPS 1/RM/26. Environment Canada, Ottawa.
- Fava, J. A., J. J. Gift, A. F. Maciorowski, W. L. McCulloch & II. H. J. Reisinger, 1985. Comparative toxicity of whole and liquid phase sewage sludges to marine organisms. In R. D. Cardwell, R. Purdy & R. C. Bahner (eds), Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment, 7th Symposium, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, STP 854: 229–252.
- Flannagan, J. F. & D. G. Cobb, 1979. The use of the snail *Helisoma trivolvis* in a multigenerational mortality, growth and fecundity test. In E. Scherer (ed.), Toxicity tests for freshwater organisms, Can. Spec. Publ. Fish. Aq. Sci. 44, Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, Winnipeg: 19–26.
- Franklin, F. L., 1983. Laboratory tests as a basis for the control of sewage sludge dumping at sea. Mar. Poll. Bull. 14: 217–223.
- Fremling, C. R. & W. L. Mauck, 1980. Methods for using nymphs of burrowing mayflies (Ephemeroptera, *Hexagenia*) as toxicity test organism. In A. L. Jr. Buikema & J. Jr. Cairns (eds), Aquatic invertebrate bioassays, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 715: 81-97.
- Friesen, M. K., 1979. Use of eggs of the burrowing mayfly *Hexagenia* rigida in toxicity testing. In E. Scherer (ed.), Toxicity tests for freshwater organisms, Can. Spec. Publ. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 44, Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, Winnipeg: 27–36.
- Gannon, J. E. & A. M. Beeton, 1969. Studies on the effect ofs of dredged materials from selected Great Lakes harbors on plankton and benthos. Univ. of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, Center for Great Lakes, Special Report No. 8.
- Gannon, J. E. & A. M. Beeton, 1971. Procedures for determining the effects of dredged sediments on biota - benthos viability and

sediment selectivity tests. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 43: 392-398.

- Giesy, J. P., 1980. Microcosms in ecological research. DOE Symposium Series, 52, CONF 781101, NTIS, Washington, D.C., 1110 pp.
- Giesy, J. P. & R. L. Graney, 1989. Recent developments in and intercomparisons of acute and chronic bioassays and bioindicators. Hydrobiologia 188/189: 21–60.
- Giesy, J. P. & R. A. Hoke, 1989. Freshwater sediment toxicity bioassessment: Rationale for species selection and test design. J. Great Lakes Res. 15: 539-569.
- Giesy, J. P. & R. A. Hoke, 1990. Freshwater sediment quality criteria: toxicity bioassessments. In R. Baudo, J. P. Giesy & H. Montau (eds), Sediments: chemistry and toxicology of in-place pollutants, Lewis Publishers Inc., Michigan: 265–348.
- Giesy, J. P., C. S. Duke, R. D. Bingham & G. W. Dickson, 1983. Changes in phosphoadenylate concentrations and adenylate energy charge as an integrated biochemical measure of stress in invertebrates: the effects of cadmium on the freshwater clam *Corbicula fluminea*. Toxicol. Envir. Chem. 6: 259–295.
- Giesy, J. P., R. L. Graney, J. L. Newsted, C. J. Rosiu, A. Benda, R. G. Jr. Kreis & F. J. Horvath, 1988. Comparison of three sediment bioassay methods using Detroit River sediments. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 7: 483–498.
- Giesy, J. P., C. J. Rosiu, R. L. Graney & M. G. Henry, 1990. Benthic invertebrate bioassays with toxic sediment and pore water. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 9: 233–248.
- Gossiaux, D. C., P. F. Landrum & V. N. Tsymbal, 1993. A survey of Saginaw River and Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron, sediments using two bioassays with the amphipod *Diporeia* spp.. J. Great Lakes Res. 19: 322–332.
- Graney, R.L. & J. P. Giesy, 1988. Alterations in the oxygen consumption, condition index and concentration of free amino acids in *Corbicula fluminea* (Mollusca: Pelecypoda) exposed to sodium dodecyl sulfate. Envir. Toxicol. Contam. Toxicol. 16: 167–176.
- Gray, J. S. & T. H. Pearson, 1982. Objective selection of sensitive species indicative of pollution-induced change in benthic communites. I. Comparative methodologies. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 9: 111-119.
- Green, D. W. J., K. A. Williams & D. Pascoe, 1986. The acute and chronic toxicity of cadmium to different life history stages of the freshwater crustacean Asellus aquaticus L. Arch. Envir. Contamin. Toxicol. 15: 465–471.
- Green, R. H., R. C. Bailey, S. G. Hinch, J. L. Metcalfe & V. H. Young, 1989. Use of freshwater mussels (Bivalvia: Unionidae) to monitor the nearshore environment of lakes. J. Great Lakes Res. 15: 635–644.
- Green, A. S., G. T. Chandler & E. R. Blood, 1993. Aqueos-, porewater-, and sediment-phase cadmium: Toxicity relationships for a meiobenthic copepod. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 12: 1497–1506.
- Gregor, D. J. & M. Munawar, 1989. Assessing toxicity of Lake Diefenbaker (Saskatchewan, Canada) sediments using algal and nematode bioassays. Hydrobiologia 188/189: 291-300.
- Grice, G. D. & M. R. Reeve, 1982. Marine mesocosms: biological and chemical research in experimental ecosystems. Springer Verlag, New York.
- Hamer, M. J., S. J. Maund & I. R. Hill, 1992. Laboratory methods for evaluating the impact of pesticides on water/sediment organisms. Brighton Crop Protection Conference – Pests and Diseases 2: 487–496.
- Hansen, D. J. & M. E. Tagatz, 1980. A laboratory test for assessing impacts of substances on developing communities of benthic estuarine organisms. In J. G. Eaton, P. R. Parrish & A. C. Hen-

dricks (eds), Aquatic Toxicology, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 707: 40-57.

- Hatakeyama, S., 1987. Chronic effects of Cd on reproduction of *Polypedilum nubifer* (Chironomidae) through water and food. Envir. Pollut. 48: 249-261.
- Heinis, F., K. Timmermans & W. R. Swain, 1990. Short-term effects of cadmium on the filter feeding chironomid larva *Glyptodentipes pallens* (Meigen) (Diptera). Aquat. Toxicol. 16: 73-86.
- Heip, C., M. Vincx & G. Vranken, 1985. The ecology of marine nematodes. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Ann. Rev. 23: 399–489.
- Hellawell, J. M., 1986. Biological indicators of freshwater pollution and environmental management. Elsevier Applied Science Publishers, London and New York.
- Henebry, M. S. & P. E. Ross, 1989. Use of protozoan communities to assess the ecotoxicological hazard of contaminated sediments. Toxicity Assessm. 4: 209.
- Henry, M. G., D. N. Chester & W. L. Mauck, 1986. Role of artificial burrows in *Hexagenia* toxicity tests: recommendations for protocol development. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 5: 553–559.
- Hill, I. R., P. Matthiessen & F. Heimbach, 1993. Guidance document on sediment toxicitiy tests and bioassays for freshwater and marine environments. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC-Europe), c/o ZENECA Agrochemicals, Berkshire U.K.
- Hobbie, J. E. S. G. Wakeham, 1988. Mesocosm: a tool for studying the effects and behavior of toxic materials. In M. S. Evans (ed.), Toxic contaminants and ecosystem helath: a Great Lakes focus, John Wiley & Sons, New York: 321-333.
- Hooftman, R. N. S. Gimeno, 1993. Detailed review paper on sediment toxicity test methods (summarizing report), Part 1: Compilation of test methods, TNO-Report IMW-R 93/256, TNO Environmental and Energy Research, Delft.
- Hoke, R. A., J. P. Giesy, M. Zabik & M. Unger, 1993. Toxicity of sediments and sediment pore waters from the Grand Calumet River-Indiana Harbor, Indiana area of concern. Ecotoxicol. Envir. Safety 26: 86–112.
- Hong, J. S. D. J. Reish, 1987. Acute toxicity of cadmium to eight species of marine amphipods and isopod crustaceans from southern California. Bull. Envir. Contamin. Toxicol. 39: 884–888.
- Hose, J. E., 1985. Potential uses of sea urchin embryos for identifying toxic chemicals: description of a bioassay incorporating cytologic, cytogenetic, and embryologic endpoints. J. Appl. Toxicol. 5: 245-254.
- Huggett, R. J., P. A. van Veld, C. L. Smith, W. J. Jr. Jargin, W. K. Vogelbein & B. A. Weeks, 1992. The effects of contaminated sediments in the Elizabeth River. In G. A. Jr. Burton (ed.), Sediment toxicity assessment, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton (Florida): 403-430.
- IJC, 1988. Procedures for the assessment of contaminated sediment problems in the Great Lakes. Report for the Great Lakes Quality Board Sediment Subcommittee, International Joint Commission, Windsor (Ontario).
- Ingersoll, C. G., in prep. Sediment toxicity tests. In G. Rand (ed.), Fundamentals of aquatic toxicology, 2nd Edition, Hemisphere Publishers.
- Ingersoll, C. G. & M. K. Nelson, 1990. Testing sediment toxicity with Hyalella azteca (Amphipoda) and Chironomus riparius (Diptera). In W. G. Landis & W. H. Van der Schalie (eds), Aquatic toxicology and risk assessment, 13th Vol., American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 1096: 93-109.
- Johns, D. M., R. Gutjahr-Gobell & P. Schauer, 1985. Use of bioenergetics to investigate the impact of dredged material on benthic species: A laboratory study with polychaetes and Black Rock

Harbor material. Technical Report D-85-7. U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.

- Johns, D. M., R. A. Pastorok & T. C. Ginn, 1991. A sublethal sediment toxicity test using juvenile *Neanthes* sp. (Polychaete: Nereidae). In M. A. Mayes & B. G. Barron (eds), Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment, Fourteenth Volume, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 1124: 280-293.
- Johnson, R. K. & T. Wiederholm, 1989. Classification and ordination of profundal macroinvertebrate communities in nutrient poor, oligo-mesohumic lakes in relation to environmental data. Freshwat Biol. 21: 375–386.
- Jones, R. A. & G. F. Lee, 1978. Evaluation of the elutriate test as a method of predicting contaminant release during open water disposal of dredged sediment and environmental impact of open water dredged material disposal, Vol. 1, Tech. Rep. D78-45, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg (MI).
- Keilty, T. J., D. S. White & P. F. Landrum, 1988a. Short-term lethality and sediment avoidance assays with endrin-contaminated sediment and two oligochaetes from Lake Michigan. Arch. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 17: 95–101.
- Keilty, T. J., D. S. White & P. F. Landrum, 1988b. Sublethal responses to endrin in sediment by *Limnodrilus hoffmeisteri* (Tubificidae), and in mixed culture with *Stylodrilus heringianus* (Lumbriculidae). Aquat. Toxicol. 13: 227–250.
- Keilty, T. J., D. S. White & P. F. Landrum, 1988c. Sublethal responses to endrin in sediment by *Stylodrilus heringianus* (Lumbriculidae) as measured by a 137 Cesium marker layer technique. Aquat. Toxicol. 13: 251–270.
- Kimball, K. D. & S. A. Levin, 1985. Limitations of laboratory bioassays: the need for ecosystem-level testing. Bio Science 35: 165–171.
- Knezovich, J. P., F. L. Harrison & R. G. Mosher, 1987. The bioavailability of sediment-sorbed organic chemicals: a review. Water, Air, Soil Pollut. 32: 233–245.
- Kolkwitz, R. & M. Marsson, 1909. Ökologie der tierischen Saprobien. Beiträge zur Lehre von der biologischen Gewässerbeurteilung. Hydrobiol. und Hydrogr. 2: 126–152.
- Kosalwat, P. & A. W. Knight, 1987a. Chronic toxicity of copper to a partial life cycle of the midge, *Chironomus decorus*. Arch. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 16: 283–290.
- Kosalwat, P. & A. W. Knight, 1987b. Acute toxicity of aqueous and substrate-bound copper to the midge, *Chironomus decorus*. Arch. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 16: 275–282.
- Krantzberg, G. & R. Pope, 1989. Development of an acute and chronic sediment bioassay protocol using larval mayflies and juvenile fathead minnows. Can. Tech. Rep. Fish. Aquat. .Sci. 1714: 2-5.
- Kubitz, J. A., 1992. Reference toxicant protocol for *Hyalella azteca* bioassay. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC), 13th Annual meeting, Cincinnati (Abstract 368).
- Kwan, K. K., B. L. Dutka, S. S. Rao & D. Liu, 1990. Mutatox Test: A new test for monitoring environmental gentoxic agents. Envir. Pollut. 65: 323–332.
- Lamberson, J. O. & R. C. Swartz, 1988. Use of bioassays in determining the toxicity of sediment to benthic organisms. In M. S. Evans (ed.), Toxic contaminants and ecosystem health: a Great Lake focus, John Wiley, New York: 257-279.
- Lamberson, J. O., T. H. DeWitt & R. C. Swartz, 1992. Assessment of sediment toxicity to marine benthos. In G. A. Burton (ed.), Sediment Toxicity Assessment, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton: 183-211.
- Lampert, W., W. Fleckner, E. Pott, U. Schober & K. U. Störkel, 1989. Herbicide effects on planctonic systems of different complexity. Hydrobiologia 188/189: 415-424.

- Landrum, P. F., 1989. Bioavailability and toxicokinetics of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons sorbed to sediments for the amphipod *Pontoporeia hoyi*. Envir. Sci. Technol. 23: 588-595.
- Landrum, P. F. & W. R. Faust, 1991. Effect of variation in sediment composition on the uptake rate coefficient for selected PCB and PAH congeners by the amphipod, *Diporeia* sp.. In M. A. Mayes & B. G. Barron (eds), Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment, Fourteenth Volume, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 1124: 280–293.
- Landrum, P. F. & J. A. Robbins, 1990. Bioavailability of sedimentassociated contaminants to benthic invertebrates. In R. Baudo, J. P. Giesy & H. Muntau (eds), Sediments: chemistry and toxicity of in-place pollutants, Lewis Publishers, Ann Arbor (MI): 237–263.
- Landrum, P. F., B. J. Eadie & W. R. Faust, 1992. Variation in the bioavailability of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons to the amphipod *Diporeia* (spp.) with sediment aging. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 11:1197-1208.
- La Point, T. W. & J. F. Fairchild, 1992. Evaluation of sediment contaminant toxicity: The use of freshwater community structure. In G. A. Burton (ed.), Sediment Toxicity Assessment, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton: 87–110.
- LeBlanc, G. A. & D. C. Surprenant, 1985. A method of assessment of the toxicity of contaminated freshwater sediments. In R. D. Cardwell, R. Purdy & R. C. Bahner (eds), Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment, 7th symposium, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 854: 269-283.
- Lee, G. F., R. A. Jones, F. A. Saleh, G. M. Mariani, D. H. Homer, J. S. Butler & P. Bandyopadhyay, 1978. Evaluation of the elutriate test as a method of predicting contaminant release during open water disposal of dredged sediment and environmental impact of open water dredged material disposal, Vol. 2, Tech. Rep. D78–45, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg (MI).
- Lee, H. II, 1991. A clam's eye view of the bioavailability of sediment-associated pollutants. In J. F. McCarthy (ed.), Organic substances and sediments in water, Lewis Publishers Inc., Chelsea, MI: 73-93.
- Lee, H. II, 1992. Models, muddles, and mud: predicting bioaccumulation of sediment-associated pollutants. In G. A. Burton (ed.), Sediment Toxicity Assessment, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton: 267-293.
- Lee, K. & E. M. Levy, 1989. Biodegradation of petroleum in the marine environment and its enhancement. In J. O. Nriagu & J. S S. Lakshminarayana (eds), Aquatic toxicology and water quality management, Vol. 22, John Wiley & Sons, New York: 217-243.
- Leonhard, S. L., 1979. Tests for the crayfish Orconectes virilis. In E. Scherer (ed.) Toxicity tests for freshwater organisms, Can. Spec. Publ. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 44, Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, Winnipeg: 82–90.
- Ließ, M., 1993. Zur Ökotoxikologie der Einträge landwirtschaftlich genutzten Flächen in Fließgewässer. Cuvillier Verlag, Göttingen.
- Little, L. W., 1978. Bioassay-procedures and results: Literature review. J. Water Pollut. Cont. Fed. 50: 1852–1868.
- Livingston, R. J., 1988. Use of freshwater macroinvertebrate microcosms in the evalutation of toxic wastes. In J. Jr. Cairns & J. R. Pratt (eds) Functional testing of aquatic biota for estimating hazards of chemicals, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 988: 166-218.
- Long, E. R. & P. M. Chapman, 1985. A sediment quality triad: measures of sediment contamination, toxicity and infaunal community composition in Puget Sound. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 16: 405–415.
- Long, E. R., M. F. Buchman, S. M. Bay, R. J. Breteler, R. S. Carr, P. M. Chapman, J. E. Hose & A. L. Lissner, 1990. Comparative evaluation of five toxicity tests with sediments from San Francisco

Bay and Tomales Bay, California. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 9: 1193-1214.

- Luoma, S. N. & J. L. Carter, 1991. Effects of trace metals on aquatic benthos. In M. C. Newman & A. C. McIntosh (eds) Metal ecotoxicology: concepts and applications, Lewis Publishers, Chelsea Michigan: 261–300.
- Luoma, S. N. & J. L. Carter, 1993. Understanding the toxicity of contaminants in sediment: beyond the bioassay-based paradigm. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 12: 793-796.
- Luoma, S. N. & K. T. Ho, 1993. Appropriate uses of marine and estuarine sediment bioassays. In P. Calow (ed.) Handbook of Ecotoxicology, Vol. 1, Blackwell Scientific Publications, London: 193-226.
- Lydy, M. J., K. A. Bruner, D. M. Fry & S. W. Fisher, 1990. Effects of sediment and the route of exposure on the toxicity of neutral lipophilic and moderately water-soluble metabolizable compounds in the midge *Chironomus riparius*. In W. G. Landis & W. H. van der Schalie (eds) Aquatic toxicology and risk assessment, 13th Vol., American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 1096: 140–164.
- Lydy, M. J., J. T. Oris, P. C. Baumann & S. W. Fisher, 1992. Effects of sediment organic carbon content on the elimination rates of neutral lipophilic compounds in the midge (*Chironomus riparius*). Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 11: 347–356.
- Maas-Diepeveen, J. L. & K. van de Guchte, 1990. Ecotoxicologische testen voor de beoordeling van verontreinigde waterbodems. Methodebeschrijvingen. RIZA, Werkdocument Nr. 90.173X, Lelystad, Rijksinstituut voor Integraal Zoetwaterbeheer en Afvalwaterbehandeling: 1–58.
- Mac, M. J., C. C. Edsall, R. J. Hesselberg & R. E. Jr. Sayers, 1984. Flow-through bioassay for measuring bioaccumulation of toxic substances from sediment. In U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (ed.), EPA 905/3-84-007: 1-17.
- Maciorowski, H. D. & R. McV. Clarke, 1980. Advantages and disadvantages of using invertebrates in toxicity testing. In A. L. Buikema & J. Jr. Cairns (eds), Aquatic invertebrate bioassays, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 715: 36–47.
- Maltby, L., 1992. The use of the physiological energetics of Gammarus pulex to assess toxicity: a study using artificial streams. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 11: 79-85.
- Maltby, L., C. Naylor & P. Calow, 1990a. Effect of stress on a freshwater benthic detritivore: Scope for growth in *Gammarus pulex*. Ecotoxicol. Envir. Safety 19: 285–291.
- Maltby, L., C. Naylor & P. Calow, 1990b. Field deployment of a scope for growth assay involving *Gammarus pulex*, a freshwater benthic invertebrate. Ecotoxicol. Envir. Safety 19: 292–300.
- Malueg, K. W., G. S. Schuytema, J. H. Gakstatter & D. F. Krawczyk, 1983. Effect of *Hexagenia* on *Daphnia* response in sediment toxicity tests. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 2: 73–82.
- Malueg, K. W., G. S. Schuytema, D. F. Krawczyk & J. H. Gakstatter, 1984a. Laboratory sediment toxicity tests, sediment chemistry and distribution of benthic macroinvertebrates in sediments from the Keweenaw Waterway, Michigan. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 3: 233-242.
- Malueg, K. W., G. S. Schuytema, J. H. Gakstatter & D. F. Krawczyk, 1984b. Toxicity of sediments from three metal-contaminated areas. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 3: 279–291.
- Maund, S. J., A. Peither, E. J. Taylor, I. Jüttner, R. Beyerle-Pfnür, J. P. Lay & D. Pascoe, 1992. Toxicity of lindane to freshwater insect larvae in compartments of an experimental pond. Ecotoxicol. Envir. Safety 23: 76–88.

- McCahon, C. P. & D. Pascoe, 1988a. Culture techniques for three freshwater macroinvertebrates and their use in toxicity tests. Chemosphere 17: 2471–2480.
- McCahon, C. P. & D. Pascoe, 1988b. Use of Gammarus pulex (L.) in safety evaluation tests: culture and selection of a sensitive life stage. Ecotoxicol. Envir. Safety 15: 245-252.
- McCauley, D. J., P. Lea, P. Hoch & B. Vitton, 1992. Comparison of whole sediment and sediment pore water toxicity to *Chironomus tentans* and *Hyalella azteca*, Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC), 13th Annual meeting, Cincinnati (Abstract 370).
- McGee, B. L, C. E. Schlekat & E. Reinharz, 1993. Assessing sublethal levels of sediment contamination using the estuarine amphipod *Leptocheirus plumulosus*. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 12: 577-587.
- McLeese, D. W. & C. D. Metcalfe, 1980. Toxicities of eight organochlorine compounds in sediment and seawater to *Crangon* septemspinosa. Bull. Envir. Contamin. Toxicol. 25: 921–928.
- McLeese, D. W., L. E. Burridge & J. Van Dinter, 1982. Toxicities of five organochlorine compounds in water and sediment to *Nereis virens*. Bull. Envir. Contamin. Toxicol. 28: 216–220.
- McMahon, G., L. J. Huber, M. J. Moore, J. J. Stegeman & G. N. Wogan, 1988. c-K-ras oncogenes: prevalence in livers of winter flounder from Boston Harbor. In J. F. McCarthy & L. R. Shugart (eds), Biological markers of environmental contaminants, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton (Florida): 229–235.
- Meador, J. P., B. D. Ross, P. A. Dinnel & S. J. Picquelle, 1990. An analysis of the relationship between a sand-dollar embryo elutriate assay and sediment contaminants from stations in an urban embayment of Puget Sound, Washington, Mar. Envir. Res. 30: 251-272.
- Meadows, P. S., E. A. Deans & J. G. Anderson, 1991. Responses of Corophium volutator to sediment sulphide. J. Mar. Biol. Ass. UK 61: 739-748.
- Merlin, G., H. Thiebaud, G. Blake, S. Sembiring & J. Alary, 1992. Mesocosms' and microcosms' utilization for ecotoxicity evaluation of dichloromethane, a chlorinated solvent. Chemosphere 24: 37–50.
- Milbrink, G., 1987. Biological characterization of sediments by standardized tubificid bioassays. Hydrobiologia 180: 243–252.
- Minshall, G. W., 1988. Stream ecosystem theory: a global perspective? J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 7: 263–288.
- Møhlenberg, F. & T. Kiørboe, 1983. Burrowing and avoidance behaviour in marine organisms exposed to pesticidecontaminated sediment. Mar. Poll. Bull. 14: 57-60.
- Moore, D. W. & T. M. Dillon, 1992. Effect of food ration on sediment toxicity in the marine polychaete Neanthes (Nereis) arenaceodentata. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC), 13th Annual meeting, Cincinnati (Abstract 371).
- Moore, D. W. & T. M. Dillon, 1993. The relationship between growth and reproduction in the marine polychaete Nereis (Neanthes) arenaceodentata (Moore): implications for chronic sublethal sediment bioassays. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 173: 231-246.
- Mothes-Wagner, U., H. K. Reitze & K. A. Seitz, 1992. Terrestrial multispecies toxicity testing. 1. Description of the multispecies assemblage. Chemosphere 24: 1653–1667.
- Munawar, M. & I. F. Munawar, 1987. Phytoplankton bioassays for evaluating toxicity of in situ sediment contaminants. In R. Thomas, R. Evans, A. Hamilton, M. Munawar, T. Reyonoldson & H. Sadar (eds), Ecological effects of in-situ sediment contaminants, Hydrobiologia 149: 87-105.
- Munawar, M., R. L. Thomas, W. Norwood & A. Mudroch, 1985. Toxicity of Detroit River sediment-bound contaminants to ultraplankton. J. Great Lakes Res. 11: 264–274.

- Munawar, M., I. F. Munawar, C. I. Mayfield & L. H. McCarthy, 1989. Probing ecosystem health: a multi-disciplinary and multi-trophic assay strategy. Hydrobiologia 188/189: 93–116.
- Murphy, P. M., 1980. A manual for toxicity tests with freshwater macroinvertebrates and a review of the effects of specific toxicants. University of Wales Institute of Science and Technology, Cardiff.
- Nacci, D., E. Jackim & R. Walsh, 1986. Comparative evaluation of three rapid marine toxicity tests: Sea urchin early embryo growth tests, sea urchin sperm cell toxicity test, and Microtox. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 5: 521–525.
- Nacci, D., P. Comeleo, E. Petrocelli, A. Kuhn-Hines, G. Modica & G. Morrison, 1991. Performance evaluation of sperm cell toxicity test using the sea urchin, *Arbacia punctulata*. In M. A. Mayes & B. G. Barron (eds), Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment, Fourteenth Volume, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 1124: 324–336.
- Nalepa, T. F. & P. F. Landrum, 1988. Benthic invertebrates and contaminant levels in the Great Lakes: effect, fates, and role in cycling. In M. S. Evans (ed.), Toxic contaminants and ecosystem helath: a Great Lakes focus, John Wiley & Sons, New York: 77–102.
- Naylor, C. N., L. Maltby & P. Calow, 1989. Scope for growth in Gammarus pulex, a freshwater benthic detritivore. In M. Munawar, G. Dixon, C. I. Mayfield, T. Reynoldson & M. H. Sadar (eds), Environmental bioassay techniques and their application, Hydrobiologia 188/189: 517-523.
- Naqui, S. M. Z., 1973. Toxicity of twenty-three insecticides to a tubificid worm *Brachiura sowerbyi* from Mississippi Delta. J. econ. Entom. 66: 70–74.
- Nebeker, A. V. & C. E. Miller, 1988. Use of the amphipod crustacean Hyalella azteca in freshwater and estuarine sediment toxicity tests. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 7: 1027–1033.
- Nebeker, A. V., M. A. Cairns, J. H. Gakstatter, K. W. Malueg, G. S. Schuytema & D. F. Krawczyk, 1984. Biological methods for determination toxicity of contaminated freshwater sediments to invertebrates. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 3: 617–630.
- Nebeker, A. V., S. T. Onjukka, M. A. Cairns & D. F. Krawczyk, 1986. Survival of *Daphnia magna* and *Hyalella azteca* in Cadmiumspiked water and sediment. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 5: 933–938.
- Nebeker, A. V., G. S. Schuytema, W. L. Griffis, J. A. Barbitta & L. A. Carey, 1989. Effect of sediment organic carbon on survival of *Hyalella azteca* exposed to DDT and Endrin. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 8: 705-718.
- Nelson, M. K., C. G. Ingersoll & F. J. Dwyer, 1991. New standard guide for conducting solid-phase sediment toxicity tests with freshwater invertebrates. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM Draft Document E1383.
- Nelson, W. G., 1990. Use of the blue mussel, Mytilus edulis, in water quality toxicity testing and in situ marine biological monitoring. In W. G. Landis & W. H. van der Schalie (eds), Aquatic toxicology and risk assessment, Vol. 13., American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 1096: 167–175.
- Nelson, M. K., P. F. Landrum, G. A. Jr. Burton, S. J. Klaine, E. A. Crecelius, T. D. Byl, D. C. Gossiaux, V. N. Tsymbal, L. Cleveland, C. G. Ingersoll & G. Sasson-Brickson, 1993. Toxicity of contaminated sediments in dilution series with control sediments. Chemosphere 27: 1789–1812.
- Nipper, M. G., D. J. Greenstein & S. M. Bay, 1989. Short- and longterm sediment toxicity test methods with the amphipod *Grandidierella japonica*. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 8: 1191–1200.
- Oakden, J. M., J. S. Oliver & A. R. Flegal, 1984a. EDTA chelation and zinc antagonism with cadmium in sediments: effects on the

behavior and mortality of two infaunal amphipods. Mar. Biol. 84: 125-130.

- Oakden, J. M., J. S. Oliver & A. R. Flegal, 1984b. Behavioral responses of a phoxocephalid amphipod to organic enrichment and trace metals in sediment. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 14: 253–257.
- Odum, E. P., J.T. Finn & E. H. Franz, 1977. Perturbation theory and the subsidy-stress gradient. Bio Science, 29: 349–352.
- Ohio EPA, 1987. Biological criteria for the protection of aquatic life: Vol. III. Standardized biological field sampling and laboratory methods for assessing fish and macroinvertebrate communities. Columbus (OH): Division of Water Quality Monitoring and Assessment.
- Oliver, B. G., 1984. Uptake of chlorinated organics from anthropogenically contaminated sediments by oligochaete worms. Can. J. Fish. aquat. Sci. 41: 878–883.
- Olla, B. J. & A. J. Bedja, 1983. Effects of oiled sediment on the burrowing behaviour of the hard clam, *Mercenaria mercenaria*. Mar. Envir. Res. 9: 183-193.
- Olson, K. R., R. L. Crawford, W. H. Gingerich, R. D. Meyerhoff & J. G. Miller, 1991. The Animal Welfare Act: implication and predictions in lower vertebrate research. In M. A. Mayes & B. G. Barron (eds), Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment, Fourteenth Volume, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 1124: 5-11.
- Oshida, P. S., T. K. Goochey & A. J. Mearns, 1981. Effects of municipal wastewater on fertilization, survival, and development of the sea urchin, *Strongylocentratus purpuratus*. In F. J. Vernberg, A. Calabrese, F. P. Thurberg & W. B. Vernberg (eds), Biological monitoring of marine pollutants, Academic Press, New York: 389–402.
- Pagano, G., B. Anselmini, P. A. Dinnel, A. Esposito, M. Guida, M. Iaccarino, G. Melluso, M. Pascale & N. M. Trieff, 1993. Effects on sea urchin fertilization and embryogenesis of water and sediment from two rivers in Campania, Italy. Arch. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 25: 20-26.
- Parsons, J. T. & G. A. Surgeoner, 1991. Effect of exposure time on the acute toxicities of Permethrin, Fenitrothion, Carbaryl and Carbofuran to mosquito larvae. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 10: 1219– 1227.
- Pascoe, D., E. Taylor & S. J. Maund, 1992. Development and validation of methods for evaluating chronic toxicity to freshwater ecosystems. Final summary report of the environmental research programme Assessment of Risk Associated with Chemicals (Ecotoxicology). EEC RTD Contract EV4V-0110-UK(BA).
- Pastorok, R. A. & D. S. Becker, 1990. Comparative sensitivity of sediment toxicity bioassays at three superfund sites in Puget Sound. In W. G. Landis & W. H. van der Schalie (eds), Aquatic toxicology and risk assessment, Vol. 13, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 1096: 123–139.
- Pavillon, J. F., 1990. Problématique de la biodisponibilité des pollutants dans les sédiments, Océanis 16: 287–304.
- Pearson, T. H. & R. Rosenberg, 1978. Macrobenthic succession in relation to organic enrichment and pollution of the marine environment. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev. 16: 229-311.
- Peddicord, R. K., 1980. Direct effects of suspended sediments on aquatic organisms. In R.A. Baker (ed.), Contaminants and sediments, Ann Arbor Science Publishers, Ann Arbor, MI: 501–536.
- Pesch, C. E. & D. Morgan, 1978. Influence of sediment in copper toxicity tests with the polychaete *Neanthes arenaceodentata*. Mar. Biol. 52: 237–245.
- Pesch, G. G., C. E. Pesch & A. R. Malcolm, 1981. Neanthes arenaceodentata, a cytogenetic model for marine genetic toxicology. Aquat. Toxicol. 1: 301–311.

- Pesch, C. E., W. R. Jr. Munns & R. Gutjahr-Gobell, 1991. Effects of a contaminated sediment on life history traits and population growth rate of *Neanthes arenaceodentata* (Polychaeta: Nereidae) in the laboratory. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 10: 805–815.
- Phelps, H. L., 1989. Clam burrowing bioassay for estuarine sediment. Bull. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 43: 838-845.
- Phelps, H. L., 1990. Development of an estuarine sediment burrowing bioassay for shipboard use. Bull. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 45: 722-728.
- Phelps, H. L., 1993. Sediment toxicity of the Anacostia River Estuary, Washington, DC. Bull. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 51: 582–587.
- Phelps, H. L. & K. A. Warner, 1990. Estuarine sediment bioassay using oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*) larvae. Bull. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 44: 197–204.
- Phelps, H. L., W. R. Pearson & J. T. Hardy, 1985. Clam burrowing behavior and mortality related to sediment copper. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 16: 309-313.
- Phipps, G. L., G. T. Ankley, D. A. Benoit & V. R. Mattson, 1993. Use of the aquatic oligochaete *Lumbriculus variegatus* for assessing the toxicity and bioaccumulation of sediment-associated contaminants. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 12: 269-279.
- Plafkin, J. L., M. T. Barbour, K. D. Porter, S. K. Gross & R. M. Hughes, 1989. Rapid bioassessment protocols for use in streams and rivers: benthic macroinvertebrates and fish. *EPA* 444/4–89– 001. Washington, D.C., U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- Popham, J. D. & J. M. Webster, 1979. Cadmium toxicity in the free-living nematode, *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Envir. Res. 20: 183-191.
- Poulton, M. & D. Pascoe, 1990. Disruption of precopula in Gammarus pulex (L.) – Development of a behavioural bioassay for evaluating pollutant and parasite induced stress. Chemosphere 20: 403–415.
- Power, E. A. & P. M. Chapman, 1992. Assessing sediment quality. In G. A. Jr. Burton (ed.), Sediment toxicity assessment, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton (Florida): 1–18.
- Powlesland, C. & J. George, 1986. Acute and chronic toxicity of nickel to larvae of *Chironomus riparius* (Meigen). Envir. Pollut. Ser. 42: 47-64.
- Prater, B. L. & M. A. Anderson, 1977a. A 96-hour bioassay of DuLuth and Superior Harbor basins (Minnesota) using Hexagenia limbata, Asellus communis, Daphnia magna and Pimephales promelas as test organisms. Bull. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 18: 159-169.
- Prater, B. L. & M. A. Anderson, 1977b. A 96-hour bioassay of Otter Creek, Ohio. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 49: 2099–2106.
- Pratt, J. R. & N. J. Bowers, 1992. Variability of community metrics: detecting changes in structure and function. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 11: 451–457.
- PSEP, 1991. Recommended guidelines for conducting laboratory bioassays on Puget Sound sediments. Draft Report. Puget Sound Estuary Program. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region X, Office of Puget Sound, Seattle.
- Raffaelli, D. G. & C. F. Mason, 1981. Pollution monitoring with meiofauna, using the ratio of nematodes to copepods, Mar. Pollut. Bull. 12: 158–163.
- Reish, D. J., 1980. Use of polychaetous annelids as test organisms for marine bioassay experiments. In A. L. Jr. Buikema & J. Jr. Cairns (eds), Aquatic invertebrate bioassays, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 715: 140– 154.
- Reish, D. J., 1993. Effects of metals and organic compounds on survival and bioaccumulation in two species of marine gammaridean amphipod, together with a summary of toxicological research on this group. J. Nat. Hist. 27: 781–794.

258

- Reish, D. J. & J. A. Lemay, 1988. Bioassay manual for dredged materials. Tech. Rep. DACW-09-83R-005, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Los Angeles, CA.
- Reynoldson, T. B., 1987. The role of environmental factors in ecology of tubificid oligochaetes – An experimental study. Holarct. Ecol. 10: 241-248.
- Reynoldson, T. B. & M. A. Zarull, 1989. The biological assessment of contaminated sediments – the Detroit River example. In M. Munawar, G. Dixon, C. I. Mayfield, T. Reynoldson & M. H. Sadar (eds), Environmental bioassay techniques and their application, Hydrobiologia 188/189: 463–476.
- Reynoldson, T. B. & K. E. Day, 1993. Freshwater sediments. In P. Calow (ed.), Handbook of Ecotoxicology, Blackwell Sci. Publ, Oxford: 83-100.
- Reynoldson, T. B., S. P. Thompson & J. L. Bamsey, 1991. A sediment bioassay using the tubificid oligochaete worm *Tubifex tubifex*. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 10: 1061–1072.
- Reynoldson, T. B., K. E. Day, C. Clarke & D. Milani, 1994. Effect of indigenous animals on chronic endpoints in freshwater sediment toxicity tests. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 13: 973–977.
- Roberts, M. H. Jr., 1980. Flow-through toxicity testing system for molluscan larvae as applied to halogen toxicity in estuarine water. In A. L. Jr. Buikema & J. Jr. Cairns (eds), Aquatic invertebrate bioassays, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 715: 131-139.
- Robinson, A. M., J. O. Lamberson, F. A. Cole & R. C. Swartz, 1988. Effects of culture conditions on the sensitivity of the phoxocephalid amphipod *Rhepoxynius abronius* to cadmium in sediment. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 7: 953–959.
- Roddie, B., T. Edwards & T. Crane, 1992. Potential impact of watercress farm discharges on the freshwater amphipod Gammarus pulex L., Bull. Envir. Contamin. Toxicol. 48: 63-69.
- Roddie, B., T. Edwards, R. Ashby-Crane & M. Crane, 1994. The toxicity to *Corophium volutator* (Pallas) of beach sand contaminated by a spillage of crude oil. Chemosphere 29: 719–727.
- Rogerson, P. F., S. C. Schimmel & G. Hoffman, 1985. Chemical and biological characterization of Black Rock Harbor dredged material. Technical Report D–85–9. U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.
- Ross, P. E. & M. S. Henebry, 1989. Use of four microbial tests to assess the ecotoxicological hazard of contaminated sediments. Toxicity Assess. 4: 1-21.
- Rubio, R. & A. M. Ure, 1993. Approaches to sampling and sample pretreatments for metal speciation in soils and sediments. Intern. J. Envir. Anal. Chem. 51: 205-217.
- Samoiloff, M. R., 1987. Nematodes as indicators of toxic environmental contaminants. In J. A. Veech & D. W. Dickson (eds), Vistas on Nematology: 433-439.
- Samoiloff, M. R., S. Schulz, Y. Jordan, K. Denich & E. Arnott, 1980. A rapid simple long-term toxicity assay for aquatic contaminants using the nematode *Panagrellus redivivus*. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 37: 1167–1174.
- Samoiloff, M. R., J. Bell, D. A. Birkholz, G. R. B. Webster, E. G. Arnott, R. Pulak & A. Madrid, 1983a. Combined bioassaychemical fractionation scheme for the determination and ranking of toxic chemicals in sediments. Envir. Sci. Technol. 17: 329–334.
- Samoiloff, M. R., R. A. Pulak & D. A. Birkholz, 1983b. The nematode bioassay for toxicity in biological samples or sediments from contaminated aquatic ecosystems. Third Biennial Plains Aquatic Research Conference, Bozeman, Nontana: 15-23.
- Sasson-Brickson, G. & G. A. Jr. Burton, 1991. In situ and laboratory sediment toxicity testing with *Ceriodaphnia dubia*. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 10: 201–207.

- Schaeffer, D. J., D. K. Cox & R. A. Deam, 1987. Variability of test systems used to assess ecological effects of chemicals. Water Sci. Technol. 19: 39-45.
- Schindler, D. W., 1987. Detecting ecosystem response to anthropogenic stress. Can. J. Fish. Aquatic Sci. 44 (Suppl): 6–25.
- Schlekat, C. E., B. L. McGee & E. Reinharz, 1992. Testing sediment toxicity in Chesapeake Bay with the amphipod *Leptocheirus plumulosus*: an evaluation. Envirom. Toxicol. and Chem. 11: 225-236.
- Schloesser, D. W., 1988. Zonation of mayfly nymphs and caddisfly larvae in the St. Marys River. J. Great Lakes Res. 14: 227–233.
- Schmidt-Dallmier, M. J., G. J. Atchison, M. T. Steigraeber & B. C. Knights, 1992. A sediment suspension system for bioassays with small aquatic organisms. Hydrobiologia 245: 157-161.
- Schubauer-Berigan, M. K. & G. T. Ankley, 1991. The contribution of ammonia, metals and nonpolar organic compounds to the toxicity of sediment interstitial water from an Illinois river tributary. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 10: 925–940.
- Scott, J. K. & M. S. Redmond, 1989. The effects of a contaminated dredged material on laboratory populations of the tubicolous amphipod, *Ampelisca abdita*. In American Society for Testing and Materials (ed.), Philadelphia, Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment, 12th Symposium.
- Sheehan, P. J., 1980. The ecotoxicology of copper and zinc: studies on a stream macroinvertebrate community. Ph.D. thesis, University of California, Davis.
- Shick, J. M., 1976. Physiological and behavioural responses to hypoxia and hydrogen sulfide in the infaunal asteroid *Ctenodiscus* crispatus. Mar. Biol. 37: 279–289.
- Shuba, P. J., H. E. Tatem & J. H. Carroll, 1978. Biological assessment methods to predict the impact of open-water disposal of dredged material, Technical Report D-78-50, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.
- Smith, E. P., K. W. Pontasch & J. Jr. Cairns, 1990. Community similarity and the analysis of multispecies environmental data: a unified statistical approach. Wat. Res. 24: 507-514.
- Smith, D. P., J. H. Kennedy & K. L. Dickson, 1991. An evaluation of a naidid oligochaete as a toxicity test organism. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 10: 1459-1465.
- Specht, D. T. & H. Lee, 1989. Direct measurement technique for determining ventilation rate in the deposit feeding clam *Macoma nasuta* (Bivalvia, Tellinaceae). Mar. Biol. 101: 211-218.
- Stemmer, B. L., G. A. Jr. Burton & S. Leibfritz-Frederick, 1990a. Effect of sediment test variables on selenium toxicity to *Daphnia* magna. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 9: 381–389.
- Stemmer, B. L., G. A. Jr. Burton & G. Sasson-Brickson, 1990b. Effect of sediment spatial variance and collection method on cladoceran toxicity and indigenous microbial activity determinations. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 9: 1035-1044.
- Strawbridge, S., B. C. Coull & G. T. Chandler, 1992. Reproductive output of a meiobenthic copepod exposed to sediment-associated fenvalerate. Arch. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 23: 295–300.
- Strømgren, T., M. V. Nielsen & R. O. Reierson, 1993. The effect of hydrocarbons and drilling fluids on the faecal pellet production of the deposit feeder Alba alba. Aquat. Toxicol. 24: 275-286.
- Swartz, R. C., 1987. Toxicological methods for determining the effects of contaminated sediments on marine organisms. In K. L. Dickson, A. W. Maki & W. A. Brungs (eds), Fate and effects of sediment-bound chemicals in aquatic systems, SETAC Special Publication Series, Pergamon Press, New York, N.Y.: 183-198.
- Swartz, R. C., W. A. DeBen & F. A. Cole, 1979. A bioassay for the toxicity of sediment to the marine macrobenthos. J. Water Pollut. Contr. Fed. 51: 944–950.

Swartz, R. C., W. A. DeBen, K. A. Sercu & J. O. Lamberson, 1982. Sediment toxicity and the distribution of amphipods in Commencement Bay, Washington, U.S.A. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 13: 359-364.

Swartz, R. C., D. W. Schultz, G. R. Dittsworth & W. A. Deben, 1984. Toxicity of sewage sludge to *Rhepoxynius abronius*, a marine benthic amphipod. Arch. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 13: 207–216.

- Swartz, R. C., W. A. DeBen, J. K. P. Jones, J. O. Lamberson & F. A. Cole, 1985. Phoxocephalid amphipod bioassay for marine sediment toxicity. In R. D. Cardwell, R. Purdy & R. C. Bahner (eds), Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment, 7th symposium, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 854: 284–307.
- Swartz, R. C., F. A. Cole, D. W. Schults & W. A. DeBen, 1986. Ecological changes in the Southern Califonia Bight near a large sewage outfall: Benthic conditions in 1980 and 1983. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 31: 1–13.

Swartz, R. C., P. F. Kemp, D. W. Schults & J. O. Lamberson, 1988. Effects of mixtures of sediment contaminants on the marine infaunal amphipod *Rhepoxinius abronius*. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 7: 1013–1020.

- Swartz, R. C., D. W. Schults, T. H. Dewitt, G. R. Ditsworth & J. O. Lamberson, 1990. Toxicity of flouranthene in sediment to marine amphipods: A test of the equilibrium partitioning approach to sediment quality criteria. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 9: 1071–1080.
- Swartz, R. C., D. W. Schults, J. O. Lamberson, R. J. Ozretich & J. K. Stull, 1991. Vertical profiles of toxicity, organic carbon, and chemical contaminants in sediment cores from the Palos Verdes Shelf and Santa Monica Bay, California. Mar. Envir. Res. 31: 215-225.
- Swift, M. C., N. H. Jr. Troelstrup, N. E. Detenbeck & J. L. Foley, 1993. Large artificial streams in toxicological and ecological research. In G. A. Lamberti & A. D. Steinman (eds), Research in artificial streams: applications, uses, and abuses, J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 12: 359–366.
- Tarkpea, M., M. Hansson & B. Samuelsson, 1986. Comparison of the Microtox test with the 96-h LC50 test for the harpacticoid *Nitocra spinipes*. Ecotoxicol. Envir. Safety 11: 127–143.
- Taub, F. B., 1989. Standardized aquatic microcosm: development and testing. In A. Boudou & F. Ribeyre (eds), Aquatic ecotoxicology, Vol. II, CRC Press, Boca Raton (Florida): 47–92.
- Taub, F. B., A. C. Kindig, L. L. Conquest & J. P. Meador, 1989. Results of interlaboratory testing of the standardized aquatic microcosm protocol. In G. W. Suter & M. A. Lewis (eds), Aquatic Toxicology and Environmental Fate: Eleventh Volume, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 1007: 368-394.

Thain, J. & S. Bifield, 1993. A sediment bioassay using the polychaete Arenicola marina. Test guideline for PARCOM sediment reworker ring test. MAFF Fisheries Laboratory, Burnham-on-Crouch (U.K.).

- Thomas, J. M., J. R. Skalski, J. F. Cline, M. C. McShane, J. C. Simpson, W. E. Miller, S. A. Peterson, C. A. Callahan & J. C. Greene, 1986. Characterization of chemical waste site contamination and determination of its extent using bioassays. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 5: 487–501.
- Thompson, B. E., S. M. Bay, J. W. Anderson, J. D. Laughlin, D. J. Greenstein & D. T. Tsukada, 1989. Chronic effects of contaminated sediments on the urchin Lytechinus pictus. Envir. Toxicol. Chem. 8: 629–637.
- Thompson, B. E., S. Bay, D. Greenstein & J. Laughlin, 1991. Sublethal effects of hydrogen sulfide in sediments on the urchin Lytechinus pictus. Mar. Envir. Res. 31: 309–321.

- Thornton, K. & J. Wilhm, 1974. The effects of pH, phenol and sodium chloride on survival and caloric, lipid, and nitrogen content of a laboratory population of *Chironomus attenuatus*. Hydrobiologia 45: 261–280.
- Tietjen, J. H. & J. J. Lee, 1984. The use of free-living nematodes as a bioassay for estuarine sediments. Mar. Envir. Res. 11: 233-251.
- Traunspurger, W., 1991. Das Meiobenthos des Königssees. Systematische und ökologische Untersuchungen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Nematoda.Nationalpark Berchtesgaden Forschungsbericht 22, 121 pp.
- Traunspurger, W., C. Steinberg & T. Bongers, 1995. Nematoden in der ökotoxikologischen Forschung: Plädoyer für eine vernachlässigte, jedoch sehr aussagekräftige Tiergruppe. UWSF-Z. Umweltchem. Ökotoxikol. 7: 74–83.
- Traunspurger, W., M. Haitzer, S. Höß, S. Beier & W. Ahlf, submitted. Ecotoxicological assessment of aquatic sediments with *Caenorhabditis elegans* maupas (Nematoda) - A method for testing liquid medium and whole sediment samples, Envir. Toxicol. Chem.
- Tsai, C. J., J. Welch, K. Chang, J. Shaefer & L. E. Cronin, 1979. Bioassay of Baltimore Harbor sediments. Estuaries 2: 141–153.
- US EPA, 1988. Short term methods for estimating the chronic toxicity of effluents and receiving waters to marine and estuarine organisms, EPA/600/4-87/028 (Edited by C. I. Weber, II. W. B. Horning, D. J. Klemm, T. W. Neiheisel, P. A. Lewis, E. L. Robinson, J. Menkedick & F. Kessler), U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Environmental Monitoring and Support Laboratory, Cincinnati, OH.
- US EPA, 1989. Short term methods for estimating the chronic toxicity of effluents and receiving waters to freshwater organisms, EPA/600/4-89/001. US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Environmental Monitoring and Support Laboratory, Cincinnati.
- US EPA, 1990. Protocol for juvenile *Neanthes* sediment bioassay. EPA 910/9–90–011, US Environmental Protection Agency, Seattle, WA.
- US EPA, 1992. Proceedings from a workshop on tiered testing issues for freshwater and marine sediments, 16–18 September 1992. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Washington D.C.
- US EPA, 1994a. Biological assessment of contaminated Great Lakes sediment, GLNPO Report EPA-905-R93-006, US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Great Lakes National Programme Office, Washington D.C.
- US EPA, 1994b. National US EPA procedures for assessing the toxicity and bioaccumulation of sediment-associated contaminants by benthic invertebrates. US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Washington D.C.
- US EPA/US ACE, 1991. Evaluation of dredged material proposed for ocean disposal - testing manual. U.S. Environmental Agency/U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, EPA-503-8-91/001, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Office of Science and Technology, Washington, D.C.
- van de Guchte, K., 1992. Test guidelines for Chironomus riparius. Lelystad: Rijksinstituut voor Integraal Zoetwaterbeheer en Afvalwaterbehandeling (RIZA).
- van de Guchte, K., 1993. The sediment quality triad: an integrated approach to assess contaminated sediments, Proceedings of the International Conference on River Water Quality ecological assessment and control, December 16–18, Brussels.
- van den Hurk, P., P. M. Chapman, B. Roddie & R. C. Swartz, 1992. A comparison of North American and West European infaunal amphipod species in a toxicity test on North Sea sediments. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 91: 237–243.
- van der Gaag, M. A., P. B. M. Stortelder, L. A. van der Kooij & W. A. Bruggeman, 1991. Setting environmental quality criteria for

water and sediment in the Netherlands: a pragmatic ecotoxicological approach. Eur. Water Pollut. Control 1: 13-20.

- Van Kessel, W. H. M., R. W. B. Zaalberg & W. Seinen, 1989. Testing pollutants on soil organisms: A simple assay to investigate the toxicity of environmental pollutants on soil organisms, using CdCl2 and nematodes. Ecotoxicol. Envir. Safety 18: 181–190.
- Vranken, G., R. Vanderhaeghen, D. Van Brussel, C. Heip & D. Hermans, 1984. The toxicity of mercury on the free-living marine nematode *Monhystera disjuncta* Bastian, 1865. In G. Persoone, E. Jaspers & C. Claus (eds), Ecotoxicological testing for the marine environment, State Univ. Ghent and Inst. Mar. Scient. Res., Bredene, Belgium: 271–291.
- Warwick, R. M., 1981. The nematode/copepod ratio and its use in pollution ecology. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 12: 329–333.
- Warwick, R. M., 1993. Environmental impact studies on marine communities: pragmatical considerations. Austral. J. Ecol. 18: 63-80.
- Warwick, W. F., 1980. Palaeolimnology of the Bay of Quinte, Lake Ontario: 2800 years of cultural influence. Can. Bull. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 206: 1–117.
- Warwick, W. F., 1985. Morphological abnormalities in chironomidae (Diptera) larvae as measures of toxic stress in freshwater ecosystems: indexing antennal deformities in *Chironomus meigen*. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 42: 1881–1914.
- Warwick, W. F., 1988. Morphological deformities in chironomidae (Diptera) larvae as biological indicators of toxic stress. Toxic Contaminants and Ecosystem Health; A Great Lakes Focus: 281– 320.
- Wentsel, R. A., A. McIntosh & G. Atchinson, 1977a. Sublethal effects of heavy metal contaminated sediment on midge larvae (*Chironomus tentans*). Hydrobiologia 56: 153-156.
- Wentsel, R. A., A. McIntosh & V. Anderson, 1977b. Sediment contamination and benthic macroinvertebrate distribution in a metalimpacted lake. Envir. Pollut. 14: 187–193.
- Wentsel, R. A., A. McIntosh & G. Atchinson, 1978a. Evidence of resistance to metals in larvae of the midge *Chironomus tentans* in a metal contaminated lake. Bull. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 20: 451–455.
- Wentsel, R. A., A. McIntosh & P. C. McCafferty, 1978b. Emergence of the midge *Chironomus tentans* when exposed to heavy metal contaminated sediments. Hydrobiologia 57: 195–196.
- West, C. W., V. R. Mattson, E. N. Leonard, G. L. Phipps & G. T. Ankley, 1993. Comparison of the relative sensitivity of three benthic invertebrates to copper-contaminated sediments from the Keweenaw Waterway, Hydrobiologia 262: 57–63.
- White, D. S., 1988. Persistent toxic substances and zoobenthos in the Great Lakes. In M. S. Evans (ed.), Toxic contaminants and ecosystem helath: a Great Lakes focus, John Wiley & Sons, New York: 537-548.

- White, D. S. & T. J. Keilty, 1988. Burrowing avoidance assays of contaminated Detroit River sediments, using the freshwater oligochaete Stylodrilus heringianus (Lumbriculidae). Arch. Envir. Contam. Toxicol. 17: 673–681.
- Whitehurst, I. T., 1991. The Gammarus:Asellus ratio as an index of organic pollution. Wat. Res. 25: 333–339.
- Wiederholm, T., 1976. Chironomids as indicators of water quality in Swedish lakes. Natl. Swed. Envir. Prot. Board, NLU Information 10: 1–17.
- Wiederholm, T., 1984. Incidence of deformed chironomid larvae (Diptera: Chironomidae) in Swedish lakes. Hydrobiologia 109: 243-249.
- Wiederholm, T., A. M. Wiederholm & G. Milbrink, 1987. Bulk sediment bioassays with five species of fresh-water oligochaetes. Water, Air and Soil Pollution 36: 131–154.
- Williams, K. A., D. W. J. Greene & D. Pascoe, 1984. Toxicity testing with freshwater invertebrates: methods and application in environmental management. In D. Pascoe & R. W. Edwards (eds), Freshwater biological monitoring. Advances in water pollution control, Pergamon Press, New York: 81–91.
- Williams, K. A., D. W. J. Green, D. Pascoe & D. E. Gower, 1986. The acute toxicity of cadmium to different larval stages of *Chironomus riparius* (Diptera: Chironomidae) and its ecological significance for pollution regulation. Oecologia 70:363–366.
- Williams, L. G., P. M. Chapman & T. C. Ginn, 1986. A comparative evaluation of marine sediment toxicity using bacterial luminescence, oyster embryo and amphipod sediment bioassays. Mar. Envir. Res. 19: 225–249.
- Williams, T. D., 1992. Survival and development of copepod larvae of *Tisbe battagliai* in surface microlayer, water and sediment elutriates from the German Bight. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Series 91: 221-228.
- Winner, R. W., M. W. Boesel & M. P. Farrell, 1980. Insect community structure as an index of heavy-metal pollution in lotic ecosystems. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 37: 647–655.
- Word, J. Q., B. K. Brown, B. G. Walls & S. Lemlich, 1989. Relative sensitivity and cost of amphipod bioassays, Oceans' 89. Mar. Technol. Soc. 2: 467–473.
- Yoshioka, Y.,Y. Ose & T. Sato, 1986. Correlation of the five test methods to assess chemical toxicity and relation to physical properties. Ecotoxicol Envir. Safety 12: 15–21.
- Zarba, C. S., 1988. Status of the U.S. EPA's sediment quality criteria development effort. In J. J. Lichtenberg, F. A. Winter, C. I. Weber & L. Fradkin (eds), Chemical and biological characterization of sludges, sediments, dredge spoils and drilling muds, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, ASTM STP 976: 13-17.